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DAY 1 – 18 January 20`6 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, good morning, thank you.  We will just confirm appearances.  5 

Mr Conway, you are with Mr Fargher for the Council? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich? 10 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, good morning. 

 

SJH:   And Ms Moore for the Crown? 

 15 

MS MOORE:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr van der Wal you are for Ceres, Christchurch Civic Trust and others 

and The Great Christchurch Building Trust? 

 20 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Correct, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Pedley, you are for the Museum Trust Board? 

 

MR PEDLEY:   Yes, sir, and The Arts Centre of Christchurch. 25 

 

SJH:   And the Arts Centre of Christchurch, thank you.  Mr Anderson, you are 

for Forest and Bird? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Limmer, you are for Fulton Hogan and the Isaac 

Conservation Wildlife Trust? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr van Mierlo, you are for Ngāi Tahu? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, with Ms Walsh. 

 40 

SJH:   And with Ms Walsh, thank you.  Mr Cuthbert, you are for Rosemary 

Lyon, is that correct? 

 

MR CUTHBERT:  Yes, sir. 

 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Are there any submitters at the back, have we recorded 

those names; we will go along the rows and just put it in the record if 

you would.  Starting to your immediate right and work back and then 

go that way and then down from the back, so in the front row? 

 5 

MS KING:  Observer. 

 

SJH:   I am sorry you need to identify that you are appearing. 

 

MS KING:   Hannah King, observing. 10 

 

SJH:   You are just observing.  Well, if you are just observing you don’t need 

to say anything, just those that are here for somebody? 

 

MS……….:   (INDISTINCT 1.51) 15 

 

MS LOWE:   Helen Lowe. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Lowe. 

 20 

MR CARSWELL:   Lindsay Carswell. 

 

SJH:   You are here on your own submission both of you? 

 

MS LOWE:  And also for the Civic Trust and others. 25 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Just before we start this, as you will know, is a 

very substantial hearing in terms of numbers of submitters and the 

evidence we are about to hear, so I expect parties to stick to the time 

limits that have already been set out both in terms of the opening 30 

submissions, the highlights package of evidence and in cross-

examination.   

 

 I also note that in this hearing there are a number of matters that have 

been deferred from other chapters.  They will be heard here for 35 

efficiency reasons but they still belong as part of the decision on those 

earlier chapters, but given that they are discrete matters I am quite 

satisfied that it can be determined by this Panel and it does not need to 

be heard by the Panel who heard the original amount.  If anyone takes 

issue with that they should raise that with us.   40 

 

 As for openings they may be taken as read.  The Council may like to 

respond to the minute that went on Friday on behalf of the Panel.  We 

expect people to speak very briefly to their openings.  We will however 

expect much more fulsome closings which is the practice we have 45 

adopted at all of these hearings.   
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 Rather than get bogged down in the hearing with technical discussions 

around the rules we will, as necessary, adopt the practice that has 

already been adopted in the subdivision and new neighbourhood 

hearing.  We will do that by topic as this hearing is carved up in any 5 

event and what has occurred in those is, once we have got a final set of 

rules at the end of the hearing and submissions, the Panel may think it 

worthwhile to hot tub the planners on that which has been done with 

great success in those two hearings to date.  So that is just to forewarn 

you that that practice may well be adopted.   10 

 

 We have asked that those representing parties involved in the 

biodiversity ecological matters, particularly relating to Banks 

Peninsula, be available immediately after lunch because we have some 

concerns and some questions around that that we need to be quite clear 15 

about.  

 

  [10.10 am] 

 

 The conflicts of interest are posted online.  There may be one or two 20 

additional ones noted on the way through but just for the sake of 

completeness I will note that I will take no part in any matters relating 

to Hagley Park. 

 

 All right, thank you, well, we will go to the openings which, as we have 25 

indicated, Mr Conway, it may be taken as read. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, and may it please the Panel I have circulated 

opening submissions yesterday and I am grateful for your confirmation 

these are to be taken as read.  I just want to provide a very brief 30 

overview now and a couple of quick updates. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR CONWAY:   For those in the room we also have copies of the revised 35 

proposal for topics 9.3 and 9.4 that were circulated yesterday, these are 

on the table to my right, so if any submitter in the room needs a hard 

copy of that, I understand the Panel already has. 

 

SJH:   Submitters at the back, if they want to come forward and take a copy of 40 

that now they are at liberty to do so. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir.  By way of a brief overview, this chapter 

includes five topics when we include Ngāi Tahu’s requested provisions.  

These topics cover a broad range of subject matter and therefore there 45 

is a broad range of evidence to cover.  The Council would like to – and 
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I would like to – acknowledge the work to date by the Council and 

submitters to resolve areas of disagreement.  That has been an intensive 

process, it is ongoing and, as will be apparent from these legal 

submissions, there are several areas where there are further discussions 

occurring and I am encouraging that to continue to occur this week and 5 

particularly in relation to the matters that will be heard in the second 

hearing week to continue right up until that point and perhaps beyond. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, we are grateful for that, Mr Conway. 

 10 

MR CONWAY:   Now, in terms of these legal submissions, sir, I wish to make 

one correction and one observation.  The correction is on page 8 in 

paragraph 4.4 and this is in relation to biodiversity offsetting. 

 

 I have realised since we filed this that the word “held” in the third line 15 

of 4.4 should say “submitted by the Minister of Conservation”.  So I 

think that is substantial correction and obviously alters the flavour of 

what can be taken from that paragraph and I apologise for that. 

 

 The Court did not in fact make a determination on what the definition 20 

of “offset” should be in that case.  It was an optional definition as 

described and in paragraph 3/139 the Court expressly indicated that it 

made no decision on that definition, so I just wanted to record that for 

clarity. 

 25 

 Now, in terms of the additional comment I wish to make, sir, you have 

referred this morning to your minute on Friday about offsetting and 

indigenous biodiversity and the like.  We have, as signalled in these 

submissions, endeavoured to provide some initial comments to the 

extent possible in the time available.  We will obviously be very happy 30 

to explore those further and address them in more detail in closing as 

required.   

 

 But I just want to turn to page 13 of my legal submissions and 

paragraph 4.19 because I consider it actually provides some useful 35 

context for this whole hearing.   

 

 In paragraph 4.19 we respond to the Panel’s question about whether the 

directions in chapter 9 of the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement are 

qualified or affected by other directions in that document and we have 40 

listed a range of other objectives and policies that have some crossover.  

And as I was reviewing these again it became quite clear that there is a 

consistent theme throughout these policies and these objectives which, 

if I may paraphrase it, is essentially to enable appropriate development 

while avoiding, remedying and mitigating effects on significant natural 45 

and physical resources.  And as I went through all of the ones on 
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page 13 essentially that is the thrust of those provisions, it is very 

similar on the ones on page 14 to the extent that they cover matters 

relevant to that bigger picture.   

 

  [10.15 am] 5 

 

 The other policy I just want to note there which deserves to be on that 

list is policy 16.3.4 and, again to paraphrase, that is to encourage 

reliable electricity transmission networks while again avoiding, 

remedying and mitigating effects on significant resources. 10 

 

 Now, that is all I intend to say by way of comment on these specifically 

but I just wanted to mention two other essentially administrative 

matters.  We have been advised by the Secretariat that there is a hope 

that we might be able to make use of some of this Friday afternoon for 15 

continuing with week 2 evidence, perhaps on topic 9.3, if time permits.  

We are endeavouring to confirm availability of Council witnesses to 

appear this Friday afternoon and at this stage we are hoping to have 

some of the technical witnesses for topic 9.3 historic heritage available 

so that we can at least make a start on that evidence. 20 

 

SJH:   If you would simply advise the Secretariat as soon as you are able as to 

the witnesses you could potentially call that afternoon so the Panel is 

aware of it. 

 25 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, will do, sir.   

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And then finally we have received notice this morning from 30 

Fulton Hogan that they no longer wish to cross-examine Mr Trevor 

Partridge who gave evidence in relation to the age of the Templeton 

Golf Course kowhai trees and on that basis, and subject to the Panel 

having any questions for him, we would seek to have him excused from 

attending the hearing. 35 

 

SJH:   I will just see if people are in a position to commit to that at the moment.  

We will come back to that so people can - - - 

 

MR CONWAY:   That is fine, sir. 40 

 

SJH:   We will leave it until after the morning adjournment so people can think 

about whether they on the Panel do have questions of Mr Partridge.  

Certainly I think some of us heard from him in the rural chapter on 

pretty much the same topic.  45 
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MR CONWAY:   Yes, thank you, sir.  Now, unless the Panel has any 

questions, that is what I intend to cover in terms of these opening legal 

submissions for now. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Conway, just a couple of matters, one is just a request 

for a document.  Ms Beaumont refers to the Council’s biodiversity 

strategy and it is also referred to by Ms Hogan; could you make 

available copies of that document to the Panel, and I had in mind 10 

having that produced through the appropriate witness, probably 

Ms Beaumont? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, sir, will do. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Secondly, just a very quick technical question 

for you; if you could go to page 21 and thereabouts and where your 

discussion is on the Elliot Sinclair request for a restricted discretionary 

activity class for consent notice conditions.  It seems to me first of all 

observing section 221 about consent notices, that consent notices 20 

include the conditions that are in the subdivision consent on the 

relevant matters that bring them across, is that your understanding? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, that is right, essentially the consent notice reflects what 

the subdivision consent condition requires. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and the provisions in 221 allow for the conditions, 

those conditions to be the subject of the process of application for 

change, is that your understanding similar to changing consent 

conditions? 30 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, the way - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is what the section says more or less, it refers to 

conditions of the consent notice. 35 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps have a look at that.  I don’t want to sort of debate 

it in any detail but just to raise with you two things.  If we compare it 40 

with section 127, the deemed class of activity for that sort of 

application is discretionary and the request for relief is restricted 

discretionary.  So if it has to be discretionary activity or if in fact it can 

be deemed to be discretionary do policies assist in guiding that 

discretion?  I just thought I would just raise that given it is a point of 45 

contention at the moment with the Council seeing in principle the value 
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of the idea of Elliott Sinclair but looking for a way through it, I just 

wanted to note it at this stage given that there might be further 

discussions, that is all. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, I will take that on board. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Conway. 15 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you.  Mr Radich? 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, good morning your honours and members of 

the Panel.  Thank you for your indication that the submissions can be 20 

taken as read, I won’t therefore read them obviously.   

 

  [10.20 am] 

 

 I just want to deal with one or two preliminary comments and to 25 

address the matters raised in the Panel’s Minute and then just to show 

you some of the things that are raised in the submission.   

 

 But this is directly a topic which contrasts from so much of what the 

Panel has heard before in terms of rebuilding Christchurch, 30 

development, intensifying growth.  It is one of those situations in which 

when looking at these provisions, the trade-off which is sometimes 

referred to between economic growth and the right environment, is 

raised and there are two very extreme often opposite lines of thought in 

this respect. 35 

 

 One of them is that economic growth is essential for an abatement of 

environmental damage because through economic growth, gains to the 

environment through initiatives like the offsetting we are talking about, 

that can be encouraged. 40 

 

 The second is that economic growth inevitably causes environmental 

damage so that environmental decline is essential for a cleaner 

environment. 

 45 
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 There are many papers written on the topic and I certainly do not want 

to burden you with them, you have certainly got more than enough 

paper for a lifetime of reading in this Hearing as it is, but there are 

certainly conclusions that have been made that environmental 

regulation – and I am looking at a paper that I am more than happy to 5 

make available if it is any use to you at all from the European 

Commission, which concludes that environmental regulation and in 

fact can enhance the overall efficiency of the economy, and therefore 

encourage economic growth, environmental measures, like the types of 

offsetting that we are talking about here and the extreme care to be 10 

taken over indigenous and highly protected and rare species and fauna 

and flora in habitats, takes the form of effectively defining or 

reassigning property rights in such a way as that it corrects a distortion 

in pricing and in fact, is beneficial both for the environment and the 

economy, and I do not think that there is any question from all of those 15 

involved in the Hearing, that we are looking at those factors. 

 

 A document released by the Government called Guidance on Good 

Practice by Diversity Offsetting in New Zealand which I do not know if 

is available to you now, I was reading it only properly this morning, but 20 

I will make a copy available to you, it is a Government Paper that gives 

regulators - - - 

 

SJH:  I think any papers you refer to in your openings, if you could make 

copies available, that would be helpful, Mr Radich. 25 

 

MR RADICH:   I certainly will, sir.  Thank You, sir, I appreciated the 

relevance of it literally this morning, and this talks about, in 1.1, the 

diversity of life in New Zealand having involved in isolation as it split 

off from the other continents 80 million years ago and becoming the 30 

stage for the evolution of unique plants and animals and life forms – 

globally unique – and it makes the point that New Zealanders recognise 

internationally the hot spot for biological diversity, New Zealand’s only 

terrestrial mammals are endemic, as are all four frogs, the reptiles, 90 

percent of insects, smaller percentage of marine life, 80 percent of 35 

vascular plants, a quarter of all bird species, they are all highly 

distinctive, they are all the subject of threats. 

 

 And an extract here addresses in some way a question raised in the 

Panel’s Minute, and it talks about the first phase of the decline in New 40 

Zealand’s natural biodiversity being the loss of the larger bird species 

and the landscape changes in vegetation structure associated with 

hunting and burning after humans first settled here. 

 

 And it make the point that by around 1600, the year 1600, Māori land 45 

use practices had resulted in about a third of the original forest, being 
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replaced by grasslands although other habitats, for example, wetlands 

in coastal areas remained largely unchanged. 

 

 And then it goes on to say that from around 1850 increasing European 

settlement in New Zealand resulted in a new wave of forest destruction 5 

and since that time, a further third of our original forests have been 

converted to farmland, extensive modification or loss of wetlands and 

dune lands, river, lake systems in coastal areas and in particular, to 

species. 

 10 

 And finally on this point, it makes the point that in the last 800 years, 

and I think this is the key, humans and introduced pests have caused the 

extinction of 32 percent of indigenous land and freshwater species, 18 

percent of endemic seabird species, three of seven frog species, 12 

invertebrate species, fish, bats, three reptile species and at least 11 plant 15 

species, so that just gives some idea of the extent of the loss. 

 

  [10.25 am] 

 

 Finally, just by way of introduction, and I will be very quick. 20 

 

 The decision of the Supreme Court and Environmental Defence Society 

v New Zealand King Salmon, and I think we have some copies of the 

key extracts on this and I wonder if they could be handed out now. 

 25 

 Just as that is being handed out, this was a case relating to salmon 

farming and a Board of Inquiry’s determination, several out of many 

more sought for areas could be reserved for salmon farming, the 

Supreme Court holding ultimately, that the Board of Inquiry erred in a 

way that it did not give sufficient weight to the NZCPS, Coastal Policy 30 

Statement, but for these purposes, I wanted to refer – and the copies 

you have members of the Panel, I have not included the whole case 

because it is about 100 pages long, but just the key extracts. 

 

 Paragraph 28, if I may ask you to go there please, it says this, and the 35 

point that I wanted to make is the last sentence but some other parts are 

relevant, I will go to the last sentence if I may, first. 

 

 In this way it says, “Section 6 underscores the point earlier that 

protection of the environment is a core element of sustainable 40 

management.”  It is the importance of that provision that is highlighted. 

 

 Going back to the beginning of that paragraph, this deals with one of 

the matters raised in the Minute about section 6 and it is perhaps the 

only really useful comment I found, or we found on the provision, and I 45 

will just read the first sentence; “It is significant that three of the seven 
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matters of national importance identified in Section 6 relate to the 

preservation or protection of certain areas…”, and these are the words, 

“…either absolutely or from inappropriate subdivision use and 

development.” 

 5 

 And I think that that really is as much as we have on that. 

 

 For completeness while you have the case in your hands, if I could ask 

you please to go to paragraph 101, and this of course, are words that are 

not in the provision we are looking at but just by way of contrast the 10 

Court said at 101, his Honour, Justice Arnold, “We consider that where 

the term ‘inappropriate’ is used in the context of protecting areas from 

an appropriate subdivision, use or development, the natural meaning is 

that inappropriateness should be assessed by reference to what it is that 

is sought to be protected.” 15 

 

 And then finally, at the very end of that paragraph over the page, just 

ahead of 102.  “A planning instrument which provides that if any 

subdivision, use or development that adversely affects an area of 

outstanding natural attributes,…” - - - 20 

 

SJH: Is inappropriate. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sorry, thank you, sir, “…is inappropriate as consistent 

with this provision.” 25 

 

 Turning now more directly to the questions that the Panel has raised, on 

the first and I will just run through them very quickly, the first of them 

at sub paragraph A, the direction in relation to indigenous vegetation 

clearance outside of SES areas. 30 

 

 And I just mention the provision that the Council has already 

mentioned which is method 3, and if I could ask you if you do have 

copies of chapter 9 of the Regional Policy Statement available to you, 

and I would ask you please to look first of all at policy 9.3.1, that is on 35 

page 107, and the provision that my learned friend for the Council has 

referred you to his method 3 of policy 9.3.1 and I concur with the 

comments there, about halfway through method 3 it refers to case by 

case assessment, so this is a provision which does relate to SES’s or as 

this Plan calls them, Significant Natural Areas, but it also makes the 40 

point that case by case assessments need to be made and there are other 

provisions to support and I just identify them now. 
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  [10.30 am] 

 

 The first of them is 9.2.1 on page – this is objective 9.2.1, on page 106, 

I just make the point that this is a provision that is particularly broad in 

its application, there I Is no hint there to the extent that this is useful, 5 

that is limited to SESs, but moreover policy 9.3.3, moving forward, 

which talks about the need to halt the decline in indigenous 

biodiversity. 

 

 Method 1 there talks about the inclusion of methods, this is at page 10 

109, methods and regional plans to provide for an integrated approach 

to biodiversity management and the methods in this proposal, or these 

proposals, are the provisions that we are concerned with and the rules, 

and finally on this score, policy 9.3.4 on page 111, talks about the 

words of the policy itself, “to promote the enhancement and restoration 15 

of Canterbury’s ecosystems and indigenous biodiversity in appropriate 

locations”, so again there’s that breadth.   

 

 It turn to (b), the 20 percent matter which is indeed a very good 

question.  The Council’s submission on the point references material 20 

which talks about it being the settlement by anyone in New Zealand 

and I think the extract I have referred you to does support that.  As well 

as that, if I could refer to the guidelines, I will just hand another 

document out if I may. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is this the wildlands guidelines? 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, do you have that, Your Honour?  We might just hand 

those out actually, thank you.  These, for those who don’t have the 

Sediment Guidelines prepared for Environment Canterbury for the 30 

Application of Ecological Significance Criteria for Indigenous 

Vegetation Habitats of Indigenous Fauna in the Canterbury Region 

June 2013 and the provision I want to refer to, members of the Panel, is 

4.8, it is about roughly halfway into the document and that suggests not 

necessarily that it all falls without provision but that 1840 is a reference 35 

date commonly selected as a baseline for assessing representativeness 

and it is said there that there is some documented information available 

as at that date about structure and composition etcetera but major 

European settlement had not, in fact, taken place. 

 40 

 It talks about the fires lit by Polynesian settlers in earlier times, which 

was referenced in material I referred to also earlier. 

 

 But if I could then ask you to turn over, please, and again without page 

numbers it is difficult, two pages to table 2 and to please go to the 45 

second page of that table and there in the first entry in the left-hand 
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side, number 3, it talks about the 20 percent provision and about 

halfway down there it uses these words, three sentences in, “The 

Canterbury Protection Strategy, Harding 2009, provides information on 

former vegetation and the extent of indigenous cover types remaining 

within the ecological districts”.  And then it refers to Walker which is 5 

the source referenced in the Council’s submissions that talks about a 

20 percent of their original indigenous cover and that relates it to pre-

settlement.  Pre-settlement of anyone and so I think when that pre-

settlement Walker extract is used together with the guidance document 

issued by the Government I referred to earlier, it is probably correct to 10 

say that we are looking at 20 percent of the extent of indigenous 

biodiversity prior to settlement by either Polynesian or European 

settlers. 

 

 As to C in the minute, I have referred to the King Salmon decision and 15 

that is the most helpful authority that could be found.  As to D, the 

submission is that the provisions need to work together and I just make 

these references to chapter 6 in the RPS and I need not necessarily take 

you to them at this very minute but the provisions in chapter 6, page 48 

talk about in the one case, achieving development but in the other case, 20 

avoiding anything, this is an issue at 6.1.2, that could result in 

inappropriate outcomes for the region’s natural resources. 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 25 

 And I refer also to objective 6.2.1 which of the Recovery Framework 

Objective we looked at so often and just note that at subparagraphs (4), 

(5) and (6) there is the specific reference to protection of outstanding 

natural features biodiversity quality and quantity etcetera and I just 

mention if you have an interest in making a note that in the following 30 

provisions which again talk about the balancing effectively between 

development on the one hand, and preserving the natural heritage of the 

area on the other, and they are objectives 6.2.3 (5) on page 51 then 

policy 6.3.2 (6) on page 54 and finally, policy 6.3.9 (i) on page 60.   

 35 

 Now, my time is just on up so the last matter to address is (e) in the 

minute just briefly, and that asks whether the rules and, in particular, 

the definition of indigenous vegetation and indigenous vegetation 

clearance are sufficiently certain and just to address that, the definition 

of “indigenous vegetation” is, of course, central to 9.1, because the 40 

rules concern indigenous vegetation clearance which at the moment is 

non-complying and indigenous vegetation clearance of certain types 

which is discretionary so, so much hinges on those words and the 

definition which is page 31 of this proposal of indigenous vegetation 

means vegetation containing plant species that are indigenous or 45 

endemic to the site/area and I think if I may put it this way that so much 
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of it comes back to that definition that the  question is very fair indeed 

and the words that may give pause for further consideration are the 

words “endemic to the site or area”, because the word endemic means 

regularly found in a certain area.   

 5 

 I think we can all understand what indigenous means and there is a 

great deal written on that but the words “endemic to the site/area” may 

best be lost, I say as a submission, but there will be useful evidence on 

that, no doubt. 

 10 

 Members of the Panel, they are my preliminary comments on the 

questions.  They will be addressed further in closing submissions.  I say 

finally, the opening sets out the very few points of difference that do 

remain between the Crown and the Council.  There are a few but they 

are reducing as we speak.   15 

 

 It sets as well as a table, the points that remain in contention and I will 

address those during the hearing as we speak to witnesses and it 

includes also an appendix, an analysis of the higher order documents 

that are relevant under Topics to the extent they might assist. 20 

 

 So if your Honours and members of the Panel please, they are the 

opening comments for the Crown. 

 

SJH: Thank you, Mr Radich.  Dr Mitchell? 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No questions, thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one point of clarification, Mr Radich, when you were 

taking the Panel through the table at the back of the Wildlands 30 

Guidelines on Implementation, at paragraph 3 in the RPS. 

 

 You talked to us about the baseline of 1840 and then you pointed us to 

some other parts about the former extent which you said in relation to 

Walker etcetera was pre-settlement.  Can I just clarify if the references 35 

to 1840 are to do with the criteria about representativeness and the ones 

about pre-settlement are separate and relate to the criteria about rarity 

and distinctiveness and that they are not, that those two dates that you 

pointed us to relate to two different criteria. 

 40 

  [10.40 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   That is a very good way of putting it, I am obliged for that, 

Ms Dawson, that is right, that the first reference I saw in 4.8 made me 

think that that was a provision that could perhaps have a broader 45 

application but then when one looks at the literature, which is identified 
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in the table and also in the guidance document that I have mentioned at 

the outset, and when one looks at the conclusions in the articles there, 

Walker and Harding – Walker, yes and Harding – as is set out in the 

Council’s submissions on this point and they mention one of them is 

pre-settlement for - - - 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   For the rarity and distinctiveness one? 

 

MR RADICH:   - - - for rarity and distinctiveness, yes. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, thanks for clarifying. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, ma’am. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Judge Hassan? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just I think, Mr Radich, just to clarify, just one issue in 

regard to your submissions in terms of the methods and consistency in 

giving effect to the RPS and you refer to the case by case assessment 25 

approach. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it the Crown’s position that in effect what is before us is 30 

one way to give effect to the RPS? 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Would another legitimate way be to simply identify 35 

through the plan, in order to allow for case by cases assessment by that 

method, to identify the areas and not to have default rules?  Is that 

another way of giving effect? 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sir, yes it is. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Radich. 

 45 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, your honour. 
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SJH:   Mr Anderson? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Thank you, sir.  I think you got my opening submissions 

and take those as read, so I do not propose to dwell on those 5 

particularly.  What I propose to spend my time doing is responding to 

the minute that the court put out.  I have prepared a brief written 

response to those minutes, particularly if that would assist.   

 

SJH:   That would be very helpful, thank you. 10 

 

MR ANDERSON:   And if you are interested I will just – there is the first 

matter, which is the question paragraph 4A, I would like to draw the 

Panel’s attention to chapter 3.1.1 of the Canterbury RPS, page 21. 

 15 

 Now on the left hand column, third paragraph starting “will”: “Will 

indicates an action that must be taken to give effect to this policy.  

Although there sometimes may be differences as to how that method is 

expressed within plans, in addition some of these methods have 

qualifiers that make the method less directive such as the use of ‘will 20 

consider’” – and I think that is important to interpreting the policy 

9.3.1.   

 

 My friend, Mr Radich, has already referred to method three which I 

think talks about case by case assessments, but I would like to draw the 25 

Commissioners’ attention to the last sentence of the explanation on 

page 108 I believe which says: “The methods therefore seek at a 

minimum territorial authorities will include indigenous vegetation 

clearance rules that act as a trigger threshold for significance to be 

determined on a case by case basis.”  It is the bottom, it is above 9.3.2 30 

on page 108, directly above policy 9.3.2.  The last sentence, starting 

“the methods”. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is it policy 9.3.3, Mr Anderson? 

 35 

MR ANDERSON:  So it is the policy 9.3.1, the last sentence of the 

explanation, page 108 starting “the method therefore”.  It is highlighted 

above on the thing behind you and it is the last sentence of what has 

been highlighted. 

 40 

  [10.45 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it starts “while”, not “will”. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   No, it is the last sentence I am referring to.   45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   “The methods therefore seek as a minimum, territorial 

authorities will include in this indigenous vegetation clearance rules”. 

 5 

JDUGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   That that was a trigger.  Now my submission, that the 

plans could not be clearer, rules are required in relation to determining 

whether significance is present on a site on a case by case basis.  That 10 

is the first point I would like to make.   

 

 The second point I would like to make relates to this question of no net 

loss, and measuring no net loss.  That is paragraph 5.6 in your notes.  In 

my submission no net loss has to be measured with respect to the 15 

definition in the Canterbury Regional Policy statement and if I might 

take the Panel to page 198 of our - - - 

 

SJH:   Sorry, what page? 

 20 

MR ANDERSON:   198. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Now that specifies a number of things that have to happen 25 

before no net loss can be achieved and in my submission that is the 

basis upon which you determine whether no net loss has been achieved 

or not.  It is interesting that there is no definition of net gain within the 

definitions, and so I think that is significant. 

 30 

 So when we determine no net loss, that is what we do with respect to - - 

- 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Anderson, just on that matter, sorry to interrupt you 

but while you are there; at what scale is that measured?  Local, 35 

ecological, district or regional? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   My submission, sir, is that would have to be a matter of 

ecological evidence determined on a case by case basis.  That if you 

had the loss of something within, say we have the district and within 40 

our district there is a site which is the most southernmost range of a 

species, if that was removed you would not achieve no net loss, no 

matter what gain you achieved elsewhere. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   But if there was something, say kanuka, Manuka, on 

someone’s property, and that is not as rare as you describe for that 

particular piece of vegetation, the scale would be regional, would it? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Probably yes, sir, but I think that reasonably measurable 5 

overall reduction is probably an ecological question which you would 

have to get some ecological evidence about that on a case by case basis 

as to whether or not that did achieve no net - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, I will explore it later. 10 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes.  So the other point I would like to draw the Panel’s 

attention to is the last bit of the offsetting policy which is 9.3.6 I 

believe and the 9.3.6 and 5, where the offset involves the ongoing 

protection of a separate site it will deliver no net loss and preferably a 15 

net gain for indigenous biodiversity and conservation.  I think that is 

important because we can have a net gain in the sense of benefits 

elsewhere because net gain supports this idea of out of kind trades, but 

that makes it clear that you need to deliver no net loss, so you have to 

achieve that definition in the CRTS and you have to achieve that and 20 

preferably will have a net gain as well. 

 

 So my submission is that, if you are going to include the reference to 

no net loss in the policies, then it should be no net loss because that is 

hat the CRPS, the Canterbury Regional Policy Statement refers to. 25 

 

 And, if you include net gain – which is what the submission from 

Fulton Hogan, is to include net gain in one of the principles of the 

offsetting appendix – that has to be in conjunction with no net loss.  So 

net gain should no sit alone, it should reflect the words of sub-policy 5 30 

of 9.3.6 which is it would deliver no net loss and preferably a net gain. 

 

 And my final point I would like to make this morning is around the – I 

could not agree with my friend, Mr Radich, more about the 

reasonableness of the questions that were asked particularly around the 35 

enforceability and the legality of provisions. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

 Now, on page 3 of those free speaking notes, I have set out some 40 

issues.  I am reasonably happy with the definition of indigenous 

vegetation, accepting my friend’s point that it may be endemic.  There 

is an issue around that definition of indigenous vegetation clearance.   I 

think there is a slight mismatch between the lift of inclusive things and 

the words filling and clearing, for example it is not clear how artificial 45 

drainage would be filling or clearing.  
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 The second point is it is clearly intended but in some circumstances 

grazing would be vegetation clearance and it is not on the list, so I have 

suggested an amendment to that in the speaking notes which replaces 

filling or clearing with removal and adds grazing into the list. 5 

 

 I do not support the biodiversity offset definition, I think that the 

definition of no net loss should be – I can point the Panel to it if that 

would help but there is a definition of no net loss which I think the 

definition of no net loss should be the definition in the CRPS, not the 10 

wording that has been included in the definition which is currently 

what is being promoted. 

 

 The final point I would like to make relates to the grazing exemptions.  

I think that the issues around enforceability of that rule, sorry, 15 

exemption I should say, such that it cannot really stand.  The evidence 

that Forrest & Birds called on is that the current exemption provides 

for, if the site was grazed within the year before 25 July 2015 it can be 

grazed at any rate in the future so you can have a lightly grazed 

significant site which then could be heavily grazed in the future.  That 20 

could cause significant adverse effects; that should not be permitted. 

 

 The second problem with that rule is that the 25 July 2015 makes the 

rule effectively enforceable.  Who is going to know in 10 years when 

this plan is still live what was happening on a particular site on 25 July 25 

2015?  I think that rule, that exemption, yeah. 

 

 So the position if you are absent the exemption, is existing use rights 

prevail - - - 

 30 

SJH:   But don’t they suffer from that same problem in 10 years’ time or 20 

years’ time? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   If a site was being grazed and continued being grazed over 

a period one would expect that there would not be in particular any - - - 35 

 

SJH:   But the difficulty with existing use rights is well known, isn’t it? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, yes sir. 

 40 

SJH:   In establishing exactly what – I am just putting to you, does that not 

suffer from the same problem as putting in a finite date of July 2015? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   It does, but in my - - - 

 45 
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SJH:   And given the Order in Council requires us to try to provide certainty - - 

- 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, both of them have problems, I accept that.  My 

submission is that the problems associated with the use of existing use 5 

rights are less significant than the problems associated with the grazing 

exemption giving the significant adverse effects that might arise from 

permitted activities under that rule.  Sorry, under the rule without the 

exemption, sorry.   

 10 

 I acknowledge the issue, but the fundamental issue is who proves 

grazing was occurring at that particular point in time? – that is the 

issue.  And the Council – I do not see how the Council could ever do it 

in a situation where you have a got a farmer or someone saying, “I 

grazed that 10 years ago,” I just do not see how that can be – that could 15 

work. 

 

 Whereas, the farmer has the ability to identify what was happening at a 

certain place at certain points in time so I think that the lesser of the 

two evils, if you want to put it that way – is the existing use rights 20 

rather than the - - - 

 

SJH:   So you want to shift the onus, really? 

 

MR ANDERSON:  Fundamentally, yes, and Forest and Bird has got no issue 25 

with continuing grazing at the same level, we have got an issue with 

increasing grazing intensity such that it has an significant adverse effect 

on the values of the SCS. 

 

 So those are the key points I would like to make, I have probably gone 30 

slightly over my five minutes but you have asked me questions so I am 

happy to answer any more. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Anderson. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   Just got one question, it may be in several parts but you 

directed us to the Regional Policy Statement definition of no net loss 

and you answered a question from Judge Hassan in that regard. 

 

 The preface to that definition, though, talks about overall reduction and 40 

I know that is a slightly different point from the one about scale was 

asked but when you combine the use of the word “overall” in that 

definition, the other policy direction that talks about case by case 

assessment and the provisions of policy 9.3.6, especially the last part 

that says, “offsets should re-establish or protect the same type of 45 
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ecosystem or habitat” and then “unless an alternative eco system or 

habitat will provide a net gain for indigenous biodiversity.”   

 

 It seems to me that is encouraging innovation in terms of doing things 

that have an overall net gain.  Not focused on protecting something that 5 

exists in isolation from that context that I have just taken you through.  

Do you agree with that proposition or do you have an alternative view? 

 

  [10.55 am] 

 10 

MR ANDERSON:   I have a somewhat alternative view but I completely 

understand the point that you are making.  I think there is a wrinkle in 

the RPS that is not entirely clear; you have got the policy 9.3.13, when 

you refer to that definition, I think it makes it quite clear what has been 

sought by that policy but I agree with you that the reference in the last 15 

of that muddies the waters somewhat and that it is not entirely clear 

what is being proposed. 

 

 But I think my submission is that the no net loss is really critical 

because we do not have a definition of what net gain is, so how do we 20 

determine whether there is a net gain or not?  That is entirely uncertain 

as far as I can see because we do not have – that definition of no net 

loss provides a bit of a basis to upon which to make decisions.  The 

absence of a definition of net gain, and uncertainty associated with it, 

makes it really problematic to put in policies.   25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, that is helpful, but doesn’t that last part of 

policy 9.3.6 still say notwithstanding all that, there is scope for 

innovation where you cannot do like for like type offsetting which all 

the ecologists say is - - - 30 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I think that conflicts with the paragraph before it, I think 

that 9.3.6, I think that last sentence conflicts somewhat with the 

paragraph immediately above it which talks about delivering no net 

loss and preferably a net gain, the conjunctive “and” in there is, in my 35 

submission, quite important, and that is sub-policy 5 of 9.3.6. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Right, no, that is fine, thank you. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   So just to finally answer the point, I think that there is 40 

some scope for innovation but it is quite important to keep firmly in 

mind the no net loss definition in attempting to achieve that through the 

policies and the Replacement Plan. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, thank you, sir, good morning, Mr Anderson.  With regard 5 

to your comment under objective 9.1.1. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Which document are you in?  The one I handed out this 

morning? 

 10 

MS HURIA:   Your opening legal submission, paragraph 22.  So it is where 

Forest and Bird agrees with Ms Hogan that The Gondola submission 

seeking the removal of maintained enhance should be rejected.  Could 

you just explain to me how you moved from paragraph 22 to 23? 

 15 

MR ANDERSON:   So the - - - 

 

MS HURIA:   I guess my specific point is that I do not know that you have 

explained there why enhanced should be maintained? 

 20 

MR ANDERSON:   Can I just think about that, ma’am, I think it is probably 

easier to do that rather than try to battle my way through it so I will 

note that and respond to that in closing. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  The other question I had just really explores the 25 

point about public good at private cost.  Have you given any thought to 

the cost of case by case assessments particularly on smaller 

landholders? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   That is an issue that has cropped up on a number of 30 

occasions in planning matters like this and the cost of going and doing 

assessments and where that fits in the mix and I think it is an issue and 

those costs should be minimised but I think the RPS makes it quite 

clear that you need to do those in the absence of a district-wide 

assessment of significance which maps all the sites, we have not got 35 

that at the moment because we have got these.  Some are plus sites that 

have not been mapped.   

 

 When that process is finished, I think then there will not be any need 

for these assessments but while that process is still in progress, I do not 40 

think the RPS makes it quite clear that those case by case assessments 

are required, so I think Forest and Bird is very keen for that process of 

identifying this SESs to be completed so that the costing fall away on 

the landowners and also the – there is a lot of uncertainty around the 

rules because you have these map SESs, and you know what you can 45 

do around the current uncertainty, but while we are in this process of 
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developing that full schedule, I do not think we – I think we have to 

accept those costs.  

 

  [11.00 am] 

 5 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a couple of matters, thanks.  Mr Anderson, you refer 

in your submissions to the Innes decision, Rural Forest and Bird and 

Innes, which as you know, I chaired the hearing on that, but given that 10 

you have referred to it, could you provide copies of that. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I certainly will, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Was Royal Forest and Bird party to the settlement that 15 

lead to the consent order in 2007? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I believe it was, I did not work for Forest and Bird the – 

yes, we were sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I am just wondering, is there someone I could put 

questions to about why there has been a departure, well, effectively it 

appears a change of view on the part of Royal Forest and Bird as to 

their approach between that approach and the approach before us, is 

there anyone I can ask about that?  I know Mr Davis refers in his 25 

evidence to some hi concerns, is he the person I should ask about that? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Can I come back to you on that after the morning 

adjournment, there is a Forest and Bird person in the - - - 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you can take instructions? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   And I can take instructions from that as to whether she is 

able to respond to that. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The third point, it is just - - - 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Sorry, can I just seek clarification there before we move 

on.  One of the particular queries that you have got around the potential 

change in position that you would like to - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean, it is an issue which no doubt the Council will 

help us understand, and we have got the Council’s biodiversity strategy 

to look through as well and that it seems strongly emphasises 

partnership and the need to work with landowners in its executive 45 

summary.  And it is just in light of the fact that that model appeared to 
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be a consensus outcome in 2007, and several farmers are going to be 

giving evidence raising concerns about a lack of engagement, and I 

wondered whether there as anything in the Royal Forest and Bird side 

that we should understand about why the position has changed from 

that? 5 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Certainly, sir, I believe we probably can provide someone 

to answer questions around that, but if I could take some instructions 

and get back to you after the morning adjournment, that would be 

appreciated.  10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  The third thing I have is a technical legal 

question.  We talked before about the frame of reference for no net 

loss. Am I right to more or less equate, “no net loss” to be effectively 

avoid, is addressed by way of “avoid, remedy and mitigate”, ie, we 15 

have received the level of avoid because there is no net loss. 

 

 Is that how we should understand that? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I would not go quite that far, I think that the loss in the 20 

Christchurch district, and particularly in some of ecological districts 

within it, is so critical that we might almost be there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But if we look at the policy construct.  If the policy 

construct is telling us to achieve no net loss, does that not help us 25 

inform and understand the frame of reference for avoid, ie, we are 

looking at avoidance of what, avoidance effect on biological diversity? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   On significant – the avoidance is particularly in relation to 

a significant site so - - - 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, there are two things, isn’t there, if we are looking at 

the Regional Policy Statement and we are looking at the question of 

biological diversity, then is avoid to be referenced to no net loss, ie, 

there is no material impact on biological diversity at that point by 35 

policy direction?  

 

MR ANDERSON:   I think in some situations, I think that if we cannot achieve 

no net loss, and that might be the situation given the amount that 

remains at some of these things, removing even small amounts may 40 

contravene the definition of no net loss there.  So in some 

circumstances I think that that is absolutely the case, that you might 

reach the situation where you cannot achieve no net loss without 

avoiding, but I would not want to rule out the possibility that there are 

some situations where you can. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so I will explore it with the witnesses, I think.  

What is in my mind is in fact there may not be a dichotomy between 

offsetting and avoidance under Section 52C depending on the frame of 

reference for avoidance. 

 5 

MR ANDERSON:   I know, yes, again, I agree with you, sir, but if you look 

through avoid in the context of no net loss, it might be that to achieve 

no net loss you have to avoid, and so those two things are related, but 

in some situations you might be able to achieve no net loss without 

avoiding. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, thank you, Mr Anderson. 

 15 

  [11.05 am] 

 

SJH:   Mr van der Wal? 

 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Good morning your honours, members of the Panel.  I 20 

appear for three different parties and I propose to take the Panel 

through the three – deal with them in order.  Beginning then firstly with 

Ceres, I had indicated in the email filing those submissions, I see that 

they have been received, that I would be content simply to take them as 

read, so I am simply happy to answer any questions the Panel may 25 

have. 

 

SJH:   All right, well we will deal with them in order, so the first one is Ceres. 

 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Yes, sir. 30 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, no questions. 

 35 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Just by way of clarification, there are some corrections 

I would like to make in terms of my opening for Christchurch. 

 

SJH:   All right, we will take the corrections for Ceres first, are there any? 

 40 

MR VAN DER WAL:   There are no corrections. 

 

SJH:   Okay, we will come to the next one in line.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you, we will go now to the one on the Christchurch 

Civic Trust, do you have corrections you wish to make there? 

 5 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Yes sir, very briefly, on the intituling on the front 

page, the last three words, four words under submitter - - - 

 

SJH:   I think you are having difficulty being heard in the back, is that correct, 

could you just speak up little Mr Van der Wal, more into the 10 

microphone? 

 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Certainly.  In terms of the final line on the first page 

under the heading “submitter”, the words there are, “as it relates to 

trees in the public ground”, that should actually read, “as it relates to 15 

9.4 significant trees.”   But that should have become immediately 

obvious from the submissions themselves sir, - - -  

 

SJH:    Can you give us the paragraph reference again, please. 

 20 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Simply just in the intituling. 

 

SJH:   So it now reads, “Submitter numbers…” etcetera, etcetera, “…as it 

relates to 9.4 significant trees.”? 

 25 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Correct sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Sir, and then right at the very end, paragraph 33.2, 30 

there is a sentence in the unnumbered sub paragraph, right at the end of 

that paragraph, sentence, “To the evidence of Ms Lowe, primarily 

addresses this but relies on agricultural and landscaping…”, that should 

read “landscape”. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR VAN DER WAL:  Sir, those are my only corrections, I would hope that 

the written submissions are clear, but if the Panel has any questions I 

am happy to take them. 40 

 

SJH:    Yes, they are, so we will go to the Civic Trust.  Dr Mitchell do you 

have any questions? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, thank you. 45 
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SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 5 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   And the Greater Christchurch Buildings Trust, there are no corrections? 

 10 

MR VAN DER WAL:   There are no corrections there, your Honour.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Any questions Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:  No, thank you. 

 

SJH:  All right, thank you, Mr Van der Wal. 25 

 

MR VAN DER WAL:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Limmer, Fulton Hogan. 

 30 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  I filed my written submission on this so really 

I just want to highlight where Fulton Hogan diverges from the revised 

proposal, and at the moment they are just simply in respect of the 

activity status for vegetation clearance at Templeton Golf Course.  The 

Panel has received quite a bit of background to that request through 35 

chapter 17 and hearing there, so I will not repeat that, or the reasons for 

it.  

 

 The Panel has also had an entrée to the legal argument through my 

closing submission in that chapter as to why in this particular situation, 40 

the discretionary status is appropriate.  In my submission the matters 

for discretion are very important and in ensuring the policies that relate 

to it are simply those that relate to ecology and for that reason the 

objectives of both the Plan and the RPS can be achieved through that 

status. 45 



 Page 27 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

  [11.10 am] 

 

 The next part of my submission deals with the request from other 

parties that Fulton Hogan supports the Council’s revised proposal in 

respect of and that particularly relates to the policy regarding the 5 

management of activities within SESs and the request from the Crown 

and Forest and Bird, in particular, seek reversion of that policy 

protection to avoid any adverse effects. 

 

 Fulton Hogan’s position is that a policy which seeks to avoid a net loss 10 

is the more appropriate and, in fact, the only one that will give effect to 

the RPS.  That is, in essence, the reason for its opposition to the 

amendments sought by those parties and obviously the policy about 

offsetting in the RPS has a significant impact on that position and 

again, the relevance of that in Fulton Hogan’s submission is apparent 15 

through its submissions on chapter 17 and its interests in the Templeton 

Golf Course. 

 

 In respect of significant trees, the Fulton Hogan and Council’s position 

is aligned on that now and through mediation the parties have reached 20 

agreement so those are my summary of the submissions there.  In 

respect of the Panel’s minute on Friday, I respectfully suggest matters 

(c) and (d) of that minute are particularly relevant to the Fulton Hogan 

submission and the matter of policy 2 and what management is 

appropriate within SES.  The questions there include, “What does 25 

protection mean?” For the purposes of the RPS and in my submission 

protection is not an avoidance of adverse effects.  That is not what the 

RPS tells us.  The protection sought by the RPS in policy 9.3.1 (3) is 

protection from a net loss of indigenous biodiversity and in my 

submission that is informed by policy 9.3.6 which clearly sets out the 30 

offsetting, which is not the avoidance of adverse effects, as a way of 

achieving no net loss.   

 

 I note the offsetting is also referred to as one of the policies or policy 

9.3.6 is expressly referred to as one of the policies to give effect to the 35 

objective, and I will just check the number, sorry.  Objective 9.2.3 

which is concerned with the protection of significant areas, now that 

objective expressly says that policy 9.3.6 which is the offsetting policy 

is one of the policies to implement that, so in my submission, 

protection in the RPS does not equate to avoidance of adverse effects 40 

and in that respect, the RPS has made a decision.  It reflects a particular 

choice made by the decision makers at that time and I submit it is the 

choice they were entitled to make and I refer to the King Salmon case 

also in respect of that which my friend, Mr Radich, has referred you to 

where the Supreme Court there said that these higher order documents 45 

are entitled to make choices in terms of how Part 2 is to be 
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implemented in them and once that choice is made, failing three of 

their sum qualifiers to this, but in my submission they do not apply in 

this case.  Failing that, it is not for the lower order planning instrument 

to refer back to Part 2 to make that decision again. 

 5 

 The second question in part (c) of the minute is how no net loss is to be 

measured.  In my submission, the definition and the context of the 

Regional Policy Statement and where that phrase is used make it clear 

that no net loss is an overall measure and in my submission it is to be 

measured at a regional level. 10 

 

 And in respect of part (d) of the minute that is probably less relevant to 

the Fulton Hogan submission but in terms of whether there are any 

other directions in the RPS, that would mean that the policy of protect 

means something equivalent to avoiding adverse effects in the SES.  In 15 

my submission, there are no other directions in the RPS that would 

make that the case.  If the Panel has any questions? 

 

SJH   Thank you, Dr Mitchell? 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

  [11.15 am] 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms Limmer, I mean you have heard 

Dr Mitchell’s questions of Mr Anderson regarding this part of policy 

9.3.6 regarding offsets in an alternative ecosystem or habitat that might 

produce a net gain and how that might relate to the policy direction 30 

regarding no net loss and the definition that goes with that, have you in 

that sense, to fall within, or it is something for us to consider in relation 

to Fulton Hogan’s submission. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   Have you got any comments regarding the interpretation that 

we have received from Mr Anderson? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, Ma’am.  In my submission the explanation to that 40 

particular policy is quite helpful and the paragraphs are numbered but if 

you go to the last column on that page, the second paragraph down and 

about two thirds of the way down that paragraph it starts at the word 

“trade-offs” just down a bit further, yes, just there, and so there it 

makes it clear that the RPS did expressly contemplate the possibility of  45 

different habitat types being used as an offset and it would only be 
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available – it recognises that it may not be easy to satisfy the policy 

criteria if it were a like-trade, but that in some situations the benefits 

may be enough that that were a viable option. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And whether or not the benefits are enough and whether it is 5 

viable, does that go to looking carefully at what “no net loss” means in 

the particular circumstances, as Mr Anderson said? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, in my submission I accept there is no definition on “net 

gain”, but in my submission I submit there is not a need for a definition 10 

of that.  The definition of “no net loss” makes it very obvious that a net 

gain has to be something more than that.  So if no net loss is not an 

overall reduction in then clearly, a net gain has to be an increase in. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you. 15 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir. 

 20 

SHJ:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one thing, Ms Limmer, I appreciate that your client is 

just concerned with one of the SESs and Mr Chrystal is giving evidence 

but I am interested in exploring, and I wonder whether I can explore 25 

with Mr Chrystal slightly more broadly, the theory of using restricted 

discretionary activity as opposed to non-complying activity within 

SES.  Is he able to assist? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, certainly, sir, and you are quite right that while the 30 

context for this is an interest in one site, the submission from 

Fulton Hogan has been assessed by the experts in the more lighter 

context that it arises. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And picking up in your submission and regarding the 35 

Supreme Court decision, first of all, at some stage, if you could provide 

us with paragraph references for your submission. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And secondly, I take your submission to effectively be 

that policy documents or higher order documents can help inform our 

approach to Part 2 without having to revisit Part 2.  For instance, it sits 

with your theory of restricted discretionary activity, am I right, that is 

effectively the nub of? 45 
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MS LIMMER:   Sir, it does and I have not drawn a parallel with the status in 

the King Salmon case in that respect. 

 

 I think, sorry – my submission is that in respect of King Salmon, it 

makes it very clear that where there is a higher order document that 5 

meets the criteria in that decision, a decision maker cannot go back to 

Part 2 to justify a departure from the policy directive there. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I was just exploring with you the fact that in essence, 

a restricted discretionary activity curtails the inquiry, doesn’t it, to the 10 

matters that are restricted for discretionary assessment? 

 

MS LIMMER:   It certainly does, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And in that sense, it curtails the enquiry back to Part 2, 15 

but I take your submission to be with reference to the order documents 

that that is effectively given a blessing by the Supreme Court? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, sorry, in that context, yes and I refer in my written 

submissions to a High Court decision also that confirms that with a 20 

restricted discretionary status you can only refer to the matters in that 

discretion.  You cannot go back to Part 2 to bring into account a whole 

bunch of other matters. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and finally just on the matter, and I asked 25 

Mr Anderson about this on the concept of “avoid” and at which scale 

do we look at avoid? 

 

 You refer to “protect” rather than “avoid” as a proper point of reference 

but couldn't the two equate with each other just as they do under Part 2 30 

of the Act, if effectively you understand what is to be avoided as a “no 

net loss”. 

 

  [11.20 am] 

 35 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, and I think I agree with you on that respect, and my 

oral submission is just now, is that the RPS tells us that protection is to 

be achieved effectively by avoiding a net loss. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 40 

 

MS LIMMER:   But I - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And measured at the appropriate scale of reference. 

 45 
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MS LIMMER:   That is correct, sir, but I draw a distinction in between that and 

avoiding adverse effects. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I wonder – sorry, I do not want to debate the point, 

but I wondered whether that distinction necessarily needs to be made, if 5 

one understands that there is a proper frame of reference to apply to the 

word “avoid” under section 5.2(c) anyway, ie at which scale are we 

avoiding effects? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, yes I accept that, and I am making the submission in 10 

the context of a policy about avoiding adverse effects on sites of 

ecological significance, as oppose to avoiding adverse effects on 

indigenous biodiversity. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Limmer. 

 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Mr Cuthbert, I see that your email address is shown to be Meridian 

Energy, are you an in-house counsel at Meridian Energy? 

 

MR CUTHBERT:   Sir, I am an employee of Meridian Energy. 

 25 

SJH:   So I take it you are appearing here rather more as a McKenzie friend 

than a legal representative, even if your submissions are of a legal 

nature? 

 

MR CUTHBERT:   Yes, sir, and if it is relevant I should disclose that 30 

Rosemary Lyon is my mother, so that is - - - 

 

SJH:   That is fine, we understand. 

 

MR CUTHBERT:   - - - part of my rationale. 35 

 

SJH:   You go ahead and speak to the submission. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I would just also like to put on the record that from time to 

time I have worked with Mr Cuthbert in his role at Meridian Energy. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   As have I. 

 

SJH:   Anyone else?  Thank you. 

 45 
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MR CUTHBERT:   Thank you, sir.  I have filed written submissions, I do not 

plan - - - 

 

SJH:   Yes, we have those. 

 5 

MR CUTHBERT:   I do not plan to run through those at all, a slight change of 

direction, we are now dealing with part 9.3, “Historic Heritage”, rather 

than biodiversity issues. 

 

SJH:   Yes. 10 

 

MR CUTHBERT:   Rosemary Lyon has filed a statement of evidence which 

she will discuss.   

 

 From my point of view the only contextual point I wanted to make 15 

before questions was that I think this submission is a simple one, it 

relates to the listing of one property in Akaroa, but it may help you to 

consider the impact of listening on private property owners of 

residential property and what is the right level of regulation/the right 

level of intervention and the rights that those property owners enjoy as 20 

to how they use their properties and how is protection best achieved, 

what is an appropriate use and development and the context of these 

issues. 

 

SJH:   I think that would be useful, thank you. 25 

 

MR CUTHBERT:   Yes, thank you, and on that basis I am happy to take any 

questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   No, I have no questions, thank you, Mr Cuthbert. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you, sir, no questions. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, sir, but I look forward to hearing from Ms Lyon. 

 

SJH:   All right, well we will hear the evidence and such like in due course, 

thank you, Mr Cuthbert. 45 
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MR CUTHBERT:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   We will take the morning adjournment now for 15 minutes. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.23 am] 5 

 

RESUMED [11.47 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you.  Mr Anderson? 

 10 

MR ANDERSON:   I have taken instructions regarding the availability of a 

potential Forest and Bird witness and I can confirm that Jennifer Miller, 

who is the Canterbury West Coast conservation manager, is available.  

The one little wrinkle was that her first involvement in the process 

stems from the time she was a Department of Conservation employee, 15 

she was a planner for the Department when the consent order went 

through, she has subsequently moved to Forest and Bird.  I have 

discussed with Mr Radich whether they have any objection to her 

answering questions relating to the time when she was a DOC 

employee and Mr Radich confirmed there is no problem with that so 20 

Ms Miller is available to answer any questions. 

 

SJH:   Yes, I mean it is subject to the views of other counsel but we may well 

have some questions to put to her when we get to that part of the 

evidence. 25 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I guess my - - - 

 

SJH:   Some of it will fall out of the discussion we are going to have 

immediately after lunch. 30 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Great, okay, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   So I think if you just park it until then. 

 35 

MR ANDERSON:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Now we come to Mr Burke. 

 

MR BURKE:   Yes, may it please the Panel, I appear for Mr and Mrs McVicar. 40 

I do not have any opening submissions, written ones, sir, because a 

joint memorandum of counsel has been filed on behalf of Mr and 

Mrs McVicar and the Council, there were no other submitters involved 

in this.  It relates, I don’t know, would your Honour like me to take you 

through the joint memorandum? 45 

 



 Page 34 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

SJH:   Yes, you can. 

 

MR BURKE:   Sir, submission No 6313 and the background to this is that the 

submitters filed a submission on stage 2 requesting that the upper 

portion of lots 10 to 15 of Worsleys Road be rezoned and at the 5 

moment they are zoned Rural Port Hills and a request was sought to 

have the upper portion zoned Residential Large Lot which will 

continue the pattern of strip zoning going up Worsleys Road. 

 

 A decision hasn’t been made by the Panel on that submission yet 10 

however this submission for today is on stage 3 and the ONL overlay, 

the outstanding natural landscape overlay over that particular land 

submitted on in stage 2. 

 

  [11.50 am] 15 

 

 Jeremy Head, landscape architect, for Mr and Mrs McVicar and 

Yvonne Pfluger, landscape architect for the Council, had a conference 

and out of that conference they agreed, and it has been filed, sir, that it 

would be appropriate for the outstanding natural overlay to be removed 20 

from Lots 11 to 14. 

 

SJH:   Sorry, Lots? 

 

MR BURKE:   11 to 14, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR BURKE:   Over the top portion of them.  That left Lot 15 as an orphan lot 

as it were, sir, and after mediation and subsequent discussions it was 30 

agreed that it would be an appropriate landscape outcome if the ONL 

was also removed from half of Lot 15 and that is all set out, sir, in the 

joint memorandum. 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 35 

 

MR BURKE:   And as a result of that, the penultimate paragraph of that joint 

memorandum, Council requested that the ONL be amended in 

accordance with attachment C to that memorandum which has an area 

marked in orange which removes or proposes to remove the ONL from 40 

the top portion of those lots.   

 

 That is really it in a nutshell, sir.  I should say that Mr Head has filed 

evidence on behalf of the submitters.  That evidence has not been 

sworn at this stage, he is not scheduled to give evidence but I would 45 

like that to be part of the record.  I am in the Panel’s hands as to 
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whether he needs to be called or not.  No one has requested that he be 

cross-examined. 

 

SJH:   Well, I think the appropriate course is that you file the evidence and then 

file a memorandum seeking leave to excuse him. 5 

 

MR BURKE:   Yes, sir.  The evidence has been filed, sir, on the 10th so I will - 

- - 

 

SJH:   We have got the statement of evidence and a number of other witnesses 10 

in the same circumstances have done the same and we have granted 

that and we treat it as evidence on the record. 

 

MR BURKE:   Thank you for the indication, sir, I will file that memorandum. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR BURKE:   That, sir, is really all I have to say unless - - - 

 

SJH:   I will just see if there is any questions.  Dr Mitchell? 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 25 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Burke, and you may be excused.  Yes, Mr Hughes-

Johnson? 35 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Sir, thank you.  My learned friend Mr Johnson, 

sir, will be addressing you in relation to the Cathedral matter.  My 

involvement in this matter is restricted, sir, to some site specific matters 

on behalf of the Church Property Trustees.  I have a memorandum, it 40 

has been filed electronically this morning but I have copies of it here. 

 

SJH:   Yes, I certainly - - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   And I am sorry it was - - - 45 
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SJH:   I certainly have a copy I think - - - 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Of have you? 

 

SJH:   I think everybody may have that?  It is dated today’s date, Mr Hughes-5 

Johnson? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   That is this morning’s memorandum as opposed 

to an earlier one. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   It is a memorandum or an opening? 

 

SJH:   It is an opening of counsel? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   It says opening of counsel. 15 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Yes.  So I do not really think I need to delay the 

Panel other than to say that there has been a very substantial level of 20 

agreement between the Council and the Church Property Trustees in 

relation to these site specific matters. 

 

 There are two categories.  First of all, as you can see from my 

memorandum in paragraph 2 heritage settings, there is a whole lot of 25 

settings matters which are settled.  Now, I have not at this stage placed 

a memorandum before the Panel stating specifically what the nature of 

those agreements is.  I had proposed to do that before the opening of 

the hearing on 2 February which is I apprehend is the day we will be 

starting. 30 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   So I do not really think much will be gained by 

going through each of these items other than to say that, as you can see, 35 

agreement has been reached on all heritage setting matters. 

 

 What is left are two in fact or three heritage items, they are set out in 

paragraph 3.  First of all Saint Barnabas Parish administration building, 

there is disagreement, that is 3(i).  There is disagreement as to whether 40 

the administration building should be part of the heritage item listing or 

not and we have been unable to resolve that. 

 

 Secondly Saint Augustine’s Church Cashmere, which the Panel may be 

aware is a conglomeration I suppose you could say of buildings.  There 45 

was the original church, Sir Miles Warren then designed an addition to 
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the church and there are other buildings which are attached to that 

building. 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 5 

 The Council’s position is that all of the buildings are to be part of the 

heritage item.  There is disagreement over that but there is substantial 

agreement as to that part of the church which is to be part of the 

heritage item.  So that deals with the Saint Augustine’s Church in 

Cashmere.   10 

 

 Now agreement as to Saint Peter’s Church, which was one of the 

matters in respect of which your Honour granted leave, Holy Trinity 

Church Lyttelton (iv) is simply a naming matter.  I am, to be frank, not 

sure whether that matter has been resolved but, looking at it, it doesn’t 15 

seem to me as if it is going to cause particular difficulties.  

 

 And lastly Saint Cuthbert’s Anglican Church Governors Bay, there is a 

question there as to whether the vicarage should be treated as a heritage 

item or not.  The Church Property Trustees have filed a submission.  20 

There is no evidence filed on behalf of the Church Property Trustees in 

relation to this matter.  I am advised that there are ongoing, not 

consultations with the other side, but that Ms Price for the Church 

Property Trustees wishes to have further discussions with the heritage 

expert who will be called on behalf of the Church Property Trustees, 25 

namely Mr Pearson.  It is possible that that matter may resolve itself.   

 

 Now, in the event that it does not resolve itself I will be a position 

where I will need to request leave to file evidence just in relation to that 

narrow issue as to whether or not the Vicarage should be part of the 30 

heritage item. 

 

 So really, looking at the matter in the round, very substantial level of 

agreement in relation to virtually all matters leaving really only three 

matters outstanding. 35 

 

SJH:   And are discussions ongoing on all of those, Mr Hughes-Johnson? 

 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   No there is no discussions, I think we have 

reached the end of the road in relation to Saint Barnabas and in relation 40 

to Cashmere, those two I think are going to have to be subject to 

deliberations by the Panel but as to the other matter, the Saint 

Cuthbert’s matter, I just don’t know, it is possible it may resolve itself I 

don’t know. 

 45 

SJH:   Okay, thank you. 
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MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   So that is really all I have to say, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  I will just see if there is any Panel questions. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you. 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Hughes-Johnson, you may be excused. 

 15 

MR HUGHES-JOHNSON:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Johnson? 

 

MR JOHNSON:   Thank you, sir.  Sir, I will just very briefly outline for the 20 

Panel really what it is that CPT is attempting to achieve through this 

submission and this submission effectively goes hand in hand with the 

submission made in relation to chapter 13 as well.  And then I will just 

pose, if I may, two questions that are raised by the position of the 

various submitters in relation to this issue that the Panel might like to 25 

have in the back of your minds as you hear the evidence.  I will also 

suggest some answers. 

 

SJH:   Well, it may be helpful to file that as a written document before we 

come to the evidence. 30 

 

MR JOHNSON:   Yes, sir, I can certainly do that, it is not a problem. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 35 

MR JOHNSON:   So, sir, in terms of the relief that is sought by Church 

Property Trustees in relation to Christchurch Cathedral, fundamentally 

what CPT is wanting to do is to create a planning framework that 

enables progress.   

 40 

 The position at the moment is CPT is committed to engaging in 

working with the Crown and in exploring the option of reinstatement.  

The uncontested evidence, and if you have a chance to look at the Dean 

report attached to the evidence of Mr Nixon, the already agreed 

evidence between the major protagonists is that reinstatement is 45 

difficult in an engineering sense but possible and also quite expensive. 
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 What the CPT submission seeks to do is to facilitate both reinstatement 

as a complex and difficult project but also to facilitate a new Cathedral 

in the event that reinstatement is not actually possible which would 

most likely be due to a funding shortfall and really that is the thrust of 5 

the submission. 

 

 In terms of the two questions that arise in this context, the first one is 

why is CPT not content to tie it to the existing section 38 notice and the 

provisions in both the proposed plan and the existing planning 10 

framework relating to resource consents when you have a section 38 

notice. 

 

 In essence there are two reasons for that.  The first is in relation to a 

reinstatement or a new Cathedral a section 38 notice is practically 15 

difficult.  It allows work for the purposes of making a building safe.  

That is different from work that might be required to reinstate to a 

hundred percent of the new building standard in terms of earthquake 

resilience.  Or to deconstruct fully to allow a new Cathedral. 

 20 

  [12.00 pm] 

 

 So there is an inherently limiting factor in terms of how section 38 

notice can help you, and that is touched on by Mr Nixon in his 

evidence. 25 

 

 And the second reason is fundamentally one related to promoting 

recovery.  A section 38 notice is always vulnerable to judicial review 

and a result of that would be further delay, and further delay would not 

promote recovery in the central city, which is absolutely vital.. 30 

 

 The second question that you might like to consider, and it has been 

sort of alluded to by Great Christchurch Buildings Trust, is why not 

have an open consenting process as opposed to a non-notified 

controlled activity? 35 

 

 The fundamental point which will be developed in the closing 

submissions is why would you do that when everybody agrees that it is 

an expensive and difficult project.  If you had an open consenting 

process you would simply be allowing further delay so that issues 40 

already before this Panel can be re-litigated. 

 

 So sir, those are really just two questions arising from the submissions, 

and also what it is that CPT is hoping to achieve through its 

submission.  So if the Panel has any questions I am happy to answer 45 

them. 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thank you Mr Johnson. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 10 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thanks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one, sir.  Mr Johnson, just on that last question is part 

of the premise for the way you put that answer, effectively that the 15 

nature of the assessment required for consenting purposes is one which 

is specialist and can be addressed in the process without public 

engagement? 

 

MR JOHNSON:   Yes, that is right sir.  It particularly relates to questions of 20 

costs in relation to the Cathedral.   

 

SJH:   Thank you, and you may be excused.  Now Christchurch Gondola, Mr 

Christensen. 

 25 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   May it please the Panel, I am here for the Gondola.  

Sir, this is submitter 4000.  The original submission raised two issues, 

sir, one indigenous biodiversity, and the second was the outstanding 

natural landscape overlay.   

 30 

 The Gondola is only pursuing its submission in respect of the overlay, 

outstanding natural landscape.  And I can report, sir, that matters have 

been resolved as between the City Council, the Crown and Gondola.  

The Gondola was concerned to ensure that any future development of 

the tourism facility in what will be the Outstanding Natural Landscape 35 

would effectively be allowed to be assessed on its merits and would not 

be stopped through a non-complying gateway test.  And what our 

discussions have involved are some changes to the policies, and also to 

the activity status table, which has resolved that issue, sir. 

 40 

 So I intend to file a memorandum.  There is one statement of evidence 

by Ms Niven which has been filed with the Panel, and I will seek, sir, 

that we could withdraw on the basis that I do not believe that there will 

be any cross-examination subject to Panel’s questions. 

 45 
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SJH:   All right, well I am not sure the Panel will be ready to commit to that 

just at the moment, but I will treat this as a formal application to 

withdraw, subject to the Panel having no questions of Ms Niven. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, thank you, sir, I have not filed the memorandum 5 

to that effect. 

 

SJH:   Well no, I am trying to save you filing it. 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you, sir, I appreciate that. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you. 

 

SJH:   Are you in a position to comment on Niven? 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   I have got no questions. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I ask a question and then I might? 

 

SJH:   Yes, yes. 20 

 

MS DAWSON:   Am I right that it is Ms Pfluger’s rebuttal evidence that 

confirms the position that the Gondola agrees with, and would then be 

agreed between the City Council and the Christchurch Gondola? 

 25 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, and also Ms Ferguson’s rebuttal - - -  

 

MS DAWSON:   Which reflects - - -  

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   With the latest set of provisions with the changes 30 

which are identified there are in the policies.  And then I believe in this 

morning’s submissions by counsel for the Council there was a 

reference to the activity status table and effectively a reference to 

additional activities associated with the Gondola as part of that table. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   So with a scale limitation? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Yes, yes, so those matters are all agreed. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So subject to what the activity status and supported in 40 

evidence by Ms Pfluger and Ms Ferguson, and the policy method, that 

is the package that you would agree to? 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you, yes. 

45 
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  [12.05 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   So on the basis on that I will not have any questions of Ms 

Nevin. 

 5 

SJH:   And you can confirm that is now included, Mr Conway? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes sir, paragraph 13.2 of our opening sets out the agreed 

position as I understand it. 

 10 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, and I do not have any questions for the witnesses. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you, well Ms Nevin can be excused and you will be filing a 

closing if you wish to do so.  You may not in the circumstances but we 

will make the usual timetable order and you can if you feel it is 

appropriate Mr Christensen, otherwise you may be excused. 20 

 

MR CHRISTENSEN:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Limmer, Isaac Conservation and Wildlife Trust? 

 25 

MS LIMMER:   Thank you, sir.  I have filed some brief submissions on behalf 

of the Trust last week, so I will simply address the principal issues for 

the Trust.  The Panel will have some familiarity with the Trust and its 

activities from the Chapter 17 Hearing, and in understanding of how to 

derive an income from its landholdings is essential to continuation of 30 

its conservation activities. 

 

 And that is the purpose or the reason behind its submission on Chapter 

9, is effectively in support of the very limited exemptions within SESs 

for grazing, and the exemption outside SESs for continued maintenance 35 

of improved pasture. 

 

 And just looking at paragraphs 9 – 11 of my opening submissions I set 

out there a change that was resisted by the Trust, and sought by the 

Crown, I filed a memorandum later after their submission seeking leave 40 

to withdraw my cross-examination request of the Crown witnesses 

because the issue has been resolved as between the Trust and the 

Crown. 
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 So those submissions are no longer relevant.  And I understand Ms 

Cameron will provide the Panel with information on that, or 

confirmation of that when she appears.   

 

 The remaining issue then is between the Trust and Forest and Bird.  As 5 

you have heard this morning, Forest and Bird seek removal of the 

express exemption for grazing in favour of reliance upon existing use 

rights in section 10 of the Act. 

 

 In the whole the Trust assessed little difference in substance or in terms 10 

of effects of either option, but it prefers the clarity and certainty 

provided by express provision in the plan, so that the landowner does 

not need to ring its planning consultant or its lawyer for example, to 

find out whether it is able to continue grazing in these areas.  And that 

is covered in Ms Heaton’s evidence foe the Trust. 15 

 

 The matter is perhaps not one of substance.  Forest and Bird has said it 

agrees with the substance of the improved pasture exemption outside 

SES sites, but suggests some wording through its counsel, wording 

changes to their provision and Ms Heaton will address that when she 20 

provides her evidence to the Panel. 

 

 Just a couple of matters in addition to those in my written submissions.  

The default rules applying to vegetation clearance to give effect to the 

RPS are to enable an assessment of significance where none has 25 

occurred.  One of the matters the plan does not address is for which 

sites an assessment has occurred but they have been dismissed, or not 

found to be significant.   

 

 In my understanding from the evidence is that within the low plains 30 

area particularly, and not so much Banks Peninsula perhaps, there are a 

large number of sites that we looked at, and we have got down to 

whatever the number it is of those that are identified as the SES.  But a 

landowner cannot find out from the plan as far as I can tell whether 

their site is one of those that has been assessed.  So maybe put through 35 

the requirement for an assessment when one has already occurred in 

line with what the RPS requires.  

 

 And the other matter of relevance I submit are the regional plan 

provisions and in the low plains area particularly there are very 40 

stringent constraints on farming activities that can occur there, and in 

particular around intensification.  The area is red zoned for nutrient 

increases, and it is also red zoned or fully allocated for water allocation.  

And in my submission that is relevant to the potential for the effects 

have increased farming activities to be realised.  45 
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 Those are my submissions, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, thank you, sir. 5 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   No thank you, thank you Ms Limmer. 

 10 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No thank you sir. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just one, sir, Ms Limmer, just one thing which is 

exercising my mind and I have no doubt that we will explore it during 

the hearing, maybe Ms Seaton can assist but I don’t know whether you 

could – Mr Anderson has raised this question of certainty around this 20 

cut-off date in regard to grazing. 

 

 Do you know whether from your client’s perspective there could by 

clarity by way of mapped areas in terms of identifying what has been 

grazed and what hasn’t? 25 

 

MS LIMMER:   Sir, from my client’s perspective, sir, yes, the information, 

some of it is recorded already by the relevant lessees of the areas.  

Some is in the lessees’ heads so it would need to be translated in paper. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So it is potentially possible to be able to translate onto a 

map? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, and what I would say about that too, again going 

back to the regional planning controls is that for the low plains area by 35 

2017 Farm Environment Management Plans are required and those 

need to record the farming activities that are undertaken on the site.  

They also need to include a baseline nitrogen loss assessment going 

right back to 2008 which includes stocking rates and fertiliser inputs 

and the like, so from that information that ECan will have, the farming 40 

activities will be transparent. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Limmer, Mr Schulte. 45 
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MR SCHULTE:   Thank you, sir.  So, for Mr Michael Winn Bayley, submitter 

3285 who farms at Kaitorete Spit and which is being included under the 

site of ecological significance overlay Site E2.  The specific issue for 

the Bayleys is that the SES for their property covers virtually the entire 

property, in fact, 95 percent of it.  Their submission sought indirectly, 5 

basically an increased exemption from the SES for land on the property 

which the witnesses for the Council are reluctant to agree to.  There 

have been discussion with the Council post the evidence exchange and 

those discussions were reasonably positive in terms of the idea as my 

friend, Mr Christensen, explained of reducing the activity status from 10 

non-complying to at least remove the need for having to go through the 

non-complying gateway threshold tests which in the circumstances of a 

SES over the entire property and the values that are being protected, 

could be, in fact, prohibitive in terms of them being able to certainly 

increase any farming activity but even maintain what they already have 15 

in terms of grazing on the rest of the farm. 

 

 So that is an option which we have explored with the Council.  It has 

not been finally determined in terms of a draft rule but I am hoping to 

address the detail of that in terms of cross-examination with the 20 

Council witnesses.  Obviously, the Bayleys’ preference still would be 

to have some areas exempted and whether fully discretionary status is 

the most appropriate in the circumstances of an SES of this nature, 

whether an even lesser in terms of restricted discretionary, I do not 

know if that is something that the Panel would be willing to 25 

contemplate and I understand that you are wishing to address counsel 

after lunch.  I do not know if that is one of the issues that is going to 

feature in that but that essentially is the position for the Bayleys. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Mitchell? 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No questions, thank you, sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Schulte, are you able to remain for that discussion? 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Absolutely, yes. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No questions. 
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SJH:   All right, we will come back to it then, thank you.  Mr Pedley? 

 

MR PEDLEY:   Thank you, sir.  I appear for two separate submitters, being the 

Arts Centre of Christchurch Trust Board and the Canterbury Museum 5 

Trust Board.  I have filed two sets of very brief submissions for each of 

those.  I am happy to take those as read as you have suggested.  Both 

submitters have an interest in the Historic Heritage chapter so that is 

topic 9.3 and more particularly, the key issue for each relates to the 

listing of specific buildings on their respective sites as heritage. 10 

 

 Now, the details of those are set out in the opening submissions I have 

filed with reference to both evidence lodged and a brief summary of the 

outcome sought so I will not take you through those unless you have 

any questions.  I just do have a couple of typographical corrections to 15 

make to the Arts Centre opening submissions if I may, sir. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 So at paragraph 9 of the opening submissions to the Art Centre where I 20 

just list the witnesses there, A should read Andre Lovatt, 

Chief Executive of the Trust and just right at the very end, sir, another 

typographical error refers to counsel for the Canterbury Museum which 

for these ones, of course, should be counsel for the Arts Centre of 

Christchurch Trust Board.  Those are the matters, sir, I happy to answer 25 

any questions that your Panel may have. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No questions, thank you. 30 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Now Mr Taylor’s appearing for both witnesses, isn’t he? 

 35 

MR PEDLEY:   That is correct, yes. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   No, sir. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Pedley 

 45 

MR PEDLEY:   Thank you, sir. 
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SJH:   Ms Limmer, just another Fulton Hogan matter, you have covered it off 

already, have you not? 

 

MS LIMMER:   Yes, sir, no I am listed twice but I only have one appearance. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Van der Wal, Ms Walsh.  All right, well, we will stand 

down and we will see if we can track them down.  We have got a fair 

way ahead of schedule. 

 10 

ADJOURNED [12.17 pm] 

 

RESUMED [1.45 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes thank you.  Ms McKenzie?  Yes, look, we asked you to come along 15 

and we also have other councillors involved and particularly in relation 

to Banks Peninsula, because the Panel have some concerns of where 

things stand at the moment. 

 

 The first comment to make is that we find it surprising that Federated 20 

Farmers have not sought leave to cross-examine any witnesses.  We 

also find it surprising that there has been no applications to 

cross-examine the farming witnesses for Federated Farmers who, in 

less pejorative language, say much the same thing as Ms Mackenzie 

says in her evidence.   25 

 

 And I guess we are also wondering if there is not a way through this 

given the level of goodwill and agreement that was reached in 2007 and 

was a consent order of the Environment Court.   

 30 

 So Ms Mackenzie I will ask you to go first because we are a little 

puzzled as to why, in the interests of its members, Federated Farmers 

would not be seeking to cross-examine a number of the witnesses.   

 

 Is there anything you would like to add Judge before - - - 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, no, that has captured it very well for me, thank you, 

sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything else? 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Yes, Ms Mackenzie. 

 45 
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MS MACKENZIE:   Thank you, sir.  I did not seek to cross-examine other 

witnesses.  We were ourselves being cross-examined by the Crown - - - 

 

SJH:   Although my understanding is there is an application to cross-examine 

you but not your farmer witnesses. 5 

 

MS MACKENZIE:    I believe two farmers are being cross-examined. 

 

SJH:   Well, I may be wrong on that. 

 10 

MS MACKENZIE:   (INDISTINCT 3.06) Brian Hutchinson, so that is two 

and I am being cross-examined, I think, by three parties which I 

consider to be the main parties and I thought that in that sort of toing 

and froing it would almost amount to the same thing, and simply 

because I thought the Court was already overburdened with - - - 15 

 

SJH:   Well no, the point is, it puts the onus on the Panel to ask these questions 

to achieve fairness, and we want to avoid any appearance but because 

of the numbers of questions we asked really on behalf of the party that 

we had a preconceived view which of course, we do not. 20 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well we have been saying the same thing throughout 

proceedings pretty much so I cannot account for why we are not being 

cross-examined by other parties. 

 25 

 I mean, I can speak as to the RPS and what I think that means but right 

now, are you - - - 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 30 

SJH:   No, that is for later on, it is just that there is, particularly in your 

evidence, very serious allegations against Council witnesses that one 

would have expected some cross-examination would have flown from? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   When I - - - 35 

 

SJH:   But as well, in the interests of your clients, it would seem to the Panel 

that some of the evidence before us should be tested on behalf of 

Federated Farmers. 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:  Part of that is simply the rapid fire process that we have 

been involved in.  I barely had time as an advocate for the farmers to 

keep up with reading what everybody has said.  Some of the witnesses - 

- - 

 45 
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SJH:   Well, I will accept this is one of the areas of the greatest verbosity to 

date, yes. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   And some of the evidence has been covered off in other 

and earlier hearings in substance.  Otherwise there is I am afraid a 5 

slight desperation on our part because we have been saying these things 

and we have had discussions, informal discussions with Council, and 

there seems little more that we can do until the hearing.  If they don’t 

chose to talk to us when we have invited that the hearing seems to be 

the forum where we will get that opportunity. 10 

 

 A lot of the evidence also, the section 32 reports have been so 

insubstantial that there is almost nothing that we find cross-examinable 

in them, in particular the economic evidence, and we have traversed 

that in other hearings. 15 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Can I just perhaps ask Ms McKenzie just one follow up 

and then I have a question of Mr Schulte?  Ms McKenzie, my reading 20 

of the evidence of several of the farmer witnesses it makes quite 

specific allegations around bad faith which on the face of it would seem 

to put the Council’s position at significant odds with its own strategy.   

 

 Now, I do not know whether or not that is the case, but it seems to be a 25 

fundamental matter to consider and test and yet there is no cross-

examination of the relevant Council witnesses by Federated Farmers, 

that I am aware of any way, on those ones. 

 

 Can I ask whether or not there is degree of crossover with Mr Schulte’s 30 

case and I was going to ask Mr Schulte on that basis whether or not he 

had any views around whether this evidence should be tested or not?   

 

 So first of all for you is there any alignment between Federated 

Farmers’ case and the case for Mr Schulte’s client, Michael Bayley? 35 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes, I am sure there is, however - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you discussed matters with Mr Schulte? 

 40 

MS MACKENZIE:   I have not directly discussed matters with Mr Schulte, no. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Mr Schulte, do you have any comment? 
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MR SCHULTE:  Only to the extent that certainly the level of engagement from 

the Council with the Bayleys, as I have mentioned in my opening, has 

been effectively non-existent until quite a long way through the - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  But on the matter of this testing of evidence which appears 5 

to effectively be challenging the basis of the approach by the Council at 

a fundamental level of good faith, are those matters which are of 

interest to your client? 

 

MR SCHULTE:   I think certainly there are some questions that we want to ask 10 

about what level of collaboration the Council is expecting of people 

who are put in a difficult situation in terms of the rules that are 

applying to their properties.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I did not want to sort of put you in a position where it was 15 

awkward, but I just wanted to inquire as to whether or not there was 

any likelihood that the Panel would be assisted through questioning 

from your quarter? 

 

MR SCHULTE:   I think there is the potential for a line of questioning which 20 

may assist in terms of at least elaborating on how the Council intends 

engaging or allowing that collaboration or encouraging that 

collaboration to occur after these rules are in place, which effectively 

do put a bit of a straightjacket on what people can do.  And I suppose 

that to the extent that when you have a very rigid regulatory framework 25 

that perhaps may be seen by many to be a disincentive on the part of 

some farmers, I am not saying that everybody will have that view.   

 

 At the same time I can see that the Council may see the framework as 

being necessary in order to allow the collaboration to have sort of 30 

parameters but I think that is something that certainly I would have 

some questions in terms of the extent that the non-regulatory 

approaches, which are mentioned in for example Mr Appleton’s 

evidence, how they are going to work. 

 35 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, the difficulty is the ability to collaborate has been, apparently on 

the face of the evidence, damaged by this concern about good faith.  

Not necessarily from your client but from some of the other farmer 40 

witnesses. 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Agreed, and I think that good faith, I do not know that it is 

necessarily good faith in terms of - - - 

 45 

SJH:   Well, aligning with their own strategy. 
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MR SCHULTE:   Indeed, yes. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  You can sit down, Ms McKenzie. 

 5 

 Mr Conway, we will go to you and also is not the consent agreement 

that was negotiated, as I said no doubt at great difficulty, is that not a 

starting point for some of this?  It just seems to have been put aside as 

if it never existed? 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The 2007 consent. 

 

SJH:   The 2007 one? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, I can address you briefly on that.  Obviously that was in 15 

2007, the result of appeals on the Banks Peninsula District Plan.  That 

is a matter that obviously was resolved by agreement.  There have been 

some developments since then, one of which is the 2013 Regional 

Policy Statement which has introduced additional directives. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Including as to discussion with landowners. 

 

MR CONWAY:   In the Regional Policy Statement? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 25 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes.  And the Council - - - 

 

SJH:   And has that occurred? 

 30 

MR CONWAY: I am perhaps not the best person to confirm that, 

Ms Beaumont may be able to assist you with that when she gives 

evidence this afternoon.  One of the other points of context that I 

understand Ms Hogan would be able to assist you with is in relation to 

the question of whether the operative district plan is purely non-35 

regulatory or if it also has regulatory requirements.  My understanding 

from discussions with Ms Hogan is that it is not a purely non-

regulatory approach so looking at the consent order on the face of it 

you do not necessarily get the full picture of the way the operative 

district plan addresses biodiversity. 40 

 

SJH:   Well, I suppose the other question is we do not appear to have evidence 

to suggest that the operative district plan is not working satisfactorily.  

Do we, from Council witnesses? 

 45 

MR CONWAY:   It is not necessarily - - - 
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SJH:   In other words there is need for more heavy handed regulation and 

certainty which goes – I find a lot of uncertainty in what I have read 

and that goes counter to the Order in Council and the arguments about 

language, with the greatest respect, go further than Mr Radich 5 

suggested this morning in my view. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, the implementation and giving effect to of the Regional 

Policy Statement has been I guess in the front of the mind of the 

Council team as they have progressed through this process.  Now, there 10 

have been some limitations in the Council’s ability to engage with all 

landowners and I understand that to be the source of some of the 

frustration expressed by the farmers in particular. 

 

 In terms of the evidence and the testing of that, sir, we have given 15 

notice of our wish to cross-examine some of these witnesses, not all 

Federated Farmers’ witnesses.  Some of the landowners are recorded in 

our notice as being there in their own right as a submitter but I 

understand there is also a connection with the Federated Farmers as 

well so - - - 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But when the witness is putting directly an issue before us 

a matter of good faith on the part of dealings with the Council, bearing 

in mind the Council’s functions here go into a statutory one to do with 

the administration of the plan for and on behalf of the community, is it 25 

part of the Council’s obligation to put questions in those areas 

notwithstanding they may be contrary to the Council’s theory of 

approach, should the questions still be put by the Council on that 

matter? 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, we have endeavoured to give notice in relation to the 

witnesses we thought we need to cross-examine on. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but on matters where the statements being made are 

perhaps contrary to the Council’s theory nevertheless, given the 35 

Council’s statutory function, is it not part of the Council’s obligation to 

test those matters rather than to leave it for the Panel to test? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, I accept that and that was the basis on which we have 

prepared our cross-examination notice.  If you are suggesting we might 40 

like to go back and revisit that and assess whether there are other 

witnesses we should be questioning as well. 
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  [2.00 pm] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I mean I just looked at the cross-examination list on 

the weekend and looked at a number of the statements being made on 

the part of individual landowners who are not down for 5 

cross-examination and that is where my concern arises.  In my case, I 

don’t know about other members, but in my case I was concerned 

about that and saw no cross-examination request and thought, well, the 

Council’s position seems to be a little bit different from another party 

in the sense that you are the statutory agency. 10 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, sir, I am happy to revisit that and I obviously, if the 

result of that was to seek leave to cross-examine further witnesses I 

would need your permission to do that, but if that is where we are 

heading with this then I am happy to go away and  - - - 15 

 

SJH:   I suppose the broader matter is particularly this default rule, 

Mr Conway, and is there scope to just to discuss that because that 

seems to be what is causing the problem and also the activity status.  I 

mean, there are ways to control the heavy grazing that Mr Anderson 20 

was concerned about this morning.  It is a matter of how it is drafted 

rather than a non-complying activity.  I mean, the concern the Panel has 

or I have personally, is this has the potential to seriously interfere with 

people’s livelihoods and that is what the evidence makes clear. 

 25 

 Yet it appears on that evidence no one has gone back and discussed it 

with them.  They all seem to be people who have been taking 

significant steps themselves already in relation to some of these areas, 

they managed to reach consensus in the past.  I still get back – I know it 

was the Banks Peninsula Plan but if it was working, why would not 30 

parts of it at least be imported and why would we not get evidence as to 

why it is failing; it needs to be as significantly changed as it is in the 

notified version. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, with your permission, I would like to discuss that matter 35 

with Council’s witnesses in a break, perhaps the afternoon adjournment 

if that is appropriate.   

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Mr Conway.  Mr Radich, did you have anything 

to add to this? 40 

 

MR RADICH:   Nothing, nothing to add, sir, but the Crown had sought to 

explore the issue in cross-examination with Ms McKenzie but hadn’t 

gone further than that because that was the focus of the rebuttal 

evidence was the evidence that Ms McKenzie gave that was the extent 45 

of the Crown’s concern. 
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 However, I acknowledge entirely the points that are made, like my 

learned friend, Mr Conway, have had to give some further thought that 

if the Crown can perhaps test that further.  We had thought that it 

would be enough to come at it from the Crown’s point of view or the 5 

entry point, if you like, with Ms McKenzie but if digging deeper is 

relevant and it may well be based on what you have said, I would like 

to look at that further myself, then we should do so. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you, Mr Anderson. 10 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Thank you, sir, a couple of points I would like to make.  

Firstly, I do think Mr Conway’s point regarding the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement and the requirements for rules around the 

indigenous vegetation clearance and I think that it is a significant 15 

change to 2007 and I do not think we can ignore that change so I think 

the Council is right to adopt the approach it has adopted.  I do not think 

you could give effect to the Regional Policy Statement and not have 

some of the rules that are proposed in the plan. 

 20 

SJH:   Well, having some rules, not necessarily the ones that are there because 

it was particularly around the default rules, it is the extreme end that is 

troubling us in terms of going as far as operational farming matters. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   And when you talk about “extreme end” you are talking 25 

about non-complying consents for grazing and I would accept that that 

is a reasonable concern to raise and that in terms of the grazing as 

operational things, it may be a different activity status is appropriate 

but simply, I still retain the view that simply allowing increases in 

grazing without any control on them is not appropriate. 30 

 

SJH:   We were not suggesting that. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yeah, no, no, no, no, I don’t think - - - 

 35 

SJH:   And you know that and I mean we are only in this position, to be blunt, 

because we think that there is a significant body of business 

landowners, because that is what farmers are, who are, at the moment, 

it is a little bit unbalanced and we have got fairness obligations as well 

as clarity and other obligations under the order in Council. 40 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Yes, no, I totally understand that and more than happy to 

have a conversation about how we can improve those provisions to 45 

make them more workable and maybe a different carve out 
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(INDISTINCT 00.22) and those kind of things but the position about 

some rules remains.  The detail around what those rules are is a matter 

for debate. 

 

 The second point I would like to make is that I, in terms of testing the 5 

farming witnesses, I would like the opportunity to review the evidence 

again and potentially test some - - - 

 

SJH:   Well, it will work the other way, cross-examination of your witnesses in 

that as well if Ms McKenzie is going to instruct counsel. 10 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Certainly, sir, and I do not have any objection to relooking 

at the question of cross-examining Forest and Bird witnesses and the 

farming witnesses so I will take that under consideration and if I want 

to cross-examine, I will put a notice of cross-examination and a leave 15 

application in. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Anderson. Mr Schulte, do you have anything to add to 

what you said earlier? 

 20 

MR SCHULTE:   Nothing to add, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms McKenzie, how serious thought has been given to the need to 

instruct counsel or a lawyer here for Federated Farmers? 

 25 

MS MACKENZIE:   Sir, we are cash-strapped. 

 

SJH:   Yes, but it is very important for your members, is it not? 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   It is and it also very late notice.  Some of the counsel that 30 

we have used are actually in the room working for other parties so it 

might be hard for us to, certainly in 48 hours, instruct someone for 

Wednesday. 

 

SJH:   Well, frankly, it is a matter that should have been thought of long before 35 

now and given the importance to your member farmers. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   I am just being told we have a war chest of a certain 

amount of money.  Am I unable to cross-examine? 

 40 

SJH:   Well, it is very difficult because you keep telling us, although you have 

a law degree in other hearings you stress you are a lay witness so you 

are one or the other. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Well, I am in a difficult position, sir, because I am a lay 45 

witness in these proceedings and we do not have - - - 
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SJH:   Well, that precludes you, as a witness – that precludes you from 

conducting cross-examination. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   That is right.  I just happen to know more about it than 5 

probably the counsel that we end up instructing in the end as far as the 

pertinent questions to ask but we, look, I will have to take advice on 

that.  I cannot speak for the members. 

 

SJH:   All right, well, look, we can take it no further today.  I will just see if the 10 

Panel members have any additional questions.  Nothing, all right, well, 

can I also suggest because it is clear from the evidence on both sides 

where the rub points are and I think I would suggest to you, 

Mr Conway, that you should initiate some discussions around this 

because it may well be their resolve.  Completely take on board 15 

Mr Anderson’s point there must be rules but it is a question of allowing 

people to run their businesses in a practical manner that does not also 

offend about the concerns that Mr Anderson’s organisation and others 

quite properly have.  It seems to us that there would be room with 

proper drafting to achieve that outcome.  Would you be able to do that 20 

for us, Mr Conway? 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, sir, and I am just wondering whether you are suggesting 

we have some sort of pause or at the end of today or we try to arrange 

some sort of discussion with the relevant parties. 25 

 

SJH:   We would be happy to give you time.  I know that in this process, 

because of the sheer number of people, the mediation process probably 

was not as personalised as perhaps it could have been and that is not a 

criticism because I think the mediators have done a terrific job in a lot 30 

of areas but we are very conscious that there were vast numbers of 

witnesses from our own observations flowing through the mediation 

room.  So I would think it could be done on an informal basis, but if 

you feel you need someone to facilitate you just notify us and we 

would be more than happy to make time available because I think it 35 

would be disastrous for everybody if the level of cooperation that led to 

the consent agreement for the Banks Peninsula Plan is lost because the 

landowners are critical are well as regulations and rules and agreements 

and covenants and suchlike in achieving the best outcome but what we 

are trying to achieve here and I think, Mr Anderson, you would 40 

probably agree with that. 
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  [2.10 pm] 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Absolutely, sir, more than happy to spend time 

conversing, co-operating and mediating with other parties to try and get 

the best provisions that we can. 5 

 

SJH:   All right, well, Ms Mackenzie, and Mr Schulte, can I ask you just to 

wait, I know it is an imposition, or to come back later? – because we 

have, I think, a couple more submissions and then we have the 

evidence of Ms Beaumont and Mr Matheson, Dr Fairgray and 10 

Mr Appleton this afternoon, so I think we will finish early and there 

will be time to utilise that. 

 

 Perhaps I can just say to people, released until 4 o’clock, and you could 

be available at 4 o’clock to meet with Mr Conway, all right.  15 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Thank you. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Thank you, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you.  All right, we will now go to Mr van Mierlo, is it you or 

Mr Walsh who is going to submit? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, sir, I will be providing opening submissions. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Tēnā koutou, tēnā koutou katoa.  May it please the 

Hearings Panel.  Firstly, Ngāi Tahu is appreciative of the additional 

time it has been allocated by them.  I will be taking large parts of the 30 

submissions as read, and I will endeavour to focus on the areas of 

agreement or disagreement between Council and Ngai Tahu in light of 

the discussions occurring in the preceding days and weeks. 

 

 Turning to page 2, part 2 of the RMA is discussed in paragraphs 3 to 6, 35 

and I take these as read.  The strong directions emphasised by the Privy 

Council in Maguire are well known. 

 

 At its most fundamental level, Ngai Tahu’s concern with Chapter 9 is 

that it does not meet the requirements of Part 2 of the Act including 40 

Section 5, Section 6E, 7A and 8 or given effect to Ngai Tahu’s 

relationship with the natural and physical – sorry, or give effect to the 

Higher Order planning documents insofar as these require Ngai Tahu’s 

relationship with the natural and physical resources of the district to be 

recognised and provided for. 45 
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 Moving on to paragraph 7.  Paragraphs 7 to 12, opening submissions, 

cover the Higher Order planning documents and I interpolate, the 

NZCPS, the NPS for Freshwater Management and the Canterbury 

Regional Policy Statement consistently require that the district plan 

will include provisions for the identification and protection of 5 

significant sites with iwi. 

 

 Again, I take paragraphs 7 to 12 as read. 

 

 At paragraphs 13 to 22, the Mahaanui Iwi Management Plan is 10 

discussed.  This is a matter to be taken into account.  Again, the Iwi 

Management Plan strongly envisages that the district plan will include 

policies and rules to protect sites of Ngai Tahu cultural significance. 

 

 Paragraphs 7 to 22 are taken as read. 15 

 

 I do highlight paragraph 22 and note that a particular policy of 

relevance is to ensure the location of silent files and district planning 

maps is consistent with the schedule of maps included in Appendix 6 of 

the Iwi Management Plan.  This is an issue which arises through the 20 

evidence.  There is a discrepancy between the silent files as notified by 

Council and those set out in the Iwi Management Plan. 

 

 Proposal 2 with respect to definitions.  This is discussed at paragraphs 

23 to 28.  Again, these paragraphs are taken as read, wording as 25 

detailed in the evidence of the planning witnesses, regarding some 

proposed amendments to definitions. 

 

 I note at paragraph 27 that Ngai Tahu does seek the explicit inclusion 

of springs and the definition of water bodies to ensure that water body 30 

setbacks also include setback from the springs. 

 

 Paragraph 29.  I note Ngai Tahu supports the Crown’s submission 

which proposed a new Strategic Objective for the quality, and the 

balance can be taken as read. 35 

 

 In paragraphs 30 through 33, I know note a larger measure of 

agreement between Council and Ngai Tahu on proposal 8 and proposal 

13 issues.  Again, I take these provision paragraphs as read. 

 40 

 Likewise paragraph 33 where agreement between Council and Ngai 

Tahu on biodiversity related issues is noted.  
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  [2.15 pm] 

 

 Again, some agreement noted in paragraph 34 in relation to 9.2 

landscape issues concerning landscape and customary harvest, 

customary youth issues. 5 

 

 In paragraph 35, the key point that remains to be clarified by Council is 

how the rules relating to protection of outstanding natural features and 

landscapes should apply to activities within the Papakainga Kainga 

Nohoanga Zones.  This has been the subject of some discussion in 10 

recent days and weeks but the issue is not resolved or agreed. 

 

 Ngai Tahu’s position set out in paragraph 36 is that where a proposed 

activity triggers a requirement for a resource consent under the rules in 

chapter 9 applying to development of Māori land within the Papakainga 15 

Kainga Nohoanga Zone, in consideration of the effects of that proposed 

activity on outstanding natural landscapes or features is appropriate. 

 

 However, Ngai Tahu does not consider it appropriate that district wide 

rules that apply to ONL or ONF should operate to trigger further 20 

resource consent requirements for development on Māori land within 

the Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zone particularly where that 

development is provided for a permitted activity within the zone. 

 

 And it was understood that this point was agreed at mediation on 25 

proposal 9. 

 

 I am taking paragraphs 39 through 44 as read, but I do just wish to 

interpolate on this point a little bit further. 

 30 

 Ongoing discussions have left Ngai Tahu somewhat unclear as to what 

Council’s proposal is in relation to this important issue.  This 

uncertainty is compounded by the fact that the position as stated in my 

learned friend’s opening submissions for Council this morning, does 

not align with the evidence filed on behalf of Council. 35 

 

 Council’s evidence relies on a proposed Mana Whenua Zone which 

forms no part of the revised Papakainga proposal as agreed between 

Council, Ngai Tahu and the Crown. 

 40 

 Ngai Tahu has been seeking to clarify and will continue to do so and it 

will necessarily approach cross-examination on the basis of the 

evidence which has been filed in relation to this proposal. 

 

 And in opening for Council it was said that the rules relating to the 45 

landscape overlays will apply with some modifications.  It is unclear 
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what modifications Council is proposing in this respect, and again, I 

emphasise discussions are ongoing and it is hoped that, certainly by the 

time we get to week 2 of this Hearing, we will have some greater 

clarity around these issues. 

 5 

 Turning to paragraph 46, proposal which I have noted as 9.X, sites of 

Ngai Tahu cultural significance, and this is really the crux of the Ngai 

Tahu submission. 

 

 The objectives and policies are largely agreed between Council and 10 

Ngai Tahu. 

 

 In terms of the sites that have been identified as sites of Ngai Tahu 

cultural significance and the rule framework Ngai Tahu has proposed 

for these sites, discussions between Council and Ngai Tahu are 15 

continuing to progress, and I would just like to provide by way of 

interpolation, an update as to that. 

 

 Ngai Tahu and Council are still somewhat apart.  Council accepts the 

objectives and largely the policies proposed by Ngai Tahu but not the 20 

maps or rules proposed by Ngai Tahu, although there does appear to be 

a large measure of agreement as to the significance of many of the sites 

identified by Ngai Tahu. 

 

 Now if the objectives and policies are agreed then the issue becomes 25 

one of which methods most appropriate achieve the objectives and 

policies in my submission. 

 

 Ngai Tahu and Council are still somewhat apart.  Council accepts the 

objectives and largely the policies proposed by Ngai Tahu but not the 30 

maps or rules proposed by Ngai Tahu, although there does appear to be 

a large measure of agreement as to the significance of many of the sites 

identified by Ngai Tahu. 

 

 Now if the objectives and policies are agreed then the issue becomes 35 

one of which methods most appropriate achieve the objectives and 

policies in my submission. 

 

 Ngai proposes the tabled ruled.  It is understood that Council favours 

various or vicarious reliance on rules focused on issues such as 40 

landscape which might indirectly address effects on iwi cultural values 

when proposals are assessed under section 184.  That at least is an 

interim position until further work to support a rule framework is 

undertaken. 

 45 
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 Now as Ngai Tahu is proposing a new set of provisions regulating use 

and development of sites of Ngai Tahu cultural significance, it has 

provided the necessary Section 32AA report analysis and supporting 

evidence that is annexed to the evidence of Ms Legarth, and that is her 

13 January planning evidence. 5 

 

 I will take as read paragraphs 49 through 54 which detail relatively 

recent Environment Court decisions touching on these issues, 

summarise some of Ngai Tahu’s evidence in this respect. 

 10 

  [2.20 pm] 

 

 Turning to paragraph 54 a concern has been raised that there was a lack 

of information to support these sites of Ngai Tahu cultural significance 

provided with the submission.  It is submitted that this concern is 15 

unfounded; plan preparation processes frequently involve the 

augmentation of notified schedules of significant natural physical 

resources with additional sites proposed by submitters through the 

submission process. 

 20 

 Council has not suggested that the Ngai Tahu submission is not within 

scope or on the proposal and the Ngai Tahu submission provide 

comprehensive maps identifying the sites of significance.  Many of 

these sites are well known in a variety of statutory and non-statutory 

sources and submitters and Council have the opportunity to respond to 25 

the map sites in further submissions.  And significantly there has been a 

significant amount of further work between Ngai Tahu and Council to 

closely collaborate in terms of seeking to address these issues. 

 

 Now certainly it is acknowledged that the process under the Order in 30 

Council is more truncated than the usual RMA schedule 1 process.   

 

 That is the process that has been legislated for, Ngai Tahu has 

undertaken a significant amount of work and expended significant 

resources to identify and illustrate the sites of significance and propose 35 

a rule framework for these and it is submitted Ngai Tahu has followed 

due process and the merits and appropriateness of its proposal has a 

right to be determined through this hearing. 

 

 I move on to proposal 16 North Belfast.  I propose to take paragraphs 40 

57 through 66 as read.  I would note there is an issue as to a 

certification regime, I have noted there in paragraph 61, that arises 

through Mr Stevenson’s evidence.  Ngai Tahu does not have a closed 

mind to this suggestion, it does, however, have reservations as to how 

this would work in practise, how it would be resourced.  This is 45 

discussed in the planning evidence.  It is anticipated again that further 
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discussions can occur with Council in the intervening week or so 

before this topic is to be heard and Ngai Tahu’s position may well firm 

up and clarify in this respect. 

 

 In summary, at paragraph 68 I have summarised the witnesses to be 5 

called by Ngai Tahu, a total of seven witnesses who are named there, 

with a brief description of the evidence to be called, noting that Mr 

Cranwell’s attendance has been excused. 

 

 I am of course happy to answer any questions.  One matter I would like 10 

to confirm is that the Hearing Panel has an A3 set of the sites of Ngai 

Tahu significance that were mapped.  If that is not the case and further 

copies can be sent. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But in black and white, I am sorry. 15 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Oh, okay. 

 

SJH:   I think if you had arranged with the secretariat to run off a colour copy 

for us, Mr Van Mierlo that would be helpful - - - 20 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   - - - because they are pretty difficult to follow in black and white. 

 25 

MR VAN MIERLO:   They certainly are, sir, I appreciate that and that is why I 

wanted to confirm - - - 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 30 

MR VAN MIERLO:   - - - we will arrange for that to occur. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  All right, I will just see if there are any questions, thank you 

very much.  Dr Mitchell? 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   Just one question.  I understand that the sensitivity of the 

silent files, the difficulty I guess that I have, and I cannot speak for 

anybody else on the panel It is one thing to know that they exist and it 

is another thing to know that there is a circle indicating the general 

area, and then there is a set of provisions in the plan that relate to how 40 

they are to be managed.  But without really understanding some of the 

material that is silent I am finding it quite difficult to understand the 

level of significance and the degree of protection and the degree of 

finding the right balance, if I can put it that way, is.  

 45 
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 Do you have any suggestions as to how we might better understand 

that? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Obviously the starting point is the evidence and I 

appreciate in respect to the silent files areas that it is silent as to the 5 

specific values of those areas.  Now, I think that is something which 

can probably be raised with the witnesses.  There is obviously a great 

reluctance to divulge specific details about some of those sites which 

you will be well aware of. 

 10 

 The other point that I would make there is that I understand those silent 

file sites have been carried over from the operative Banks Peninsula 

District Plan although there is the issue which I flagged earlier as to the 

extent of those areas.  Now they appropriately reflect what is provided 

for within the iwi management plan, now that is the appropriate source 15 

document as opposed to the operative Banks Peninsula District Plan.   

 

 Beyond that my understanding is that this is not an unusual situation in 

terms of this process has been used in other District Plans elsewhere, 

but I cannot give you details on that at this stage. 20 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   That is helpful, thank you.  I suppose taking that one step 

further, do you think there is any prospect for example of using some of 25 

the confidentiality provisions that exist in the Act, so that we can get a 

better understanding of what those matters are on the basis that we do 

keep it in confidence but we are able to get an understanding of a little 

bit more depth as to what is contemplated? 

 30 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Considerable thought was given to that as evidence was 

prepared.  The witnesses were comfortable providing the level of 

information that was provided in the briefs of evidence, in an open 

court process effectively.  It has been made clear that there is the 

potential obviously for questioning and that further questions may 35 

follow, and I think in the event that further information is sought then 

obviously we would want to look at those confidentiality provisions 

and how that may be able to be applied in an effort to provide 

yourselves with the level of information that you may need and also 

provide the witnesses with the comfort that they are able to share that 40 

information. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  All right, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 45 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr van Mierlo.  Your witnesses, the planning 

witnesses, sort of assume that we are very familiar with the submission 

from Ngai Tahu, including the maps, so I am just wanting to make sure 

that the rules that are sought by Ngai Tahu in the submission, particular 

the activities that are controlled, the permitted, restricted discretionary, 5 

discretionary, are still the provisions that Ngai Tahu continues to seek 

and is supported by Ms Legarth’s section 32 and the other planning 

evidence. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, essentially that is correct however there is 10 

obviously ongoing discussions.  We are not at a position where we can 

provide an agreed set of rules which might include some amendments 

to those which were contained within the original submission.   

 

 There is, I understand, a reference in Ms Legarth’s evidence to a track 15 

changes set of rules.  Now that was included in error and I apologise 

for that.  We are hoping to get to the stage where a track changes 

version will be able to be filed prior to the hearing of this topic in that 

second week of this process but we would prefer to get to the stage 

where we have got an agreed provisions or at least as agreed as 20 

possible rather than something less than that. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Right, well that is good, there may be more to come. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   So the short answer is, yes; still please work off the rules 25 

that are set out in the submission but we are hoping to be able to refine 

that further. 

 

MS DAWSON:  I have one other question and it follows on from Dr Mitchell’s 

question, the maps have very large areas circled on them and within 30 

that there are sites identified and I was confused as to the understanding 

between those sites that might be called silent file areas and those 

which are actually sites that re more precisely identified because I think 

you have said that many of the sites are well known, and they are not 

actually sites to be kept silent.  Is there any differentiation between 35 

those and what – this is rules or provisions that are being sought? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, so probably the easiest way to work through that, 

and I do appreciate there is a large bundle of maps and a lot of sites 

there, is to work through the evidence of Mr Davis, Al Davis, with the 40 

maps, preferably in colour with an A3 in front of you, and essentially 

do a page turn as you work through his description of the sites, and in 

some places more information than others is provided in terms of the 

values at those sites and how they have been classified within the Ngai 

Tahu submission but that is really, my suggested approach is sort of 45 

getting an overview and understanding of these sites. 
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MS DAWSON:   And that will help us have a better understanding of which 

sites are actually silent and not known, and those for which there is 

much clearer information. 

 5 

MR VAN MIERLO:   There is also, on the cover page of the bundle of maps, 

there is a, I guess a contents which list the given types of sites, how 

they have been classified and their number - - - 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right. 10 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   - - - which correlates to the specific maps. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Okay, well I think the colour one might – that is my fault, I 

printed my black and white, thank you. 15 

 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   The other thing which, I think it will become apparent 

when you see the colour maps is where a map includes several sites 20 

they are all shown on that map.  Doesn’t mean they are being repeated 

as such but it just provides a context, I think, in the spatial 

interrelationship between these. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you very much. 25 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, just one question if I may, with the Council saying that they 

have a concern about a lack of information provided in the submission 

and taking into account the Mahaanui Re-management Plan, 

Mr David’s (ph 0.55) evidence, submission etcetera, are you clear 30 

about what else might be able to be provided? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   It is always the case that further information is going to 

be able to come to light and in relation to a topic such as science of 

cultural significance from Ngai Tahu’s perspective it is submitted that 35 

there is adequate information to enable these sites to be included within 

the district plan accompanied by the rule framework that is proposed.  

That is not to say that further information is not going to come to light 

in future years and through future work.  I think any schedule of 

significant sites within a District Plan needs to be kept under review 40 

and updated from time to time as further information comes to light.   

 

 That is the nature of these processes but that is not a reason for not 

including what, in my submission, is the best available information that 

is available now within this process and the opportunity that we have 45 

here at the moment.   
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MS HURIA:   Okay, and acknowledging the limitations around the silent file 

information on what can be shared with that? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:    Yes. 5 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, sir, just a couple of matters quickly, 

paragraph 37, Mr van Mierlo, just to clarify something here you are 10 

referring to the outstanding natural landscapes and features aspect there 

and you have got an emphasis in terms of the hearing we had on 

Papakainga kainga nohonga, particularly where that development has 

provided for is a permitted activity within that zone. 

 15 

 Now, my recollection of the evidence before that hearing which we 

have not issued a decision on, was that we did not have evidence 

contesting the matter of outstanding natural landscapes per se in the 

sense that it was anticipated these matters had come through to this 

hearing, is that your understanding? 20 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, that is correct, that these matters would be 

addressed at this hearing and I note my learned friend has set out his 

extract from the closing submissions filed in relation to the Papakainga 

hearing and I will just simply note that Ngai Tahu has not had input 25 

into what is effectively Council’s position on how those landscape 

overlays should apply to the Papakainga zone.  It was Ngai Tahu’s 

understanding that that would be addressed or at least considered 

through this process and determined here. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and on the second matter, without expressing a 

view either on that, on the process matter on paragraph 55, probably 

more of a comment rather than a question, my understanding of the 

Council’s argument here is not so much a question of scope per se but 

saying we should also weigh the question of fairness in terms of 35 

evaluating options under section 32, is that your understanding? 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   I think that is consistent, yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, thank you, Mr van Mierlo.  Ms Bowman (ph 3.43) from 40 

Heritage New Zealand?  We have read your submission.  I understood 

you did not want to speak to it, but if you do want to speak to it, feel 

free to do so. 

 

MS BOWMAN:   I do not feel I need to speak to it, but prepared to answer any 45 

questions. 
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SJH:   Okay, well, I’ll see if there are any questions, we’ll just get you on 

microphone.  No, thank you. 

 

 All right, thank you, Mr Conway, we will go to your first witness, 5 

please. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, I call Ms Beaumont. 

 

 Sir, while Ms Beaumont is coming up I understand she has brought 10 

copies of the biodiversity strategy.  Mr Matheson has. 
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<HELEN MARY BEAUMONT, sworn [2.35 pm] 
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SJH:   This witness will produce it.  We will take it as an exhibit. 

 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [2.35 pm] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, we can do that, sir.  Will you please confirm for the 5 

record your full name is Helen Mary Beaumont? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And on your position at the Council could you please just 10 

confirm what that is for the Panel? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes, so since writing my evidence I have changed my job 

and my job now is the Head of Strategic Policy with Christchurch City 

Council. 15 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, and your qualifications and experience are set 

out in your statement of evidence dated 2 December 2015. 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 20 

 

MR CONWAY:  Do you confirm the contents of that statement to be true and 

correct subject to the correction you have identified in terms of your 

position? 

 25 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes I do. 

 

MR CONWAY:    And could you please confirm that you have brought along 

copies of the Christchurch City Council Biodiversity Strategy 2008 – 

2035? 30 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And you are familiar with that document? 

 35 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes I am and I refer to it in my evidence. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And do you now produce that as exhibit 1? 

 

EXHIBIT #1 – CHRISTCHURCH CITY COUNCIL BIODIVERSITY 40 

STRATEGY 2008-2035 

 

MR CONWAY:   Would you please remain and answer any questions. 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Thank you. 45 
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SJH:   No, there is a highlights package first. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sorry, sir, yes, please read out your highlights package. 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   The Christchurch City Council undertakes a broad range 5 

of activities that contribute to the natural and cultural heritage values of 

the city and the district.  The provisions of the plan are but one tool to 

improve the community outcome sought with respect to a healthy 

environment and a liveable city so other tools include mechanisms such 

as the Biodiversity Strategy, the Surface Water Strategy, the Public 10 

Open Space Strategy and the various measures set out in those.  

 

 The objectives and policies and the proposals build on these strategies 

and are consistent with the direction envisaged by Council.  The 

Council owns and manages a number of natural and cultural heritage 15 

assets consisting over 5,000 hectares of parks and reserves and 135 

historic heritage places.  Council also supports private landowners 

through the provision of advice and financial incentives.  Following the 

earthquakes, Council has put considerable additional resources into the 

recovery of history heritage, particularly within the central city. 20 

 

MR CONWAY:   Right, thank you, would you please remain and answer any 

questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Dawson? 25 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you for coming, Ms Beaumont.  I just have a couple of 

questions.  In terms of the funding programmes that you talk about, 

whether it is for heritage resources or for biodiversity, I mean our 

understanding from other witnesses is that whatever funding is 30 

provided needs to be foreshadowed in the long term plan.  That can be 

then updated sort of three yearly and perhaps, annually through the 

annual plan processes but that it is very much a political process. 

 

 So from your role in being a senior manager, the question is how can 35 

we as a Panel, get an understanding of how, or can we get an 

understanding, of how likely these funding levels are.  We want 

assurance that meaningful funding or rates relief or anything that is a 

cost to the Council will be made available on an ongoing basis whether 

it is the heritage grants or the sorts of biodiversity options that Mr 40 

Appleton talks about. 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   You are quite correct.  The Council funding mechanisms 

are subject to the long term plan and the long term plan itself is subject 

to community consultation so it takes into account the wishes of the 45 

wider community through that process and then decision by 
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councillors.  However, if you look at the broader funding within that 

long term plan, you will see that historic heritage, for example, has its 

own activity management plan and so category of funding and has 

quite a significant amount of funding allocated to it.  In the current long 

term plan it is one percent of Council expenditure which is not 5 

insignificant so historic heritage protection, so over the next 10 years I 

have got an overview figure in front of me; that is some 83 million 

going into historic heritage. 

 

  [2.40 pm] 10 

 

 Now obviously all of that is not in the grants fund.  That includes staff 

in terms of advice and it also includes money spent on Council’s own 

heritage assets. 

 15 

 In terms of parks and open spaces that is about four percent of the 

Council’s budget so that is $428 million over the next 10 years and that 

is parks and reserves, that is not recreation and playing fields, okay, so 

that is another part of the budget. 

 20 

 So this is the parks and reserves, the open space where there is passive 

recreation but also biodiversity and ecosystem function is very 

important. 

 

 So those are large areas of Council activity and in terms of my 25 

understanding of how Council is functioning at the moment and where 

the current Council has set its priorities, those areas will continue to be 

funded into the future. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So is biodiversity funding, particularly on land that is not 30 

owned by the Council, so a newcomer to this area, I think Mr Appleton 

said there might be $80,000 in the budget for the next year, it seems to 

be a - - - 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   That is a new $80,000, so there is already money in the 35 

existing budget in terms of biodiversity and in terms of support for 

various trusts that operate in the biodiversity field, in terms of our park 

rangers and the staff and the expertise, advice that they offer, so that is 

already in the budget and then there is a further $80,000 that is 

specifically earmarked for landowners with significant ecological sites 40 

on their land.  So it is in addition to established funding. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So he mentioned that there could be other things, he mentions 

a series of options that could be added to that, but he acknowledges 

there would be a cost.  I mean given the extent to which any LTP is 45 

cemented in for the next 10 years, what do you, from your position, see 
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as the potential for the biodiversity bucket to be expanded over in the 

shorter term as opposed to in the next 10 years? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   That is a very good question.  It is subject to Council 

priorities and we do have elections coming up quite soon in terms of 5 

the budget cycles.  That funding is in the current Long Term Plan.  

Council have recognised priorities around the natural environment as 

part of earthquake recovery and so they are well aware of the issues 

and in particular councillors have expressed a concern around the state 

of the Avon and the Heathcote Rivers for example, and there are some 10 

biodiversity issues there as well as recreation and amenity concerns. 

 

 So from my experience within Council, certainly from staff there is 

considerable commitment to much better outcomes for the environment 

including biodiversity and from the councillors there is a high level of 15 

awareness of this. 

 

 That said, we are in an extraordinarily difficult financial environment 

with the recovery from the earthquakes and the expenditure on 

infrastructure, both the fundamental and roading infrastructure and also 20 

community facilities such as libraries, so there are no guarantees. 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right.  I have another question which I am sure some of 

the other Panel members will follow up with you, but the theme of 

partnership comes through your evidence. 25 

 

 What do you see are the risks for biodiversity management if 

landowners start to feel disenfranchised?  Private landowners who may 

need to be partners in particularly biodiversity management? 

 30 

MS BEAUMONT:   That is a considerable risk and that risk is identified in the 

biodiversity strategy and has been identified by staff as we have taken 

part in the District Plan process.  So yes, there is a considerable risk 

there and we have worked hard to work as closely as possible with 

landowners and Dr Appleton will be able to give you much more 35 

detailed information on various initiatives such as the ecological 

steering group, and the consultation with landowners that has taken 

place when there have been visits to sites to undertake assessments and 

then the package of work in terms of following up on whatever 

decisions are made and provisions then go into the District Plan. 40 

 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, Ms Beaumont. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Huria? 
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MS HURIA:   Yes, good afternoon, Ms Beaumont.  Is there sufficient funding 

for the additional work referred to in this chapter such as consultation 

with farmers and Ngai Tahu? 

 5 

MS BEAUMONT:  There is more effort in Council being put into consultation, 

particularly with Ngai Tahu and there are a number of partnership 

agreements and initiatives being explored at the moment.  So yes, there 

will be sufficient funding to advance that work. 

 10 

MS HURIA:   And I guess the second part of that question really is whether or 

not this consultation with both those parties for example will occur in a 

timely manner? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Now are you talking about further plan changes in the 15 

future when you are asking that question about consultation or? 

 

MS HURIA:   I am talking about the fact that we have heard from Federated 

Farmers and some of their farmer – we have not heard from them yet 

but the farmer witnesses that they felt that they were not included in the 20 

proposal that has been put in front of us, that they were consulted about 

some things at some stage and they never heard back, and in terms of 

Ngai Tahu, with reference to some of the different sites of importance 

to Ngai Tahu. 

 25 

MS BEAUMONT:   Okay so I can deal with the first one of those but I think 

you will need to talk to Mr Matheson about the second one, about the 

Ngai Tahu sites. 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay.  30 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   So in terms of the landowners where sites of ecological 

significance have been identified on their land, yes that is correct.  So 

what Council originally intended to do was go back and speak to those 

landowners following the ecological assessment work and the reports 35 

on that work, and we did not do that.  What we did do was send copies 

of the assessments back to landowners but we did not have time to go 

back and meet face to face again.  And again, Dr Appleton has outlined 

that in his evidence and can talk to you more about that. 

 40 

MS HURIA:   Okay, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, sir.  Afternoon Ms Beaumont.  Just on this 45 

$80,000 figure that you discuss with Ms Dawson, so if a farmer wanted 
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to undertake capital work such as fencing significant areas off would 

that fund be available for that work? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Exactly how that money is going to be used has not been 

decided so there is no written policy on that, and that is partly because 5 

we do not yet have clarity as to exactly what sort of rule framework and 

schedules we all have but certainly that is one possibility. 

 

 However it is a very small fund, if it starts funding capital works like 

that and one of the things that we would want to do is partner with 10 

other agencies that fund such things, so the Regional Council also has 

funding available for biodiversity purposes, as does the Landcare Trust 

and the QEII Covenants and so there are a number of other associations 

that fund such things. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In the hearings that we have had which have brought up 

the question of infrastructure funding, and we had evidence in the 

Industrial and Commercial chapter from Mr Gregory and other Council 

witnesses in that context, Ms O’Brien was another, and the flavour of 

that evidence about long term planning for the Council in essence 20 

included the fact that there was some dynamism, inflexibility to the 

Council’s approach, such that if zoning indications or changes in land 

form, demand and that sort of thing, residential, commercial, were 

signalled through the Plan, the Council would have capacity to revisit 

its funding.   25 

 

 I get the sense from your response to this one, though, in a comparative 

sense there would be less flexibility on this fund? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   I think there is still flexibility.  While the funding situation 30 

for Council is tight, there is some flexibility in terms of the priority for 

those funds. 

 

 So bringing up Mr Gregory’s evidence in relation to infrastructure is a 

good example because where Council is doing work, for example on 35 

storm water and flood protection services, we can often take advantage 

of that work being done to also achieve good outcomes for water 

quality and biodiversity.   

 

  [2.50 pm] 40 

 

 So the direction of where that money goes can be adjusted and changed 

depending on what projects are running and what opportunities present 

themselves. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, you mentioned the strategy and I just wanted to 

bring up the executive summary page, which I have got some passages 

highlighted for just for the record which refer to this question of 

partnership, but as you can flick to it on the first page of the strategy in 

bringing up those three passages there and the last one refers to the 5 

essential requirement to maintain good relationships with rural 

landowners and the Council. 

 

 So when you gave your last answer I took those as being examples of 

what you were referring to about the priority and understanding that 10 

there is about the importance of good relationships in terms of the 

strategy working? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Have you had a chance to read the Federated Farmers’ 

evidence, in particular the evidence from members of for instance the 

Conservation Trust in Banks Peninsula and other farmers who for 

instance have got QEII covenants expressing effectively what you 

might describe as being outrage in regard to how they haven’t been 20 

properly engaged in terms of what they were told and what actually 

happened in this planning process, have you read that evidence yet? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   No, I have not. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If that evidence was to the effect of indicating that the 

Council’s behaviour was at odds with the executive summary in the 

biodiversity strategy, do you think that is a cause for us to be concerned 

about the soundness of the Council’s processes? 

 30 

MS BEAUMONT:   In the review of the district plan we all had an expectation 

around the biodiversity space as well as landscapes, historic heritage 

and trees, all of the scheduled places, that there would be more 

opportunity for consultation with owners of those places.  The speed of 

the process has interfered somewhat with that consultation so I think it 35 

is true that we have not delivered on what we would have intended to 

deliver. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think it is part of making sure the provisions are 

most appropriate that we are satisfied that it reflects the intentions of 40 

the strategy in terms of partnering with landowners? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes, I think the strategy does have a strong emphasis on 

partnering with landowners.  It also notes the importance though of a 

rule framework and legal protection so that community partnership and 45 

a voluntary approach alongside education, awareness, financial 
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incentives while it goes a long way doesn’t give us absolute guarantees 

for particularly important sites, such as those identified through sites of 

ecological significance or listed on a heritage schedule.  So there is 

room for both. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But if at a basic level we have got the perfect regulatory 

mechanism but a breakdown of relationships with landowners, do you 

agree that that it is not going to achieve the intentions of biodiversity 

offsetting? 

 10 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes, I agree. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And protection? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell? 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Ms Beaumont.  Just a 

couple of things I would like to understand a little bit better, you have 

helpfully given us a copy of the biodiversity strategy, you have also 

mentioned in your evidence the surface water strategy and the public 

open space strategies.  Where do those documents fit into the overall 25 

process?   

 

 You seem to put a great deal weight on the fact that the strategy exists, 

and I understand that, but it also would appear to me at least to be (a) 

non-statutory and (b) the consultation that has gone into it, the degree 30 

of public input into, is not particularly clear.  The biodiversity strategy 

does make mention of the fact that a draft was circulated for comment 

in 2004.  But I guess what I am trying to understand is that in the 

overall rubric of managing those resources where do these documents 

fit in the total picture? 35 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes, okay, so these are documents that are produced under 

the Local Government Act rather than under the Resource Management 

Act quite obviously and they are very broad because what they are 

attempting to do is bridge the gap or the – yes, the gap as it were 40 

between high level aspirational community outcomes such as 

protecting biodiversity, you know, enhancing landscapes and all the 

rest of it and what Council actually does on the ground, both in terms 

of its planning through the district plan but also in terms of the 

ownership of its own assets and what it does when the Council itself 45 

puts in a new road or a new water treatment plant or anything else. 
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 So it provides direction for all of Council’s activities not just its 

statutory requirements in terms of a district plan.  So this document 

affects what we do in terms of our long term plan and where we put 

funding and can affect priorities for that funding. 5 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, that is helpful.  In terms of the Council’s own 

assets and/or resources, that makes obvious sense.  In terms of the 10 

private realm though, there seems to be a presumption that says at a 

national level flowing down into the regional and local levels there is a 

need to protect biodiversity appropriately, we can do what we can on 

our own land but private citizens will bear the cost of providing that 

public good when it relates to their own land.  How has that balance 15 

between public benefit and private cost been rationalised in preparing 

these provisions? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   That has been done in accordance with what the Resource 

Management Act asks of Council so that is in terms of determining 20 

what meets the threshold of significance for a more protective 

approach.  So that is probably a very good question to address to the 

planners rather than to myself. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Just finally then, in terms of the built cultural 25 

heritage and by that I mean buildings, obviously they have been pretty 

devastated by the earthquakes and just from a lay observation point of 

view, and it is I think clear from the evidence as well, the stock that is 

left is in various states of repair, and/or disrepair in many cases.   

 30 

 It is hard to see from the reading of those provisions that relate to those 

buildings how much the earthquake consequences have been factored 

into how to manage those resources it seems to me.  There is provision 

for example to say “Well, the private owner of those buildings can 

come along and seek consent to do something to it” which may have a 35 

bearing on the final outcome. 

 

 But it is almost as if the mindset has been “We had these provisions, 

we had the stock that existed pre-earthquake, it has been decimated, 

there is some left, it is still all important irrespective of the state of 40 

repair of it” and that it is up to the private owner of those assets, where 

they are privately owned, to justify what they want to do with what is 

essentially their asset? 
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 And I do not mean any criticism I am just trying to understand again 

the thinking that has gone into (a) the consequences of the earthquake 

and (b) the balance between public benefit and private cost? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Historic heritage is one of the areas that you are absolutely 5 

right has been very hard hit by the earthquake, you know, to a large 

extent the natural environment will heal itself but damaged stone 

buildings are quite a different story.  So in terms of what Council has 

done for recovery I have outlined in my evidence considerable effort 

that has gone into providing specialist advice to owners of historic 10 

buildings as to what options they might have for repair of their building 

and retention of their building.  So that has been provided by Council 

free of charge so they are not left on their own. 

 

 And obviously from the Council’s point of view one of the things it 15 

wants to do is advocate for historic heritage and the retention of 

buildings where that is possible, and that has been the driver for 

providing that extra advice and we have in fact had additional heritage 

experts on contract at Council to assist with that in terms of 

conservation of heritage fabric and seismic strengthening so quite 20 

specialist engineering advice. 

 

 Alongside that, for listed buildings there has been additional funding 

put into grants to assist landowners so once again they are not entirely 

left to their own devices, there are grants available, and there have 25 

been, particularly in the central city, quite considerable extra grants 

money gone into retain buildings that otherwise would probably have 

been lost because the funds required were so much really to retain the 

building. 

 30 

 In terms of the planning provisions themselves, again I would refer you 

to the planner but my understanding of the direction has to be more 

permissive in terms of enabling works that would retain a building and 

there are also provisions in special circumstances for partial demolition 

where retention is not possible.   35 

 

  [3.00 pm] 

 

 And I myself have noticed that in the grants area we have been given a 

number of grants or retention of a façade to a heritage building and 10 40 

years ago that probably would have been just laughed out of the room, 

you know, just for obtaining a façade, “Well, why would we give you a 

grant for that?”   

 

 But following the earthquakes there has been quite a change in terms of 45 

retaining what we can in terms of - - - 
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DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  And just finally, in terms of these, 

particularly the older buildings, what is the earthquake standard that it 

has anticipated that these buildings would meet post whatever is being 

done with them, assuming they are being restored in some way? 5 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   That would be a good question for Andrew Marriott rather 

than myself in terms of the – are you talking about the building 

standards? 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   Well I am just trying to understand, I mean it is one thing to 

have them restored but it is another thing to restore them so they can 

fall down again because they are not capable of meeting modern 

standards. 

 15 

MS BEAUMONT:   That is right, and the grounds enable seismic 

strengthening so we have a specific focus on seismic strengthening and 

upgrade for restoration. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But then coming back to this public benefit, private cost 20 

argument.  I mean it is one thing to apply for a grant, it is another thing 

a) to get it and b) to make sure that it is enough to do what needs to be 

done both on a site specific basis and across the district.  Where is the 

equilibrium between the money that needs to be spent restoring these 

buildings and the quantum that is in the fund? 25 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Ultimately, that is a decision for the owner of the building 

and there will be some buildings where the owner decides that it is not 

appropriate to restore it and that is the same for Council, some Council 

buildings have been demolished, there has not been sufficient money to 30 

restore the building, the damage has been so extensive that it makes no 

sense at all. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But don’t the provisions in the plan have a presumption of 

protecting them unless the owner can justify why they should not be 35 

protected?  It just seems to me to be somewhat of an impost on 

someone who has got a building that is a) damaged, b) needs a lot of 

money spent on it, c) has an uncertain building classification because of 

earthquake standards to say well to do what you want to do with it you 

need to apply for a resource consent through our heritage team and we 40 

will decide if we think it is appropriate for you to protect it or not.   

 

 I am just wondering if any thought had been given to how some more 

balance might have been brought into that equation. 

 45 



 Page 80 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

MS BEAUMONT:   The balance is a question that is decided through the 

resource consent application so when a, the building is listed on the 

schedule depending on its historic heritage significance and that is 

assessed under the Resource Management Act and then what is decided 

is, is subject of the resource consent, that decision is made then. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Against the provisions of the plan? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   That dictate how that is to be assessed, though? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   That is correct. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So it is important that we get those provisions as robust as 15 

we can. 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Indeed. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Thank you, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Ms Beaumont, just following on from that, the historic heritage and 

ecological matters on private land, it is a cost on a private land owner 

for a public good? 

 25 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   And notwithstanding the assistance that can be given from various 

sources, it is likely the greater part of that cost will fall on the private 

landowner, isn’t it? 30 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   In some situations, yes.  It is also a benefit to the private 

land owners.  Many owners of heritage buildings have bought them 

precisely because they are heritage buildings and they enjoy the values 

of that building themselves as well. 35 

 

SJH:   I understand that, but the cost still falls on, in the main, on the private 

landowner? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 40 

 

SJH:   And the same with some of the ecological provisions and biodiversity 

and some of that sort of stuff? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes, indeed. 45 
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SJH:   If we look back – and I know this was for Banks Peninsula, the consent 

order – but it is clear on the evidence, isn’t it, that there is a lot of areas 

that are yet to be assessed for SESs? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 5 

 

SJH:   And some considerable time has passed since that decision for example. 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes. 

 10 

SJH:   Why should we have confidence that funding will be made available for 

these sorts of things? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   We have rolled our programme over the last five years of 

assessing sites for ecological significance.  The programme as it is 15 

rolling out is taking a lot longer than we had originally anticipated but 

it is continuing to be funded and will continue.  It will probably take a 

decade before we are through the majority of those sites, particularly 

out on Banks Peninsula where there are a large number of sites to be 

assessed. 20 

 

  [3.05 pm] 

 

SJH:   But is not the reality of the Christchurch Councils financial situation is, 

there is just so many demands on priority and there is just not enough 25 

money to go around for all of these things? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes that is true, but once again it is a question of priorities 

and - - - 

 30 

SJH:   I know, but you gave the – but one of the difficulties is, this is not it – 

you gave the example that the Council is very concerned about the 

health of the Avon River and the Heathcote and there is a lot more 

votes in that than perhaps some relatively unknown plant on Banks 

Peninsula somewhere, is there not, and that is the basis on which 35 

decisions are made, politics are they not? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   I also think that the counsellors - - - 

 

SJH:   No, no, no, please answer - - - 40 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   - - - have a good understanding - - - 

 

SJH:   - - - please answer my question and then you can qualify it, a lot of these 

decisions are made on a political basis. 45 
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MS BEAUMONT:   They are a political decision that is right, counsellors 

decide on the funding and the long term plan. 

 

SJH:   Now you wanted to qualify it, so go on. 

 5 

MS BEAUMONT:   Well I was just going to reiterate what I said before that I 

think counsellors do understand the importance of our natural and 

cultural heritage, so they do understand the importance of biodiversity 

and those sites out on Banks Peninsula and are familiar with them. 

 10 

SJH:   But there is still budgetary stress? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   As with all our operations. 

 

SJH:   Just one other matter around the SES, it was raised in a submission this 15 

morning that they – the submitter, I think it was Ms Limmer, 

understood that there had been some sites looked at and it was decided 

they did not warrant an SES being attached to them but no one could 

find this out.  If that has in fact occurred should not this information be 

available? 20 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes, it should and I can check with Dr Appleton who sort 

of had the overview of that process. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Just one final matter, the Council quite understandably has 25 

called a number of experts in various areas we are concern with here 

from outside their own staff. 

 

 You would accept that their evidence should be limited to their area of 

expertise and it should not purport to create Council policy or 30 

objectives or matters of that sort? 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Well unless they are planners who have been asked to - - -  

 

SJH:   Leaving aside – no, no, leaving aside the planners. 35 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Yes, indeed. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you.  Mr Conway, anything arising? 

 40 

MR CONWAY:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, thank you, Ms Beaumont, you may stand down. 

 

MS BEAUMONT:   Thank you. 45 
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.07 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you.  Now I call Mr Matheson. 5 
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<ALAN ROSS MATHESON, affirmed [3.08 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [3.08 pm] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Mr Matheson, could you please confirm for the record your 

full name is Alan Ross Matheson? 

 5 

MR MATHESON:   It is. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 2 

December 2015 which sets out your position and refers to your 

previous evidence setting out your qualifications and experience? 10 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, it does, yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Do you have any corrections to make your evidence? 

 15 

MR MATHESON:   No. 

 

MR CONWAY:   If you then confirm it is true and correct to the best of your 

knowledge and belief? 

 20 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, I do. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And you have prepared a highlights package to outline your 

evidence to the Board – the Panel? 

 25 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR CONWAY:   If you please present that now. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Thank you.  Greetings Panel, I just wish to provide an 30 

update on my position with respect to three matters, one is the wahi 

tapu and cultural landscape provisions.  Two, the relationship between 

those natural and cultural heritage provisions and those in the 

Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zone and the freshwater objective and 

policy, so turning to the first matter, the wahi tapu and cultural 35 

landscapes. 

 

 The gap identified at paragraph 5.2(c) of my evidence in relation to 

information and section 32 analyses has been and will continue to be 

addressed through the substantial amount of work that has been 40 

undertaken by Ngai Tahu and Council officers, since the mediation on 

30 November last year, and that will be provided in other evidence. 

 

 In terms of the process matters raised in paragraphs 4.1-4.4 of my 

evidence, I confirm that I was not raising any scope issue, but rather 45 

was expressing a view on the role that community and landowner 
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consultation and dialogue could have in assisting the acceptance and 

implementation of any District Plan provisions. 

 

  [3.10 pm] 

 5 

 Turning to the relationship between these natural and cultural heritage 

provisions and the Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zone.  I reiterate the 

evidence provided to the Panel at the hearing of the Papakainga Kainga 

Nohoanga Zone, that this zone is enabling but should be subject to 

consideration of other over-riding imperatives that apply.   10 

 

 I confirm that the intention of these enabling provisions should not be 

thwarted by other unnecessary provisions.  Although not a matter under 

either section 6 or 7 of the RMA, there is agreement amongst all the 

parties, for example, that the natural hazards provisions would apply to 15 

the Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zone.   

 

 At the time of mediation on the natural and cultural heritage in 

November, Ngai Tahu, the Crown and Council were still in the process 

of working through the details of the Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga 20 

Zone provisions which were subsequently filed with the Panel on 15 

December.   

 

 Accordingly at the mediation on 30 November the record correctly 

notes that the various overlays would apply, and “although some 25 

further tweaking of the rules is required”.  From my perspective that 

further tweaking required an analysis of what the permitted activity in 

other rules would be, and considering the relationship of those 

activities to where the section 6 RMA overlays apply within the five 

Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zones. 30 

 

 Essentially this exercise requires consideration of the relative 

importance to be placed on each of the matters set out in section 6.  The 

evidence of Ms Murchison for example, paragraphs 29 and 87, neatly 

summarises this situation.  While I do not agree with Ms Murchison at 35 

paragraph 29 of her evidence that there is no hierarchy between the 

matters in section 6, I do agree that it is the role of the district plan to 

reconcile these matters, which is her paragraph 87. 

 

 In my opinion the inclusion of the term preservation as it applies to 40 

natural character of the coastal environment, which is 6A; the term 

protection, which applies to outstanding natural features in landscapes, 

6B; significant indigenous vegetation and habitats of indigenous fauna 

at 6C; and historic heritage, 6F; and protected customary rights 

compared with maintenance and enhancement of public access at 6D, 45 

and relationship with Māori and their culture and traditions with 
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ancestral lands in 6E, does create a subtle hierarchy in emphasis and 

was this hierarchy that I considered needed to be worked through 

between Ngai Tahu, the Crown and Council in order that analysis could 

be provided to assist the Panel in its deliberations. 

 5 

 Council has prepared maps showing the landscapes overlays in relation 

to the five Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zones and these have been 

provided to Ngai Tahu and the Crown. 

 

 Ms Ferguson for the Council and I have had a preliminary view of 10 

those maps and out initial thinking is summarised as follows: 

 

 For Waiwera and Onuku the rural amenity area is the only applicable 

overlay, and it is proposed it will not apply to Māori land. 

 15 

 For Okukutahi (ph 3.27) the rural amenity area provisions proposed 

will not apply to Māori land. 

 

 Also there are areas of at least high natural character in the coastal 

environment overlay applies.  I note there, there are significant 20 

geotechnical constraints to development of land.  Means that resource 

consent is likely for earthworks and hence proposed restricted 

discretionary 3 from the Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zone would 

apply. 

 25 

 There is potential for this overlay provision not to apply, but we just 

need to work through that a bit more. 

 

 For Koukourarata the area of natural character in the coastal 

environment overlay proposed would not apply to Māori land.  The 30 

outstanding natural feature or landscape overlay applies to the cliff area 

to the rear of that zone.  Given accessibility issues potential for 

permitted activity development is limited, and hence potential for this 

overlay not to apply also sits there. 

 35 

 For Rapaki, it is covered by area of at least high natural character in the 

coastal environment overlay, but as Rapaki is effectively an extension 

of the urban area of Cass Bay there is potential for it not to apply as 

well.  There is also outstanding natural feature or landscape overlay 

applies to the cliff area to the rear of Rapaki.  Again, given accessibility 40 

issues and infrastructure provision potential for permitted activity 

development is limited and hence there is potential to also not apply to 

Māori land. 

 

  [3.15 pm] 45 
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 Ms Ferguson and I need to work through the permitted activities and 

development standards proposed to be provided on the Papakainga 

Kainga Nohoanga Zone, assess those against the other provisions that 

would apply for example, earthworks and consider the likelihood of 

any activity being undertaking, particularly given geotechnical and 5 

servicing constraints that apply to certain areas.   

 

 Further discussion with Ngai Tahu and the Crown will subsequently be 

undertaken and a detailed update will be provided by Ms Ferguson 

when she presents her evidence. 10 

 

 Final matter, the freshwater objectives and policy.  I have read the 

evidence of Ms Stevens for Ngai Tahu and concur with her proposed 

wording for objective 33.16, freshwater features and values, and to the 

reasons as set out in paragraphs 28 and 29 of her evidence. 15 

 

 Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 20 

MR CONWAY:   Mr Matheson, one final thing I just wondered if you could 

clarify for the Panel is just in terms of the terminology relating to the 

Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zone and the reference to mana whenua, 

I am conscious you are very familiar with that and it might be 

something you are able to assist the Panel with just in terms of its 25 

overall understanding of that and the fact that Ms Ferguson’s evidence 

had referred to the Mana Whenua Zone. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes. 

 30 

MR CONWAY:   Are you able to just briefly cover that point? 

 

MR MATHESON:   Certainly, I think Judge Hassan will be familiar being the 

Chair of that Panel. 

 35 

 The zone did start off being called the Mana Whenua Zone and as we 

were working through the name of it changed to Papakainga, it also 

changed to Papakainga Kainga Nohoangas we went through the 

Hearing process.  It is purely a matter of timing when Ms Ferguson was 

preparing her evidence that the rest of us were still preparing 40 

amendments to that zone, so it is purely a timing matter and I think 

subsequently that has now been caught up and will be addressed by Ms 

Ferguson in her evidence to come. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 45 
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MR CONWAY:   Thank you, would you please remain and answer any 

questions. 

 

SJH:   Mr van Mierlo? 

 5 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR VAN MIERLO [3.17 pm] 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Sir, I have a procedural concern about the evidence we 

have just heard in that in my submission it goes well beyond being a 

summary of Mr Matheson’s evidence that was filed in relation to this 10 

matter, particularly in relation to the interrelationship with the 

Papakainga zone and the detailed analysis that he has just provided and 

with regard to each of these specific zones, there is further reference to 

further rules which are - - - 

 15 

SJH:   Well what are the consequences you are concerned about, let us cut to 

the chase. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, the consequence, sir, of prejudice in being able to 

cross-examine as to the - - - 20 

 

SJH:   All right, well Mr Matheson, you are happy to come back to be cross-

examined by Mr van Mierlo at a time suitable in the future? 

 

MR MATHESON:   Certainly. 25 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Sir, what I might suggest is that if Mr Matheson could 

come back at the scheduled hearing of 9.X or 9.5 as it is called - - - 

 

SJH:   Would that work for you? 30 

 

MR MATHESON:   That is fine, sir, yes. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:    And if we could see the revised rules that are being 

proposed by Council sufficiently in advance of that hearing so that we 35 

can consider and have some - - - 

 

SJH:   It may resolve issues, or some of them anyway. 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Indeed, sir. 40 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you, however, I will attend to that but I will see if there 

is – Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I do have one related to silent files but - - - 45 
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SJH:   I think we will leave that until after the cross-examination. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes, leave that until later, yes, thank you, sir.  Nothing else 

at the moment. 

 5 

SJH:   Ms Dawson.? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Can I just ask a question about the Strategic Directions 

objective, just to make sure I am clear, Ms Ferguson’s proposed 

wording in her revised proposal, that is for a provision to go into 10 

chapter 9 as opposed into the Strategic Directions? 

 

MR MATHESON:   That is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So are you and Ms Ferguson do not consider that anything 15 

additional or any amendments are needed to the Strategic Directions in 

relation to freshwater? 

 

MR MATHESON:   That is correct. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   And why is that? 

 

MR MATHESON:   I think – as I said there, I think I concur with the amended 

wording that has been provided by Ms Stevens and I think that sets the 

scene for what we are needing in a Strategic Direction context, so that 25 

will apply across the plan. 

 

 I think the wording proposed by Ms Ferguson is specific for that 

particular part of the plan which will fit within that strategic objective. 

 30 

  [3.20 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you do support Ms Stevens’ strategic objective. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, yes. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   In addition to what Ms Ferguson is proposing, because that is 

what I was not clear about. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, sorry, I did not make that clear. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, thank you, thank you for that.  That is all, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Huria? 

 45 
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MS HURIA:   Yes, thank you, sir.  I am a little confused, Mr Matheson, around 

what I have been hearing and I am just unsure.  The estimated time for 

completion of consultation with Ngai Tahu, is that expected to finish 

before these hearings finish or my understanding was it was quite a big 

endeavour that might take a lot longer? 5 

 

MR MATHESON:   In terms of the Papakainga Kainga Nohoanga Zone matter 

that will be done in time for Ms Ferguson to produce that in her 

evidence.  On Thursday we met with Ngai Tahu to go through those 

maps that you have been presented that was really the first time we 10 

have had to sit down with them and go through carefully with those 

maps.  So it is always an ongoing process but my understanding is we 

will have that detailed to you in Ms Ferguson’s evidence when she 

comes to give her evidence in the second week of the hearing. 

 15 

MS HURIA:   Okay, and with regard to the Council’s concern about a lack of 

information around silent files, sites of cultural significance to Ngai 

Tahu? 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, so again that was at the time of the mediation on the 20 

30th, or we have at that time lodged a submission.  At that time we had 

no analysis as to the rules or the justification for the rules and that is 

now starting to be completed through the evidence of Ngai Tahu and 

Council. 

 25 

 So I am hopeful that by the time we get to the hearing any gaps will 

have been filled. 

 

MS HURIA:   Great, okay.  Just one other question if I may, you might be able 

to assist me by referring me to the pages in the very extensive 30 

section 32 work that has been done providing information about the 

financial impact on farmers of the sites of ecological significance? 

 

MR MATHESON:   I do not think that is part of my evidence so I would 

struggle to provide that here on the stand. 35 

 

MS HURIA:   I see. 

 

MR MATHESON:   But if there is a specific question I am happy to go away 

and provide that. 40 

 

MS HURIA:   Or is there someone I should be addressing that to? 

 

MR CONWAY:   I wonder if that would be one of the planners involved, 

perhaps Ms Hogan.  It is certainly something I can inquire about, 45 
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Ms Huria, in one of the breaks and see if we can get an answer for you 

on that, at least in terms of who can provide that answer to you. 

 

MS HURIA:   Great, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Conway. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, sir, and I had a similar interest in that, 

Mr Conway, as to whether or not paragraph references and so forth 

could be provided to us to look at the document.  Mr Van Mierlo, your 

earlier concern did not touch I do not think on the cultural landscape 15 

matter but having reserved your cross-examination in full, I think I 

might just put this question on that matter now, obviously we can come 

back through it if we need to later on. 

 

MR MATHESON:   Yes, sir. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And the reason I want to do that is that it pertains to some 

of the matters we have been discussing on biodiversity. 

 

 Mr Matheson, just in terms of your comments and clarification just a 25 

moment ago that your issue with this area is not about the scope matter 

per se, but you referred to the role of consultation and dialogue with the 

community. 

 

 I wonder whether in this particular area as well, is there something for 30 

us to consider by way of landowners having an active part to play in the 

protection of cultural landscapes, that it is not just a matter of 

regulation but also a matter of understanding by landowners? 

 

MR MATHESON:  Entirely, I agree with that entirely.  I consider the 35 

requirements of the Resource Management Act in terms of our 

responsibilities for stewardship, rests with everyone, kaitiakitanga of 

course rest specifically with iwi and I would see that there is a very 

close overlap between those two matters and I would see that their role 

as stewardship, either as a Council or a landowner, or a community or 40 

other organisation, one of the best ways we can actually achieve some 

of these things is through the owner of land or the person who has some 

more influence than the rest of us to actually achieve the outcomes we 

are seeking. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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MR MATHESON:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Anything arising, Mr Conway? 

 5 

MR CONWAY:   No, sir, I think it sounds like we will need to schedule a time 

for Mr Matheson to return, perhaps when - - - 

 

SJH:   Well I think we should excuse Mr Matheson now but put him at the top 

of the list for part 10. 10 

 

MR CONWAY:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   And you can come back to your cross-examination as necessary then Mr 

van Mierlo. 15 

 

MR VAN MIERLO:   Yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you, Mr Matheson. 

 20 

MR MATHESON:   Thank you, sir. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [3.25 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, we will hear Mr Fairgray’s summary and then we will take the 25 

adjournment before questioning of him.   

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir, I call Mr Fairgray.  Sorry, Dr Fairgray. 

 

30 
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<JAMES DOUGLAS MARSHALL FAIRGRAY, sworn [3.25 pm] 

 



 Page 95 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

<EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [3.25 pm] 

 

MR CONWAY:  Good afternoon Dr Fairgray, could you please confirm your 

full name is James Douglas Marshall Fairgray? 

 5 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:  And you have prepared two statements of evidence, dated 4 

December and 18 December 2015? 

 10 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:  And the first of those sets out your qualifications and 

experience? 

 15 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Do you have any corrections to make to those statements? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   No. 20 

 

MR CONWAY:   Do you therefore confirm them as true and correct?  

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes I do. 

 25 

MR CONWAY:   And you have prepared a highlights package for the Panel? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Would you please read that out now. 30 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Certainly, good afternoon.  I was asked by Christchurch City 

Council to examine the economic implications of the Natural and 

Cultural Heritage, Chapter 9 of the Proposed Plan.  My evidence relates 

to 9.3 Historic Heritage and covers two key issues. 35 

 

 Firstly issue 4J, are policies and rules framework appropriate with 

respect to recognising damaged incurred to heritage items from the 

Canterbury earthquakes, particularly in the case of demolition of 

heritage items. And 4X, should there be a new policy in the rules to 40 

protect pre-1940s buildings, including to demolish these buildings, or 

to significantly alter the street scene or appearance of them. 

 

 To address these issues I have considered from an economic 

perspective the nature of heritage benefits and costs, particularly the 45 

heritage values important to communities.  Secondly, the nature of the 
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heritage estate as listed, in terms of numbers of properties, their value 

and ownership. Thus the effect of the earthquakes on that estate, both 

heritage assets demolished post-earthquake, and the estimated extent of 

damage to the remaining estate. Fourthly I have looked at the 

underlying rationale of heritage policy, including consistency with a 5 

purpose of the RMA and the appropriateness of the proposed 

provisions in chapter 9.3 

 

 I have examined the key provisions of the Proposed Plan as to how 

they are likely to have an effect, specifically and in combination, and in 10 

particular the provisions for consideration of the economic viability of 

heritage assets in relation to possible demolition. 

 

 And sixthly, I have drawn conclusions as to the suitability of the 

proposed provisions, particularly in relation to the key issues identified.  15 

 

 The importance of maintaining and enhancing heritage assets is well 

established in central and local government legislation and plan 

provisions, and the nature of heritage values is widely documented in 

the literature.  Almost all of the heritage assets which propose to be 20 

formally listed in the heritage list are carried over from the existing 

Operative plan. 

 

 A substantial number of heritage assets have been damaged by the 

earthquake, as well as many having been approved for demolition.  25 

This applies especially to privately owned heritage assets, including 

dwellings. Many of the benefits of heritage of public goods which 

accrue to the community at large but are generally not reflected in 

revenue flows to the owners.  However, many of the costs associated 

with heritage buildings and property are borne by private owners. 30 

 

 The uneven distribution of benefits and costs of heritage has been 

highlighted by the effects of the earthquakes. Many heritage assets now 

face significant costs for repair.  This in turn has highlighted the need 

for evaluation of those public benefits of heritage, especially in regard 35 

to prospects for public funding to assist and repair.   

 

 The proposed provisions of the Proposed Plan have been revised.  This 

is to include specific reference to economic viability of heritage assets, 

and to take into account economic viability as part of any assessment of 40 

exceptional circumstances for the demolition of heritage assets.  In my 

view these provisions are appropriate because they allow for 

consideration of the costs of heritage, including earthquake related 

costs.   

 45 
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 In assessing the economic viability of heritage assets it is important to 

consider their financial viability.  Economic viability is not the same as 

financial viability. Economic viability can and should take into account 

the full range of benefits and costs associated with heritage assets.  

These include the important public benefits which may or may not give 5 

rise to public funding of those assets. 

 

  [3.30 pm] 

 

 Financial viability will characteristically not take into account the 10 

public benefits, particularly when there is no associated revenue 

stream.   

 

 Since both aspects are important, I consider that financial viability 

should be part of the economic viability assessment but that assessment 15 

of heritage assets, including for demolition, should not be based only 

on their financial viability. 

 

 Police 9.3.2.7 provides for economic viability to be a core 

consideration in the use and adaptive re-use of heritage item and 20 

specifically links that to earthquake damage.  In my view this means 

that the effects of the earthquakes are appropriately taken into account 

with regard to ongoing use of heritage.  This is provided that financial 

viability is specifically included as a component of economic viability. 

 25 

 Police 9.3.2.9 provides for exceptional circumstances to potentially 

allow for demolition. It links that to the ability to maintain an 

economically viable use, that is in 9.3.2.9V, and therefore to 9.3.2.7. 

 

 This means that the effects of the earthquakes, including economic 30 

viability, are appropriately taken into account when assessing the 

demolition of heritage. 

 

 Policy 9.3.2.11 provides for a mechanism for public funding of heritage 

including to enable or support repair.  This is quite sound conceptually 35 

because many of the benefits of heritage are public benefits.   

 

 These three policies in particular, and in combination with other 

policies under the objective 9.3.1 do offer an appropriate framework to 

recognise and provide for the effects of the earthquake damage on 40 

Christchurch’s heritage estate through assessment of economic viability 

to include but not be limited to, consideration of the financial viability 

of heritage items. 

 

 Issue 4X pertains to the pre-1940 provisions.  In general terms it would 45 

be expected that the plan’s heritage provisions would be applied to a 
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wider range of properties which may have character and historic 

heritage attributes.  A blanket policy like this applies a precautionary 

approach as a preliminary step. 

 

 I know it will be essential to closely consider such a matter before 5 

proceeding, especially the likely economic effects and in regard to its 

scale and geography, and the implications for urban form and 

efficiency.  Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  We will take the adjournment for 10 minutes and come 10 

back to cross-examination. 

 

ADJOURNED [3.32 pm] 

 

RESUMED [3.51 pm] 15 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, just for the avoidance of doubt, I expect, Mr Conway, 

for you to play a lead and for informal mediation to take place in 

discussions from what we said before.  It is not something that the 

Panel is going to be involved in.  Just in case anyone misunderstood. 20 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   All right, Dr Fairgray, you are still under your former oath. 

 25 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, sir. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WILLIAMS [3.52 pm] 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Good afternoon, Dr Fairgray. 30 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Good afternoon. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:  Now, I am asking questions on behalf of a number of 

submitters but I see in your rebuttal evidence you are principally 35 

focused on Mr Copeland’s brief, is that correct? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:  So if we go to that rebuttal evidence then I think the 40 

discussion of Mr Copeland’s evidence starts on his page 1 and you 

appear to be agreed with Mr Copeland on the viewpoint of an 

economics’ assessment being Christchurch city as community and 

residents? 

 45 

DR FAIRGRAY:   That is right, yes, primarily, not entirely but primarily. 
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MR WILLIAMS:  And you also appear to be agreed with the definition of 

efficiency set out by Mr Copeland and I am just going to shorten this 

but that efficiency relates to the economy as a whole and not just 

commercial markets. 5 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:  So, can I now go to paragraph 3.6 of your rebuttal evidence? 

 10 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And in that paragraph you say, “Mr Copeland has taken a 

narrow view of economic value and by only considering value in 

commercial markets he appears to have incorrectly ignored the other 15 

economic values that are associated with heritage buildings”. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Yes, that is my reading of it. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:  You would agree with me in terms of those other values that 20 

non-use of a site or nearby sites is suboptimal from the viewpoint of an 

economics assessment? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Yes, you would be looking to use your resources effectively. 

 25 

MR WILLIAMS:   And you would agree that heritage values in themselves do 

not form part of an economic efficiency assessment unless they have an 

economic dimension? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Well, again you come back to the economic dimension.  If 30 

you look at the economy as the – take economic as encompassing the 

whole economy then it encompasses heritage values because part of the 

– just like environmental values.  That is part of the economy as we see 

it. 

 35 

MR WILLIAMS:   But when you are doing an economics assessment, a lot of 

those heritage values will be intangible or you cannot assign a value to 

them in - - - 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Well, yes, but - - -  40 

 

MR WILLIAMS: - - - financial - - - 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   - - - simply because they are intangible and because they 

are relatively difficult to measure does not mean they do not exist.  45 
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(INDISTINCT 3.28) clearly recognises values which are important to 

us which is the basis of heritage quality. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:    So just in summary, the key difference between the two of 

you is, between you and Mr Copeland, appears to be the extent to 5 

which these intangible values, if you like, and wider considerations 

should be included in an economic assessment? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, I would consider an economic assessment would cover 

the full range which is why I differentiated quite - - - 10 

 

  [3.55 pm] 

MR WILLIAMS:   Tangible and non-tangible? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, and that is why I differentiated quite clearly from a 15 

financial analysis. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Can I take you to paragraph 3.16 of that rebuttal evidence. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 20 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And here, and I think Mr Copeland has a discussion along 

these lines as well.  You appear to be suggesting that commercial 

markets by themselves seldom deliver the outcomes which people in 

communities prefer? 25 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   And you, like Mr Copeland, therefore seem to anticipate 

that intervention would occur in some circumstances? 30 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, I think another point between us is that he sees 

intervention as it were occurring in some circumstances.  I would see 

the role of Local Government and Central Government as more 

fundamental than the economy, because that is the way our economy is 35 

structured. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Looking at the economic aspects which is of course what 

your evidence relates to, you would agree that intervention in respect of 

a heritage building has an economic cost? 40 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, I mean the effects of any involvement, again by 

Central or Local Government, or if you like, a regulatory involvement, 

does have costs and it does have benefits. 

 45 
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MR WILLIAMS:   And typically, and we do not have to get into specifics, but 

jus generally in the context of heritage buildings in Christchurch, a 

large part of that cost is going to be borne by the private individual 

rather than the public sector? 

 5 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Generally yes, a large part of costs of any heritage asset 

tend to be borne by the owner of the asset and they tend to be private 

costs and the owners tend to get limited value – not no value, but 

limited value – from some of the public benefit. 

 10 

MR WILLIAMS:   And that cost needs to be weighed against the specific 

benefits of the heritage retention being sought? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, you would consider as a holistic proposition, the 

benefits and the costs of the heritage in total, but also on whomever 15 

those costs and benefits would fall.  So it is how costs and benefits 

accrue as well as what the costs and benefits are.  

 

MR WILLIAMS:   So in terms of assessing those benefits, would you agree 

with me that ultimately heritage benefits, generally being these 20 

intangible benefits, are best described by heritage experts and not 

economists? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Not entirely.  You know, economists recognise that the 

values will rise in the same way that values of the natural environment 25 

arise, you know, one of the roles of an economist is to recognise the 

nature of those values, understand them and assist the heritage or the 

environmental experts in interpreting them from an economic 

perspective.   

 30 

 It is not an either/or, it is a combined approach. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   But doesn’t your approach require you as an economist or 

the economist undertaking the assessment to assign values to intangible 

things, non-market things, and assist the planner or whoever is making 35 

the decision process? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, that is one of the components, and I think I have set 

out either in my evidence-in-chief, I cannot remember the exact 

reference, but the requirement for economic and heritage expertise to 40 

be applied in combination.  Sorry, I cannot find it. 

 

MS HURIA:   Page 9 of your rebuttal. 
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DR FAIRGRAY:   Thank you very much.  Yes, “Assessment is best 

undertaken by heritage experts in combination with economic expertise 

rather than economists or valuers alone.”  It is the normal process. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   But if we turn to what you have focused on in your 5 

evidence and what forms a large part of your evidence, and that is 

economic viability and the label you have put for the description you 

have put around that, you seem to consider economic viability to be a 

much broader concept than that discussed by Mr Copeland? 

 10 

  [4.00 pm] 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, in parts of his evidence but then if you go back to his 

definition of the economy it tends to be wider than the way he has 

looked at economic viability. 15 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   But if we look at it in the context or of 9.3 point I think the 

number has changed but it might be 6 or 7 your approach to economic 

viability is much broader than Mr Copeland’s where he considers the 

focus should be on financial viability? 20 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, or equally his approach is much narrower than mine. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   So we were touching on that decision making process if 

you like before, you would agree with me that ultimately the Panel is 25 

considering a range of factors put forward by economists and other 

experts who are not economists? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 30 

MR WILLIAMS:   And that an RMA decision maker also does not limit itself 

to an economic analysis but instead will need to consider a range of 

factors ultimately? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Absolutely and that is why in the provisions it is the addition 35 

of economic viability which is I suppose the key matter I have 

identified.  That it is not just economic viability by itself there is a 

whole range of things which are slotted in to this broader concept of 

evaluation of the heritage and it is because of the earthquake effects 

that economic viability has been pushed to the fore but it is certainly 40 

not the only means, it is one of the tools that needs to be applied. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   So if we look at your broad approach economic viability, 

and that is obviously within the context of a range of provisions that 

achieve different things, doesn’t a broad focus on economic viability 45 

push considerations ultimately towards a commercial or financial 
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analysis rather than an assessment of all social and cultural benefits 

simply because you can’t necessarily quantify the latter? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   No.  No, I mean the fact that you can’t quantify a number of 

the benefits and in some cases the number of the cost doesn’t mean 5 

they are not valuable and it doesn’t mean they should be not considered 

or diminished in any consideration.  I mean this is an ongoing issue in 

economic analysis and it is an area where there has been considerable 

push, especially in the last 20 years, to progressively improve our 

ability to quantify or at least place values on the key benefits which, 10 

you know, we value as a community but which have always been hard 

to measure.  And it was a criticism of many of the studies in the more 

distant past where the things which were easier to quantify were given 

higher priority and there were issues, problems with that. 

 15 

MR WILLIAMS:  But by going down that road aren’t you committing the 

thing you accuse Mr Copeland of which is the potential double 

counting of benefits? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   No, I mean in any sort of assessment like that you have to 20 

take very good care to make sure that you don’t double count but that is 

a matter of the robustness of your approach rather than the scope of it. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   But by having a very broad and, in my submission, loose 

approach to economic viability, aren’t you increasing the risk of double 25 

counting effects or benefits or costs? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   I am sorry I don’t accept that broad equals loose.  I mean it 

comes back to the skills of whoever is applying it and there is lots, I 

mean there is considerable effort in my experience in projects I am 30 

involved in to make sure we don’t double count but to make sure we 

don’t double count but to make sure also that we are comprehensive. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Can I now turn to paragraph 3.25 - - - 

 35 

SJH:   I did stress this morning that the time limits need to be adhered to, 

Mr Williams. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   I will finish up very shortly. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you.  Just remember it for the rest of the hearing. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   Yes, I am just conscious that I am asking questions on 

behalf of three submitters here too, sir. 

 45 

SJH:   You didn’t ask for 30 minutes though. 
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MR WILLIAMS:   No, acknowledged, sir.  So turning to your paragraph 3.125, 

you consider that or you state “I consider that Mr Copeland’s view is 

directly inconsistent with his own definition of economic efficiency 

where he espouses a whole of economy perspective”. 5 

 

  [4.05 pm] 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 10 

MR WILLIAMS:   Isn’t what Mr Copeland actually says is that non-economic 

factors should not be assessed within an economic efficiency 

framework? 

 

MR FAIRGRAY:   Non-economic being? 15 

 

MR WILLIAMS:  So if there are a number of factors such as the public benefit 

of heritage, that need to be assessed outside of an economic assessment 

framework. 

 20 

MR FAIRGRAY:   No, I think if – I am just looking, sorry, for Mr Copland’s 

paragraph 21.  Economic efficiency can be defined as the effectiveness 

of resource allocation in the economy as a whole.   

 

MR WILLIAMS:   But that is in - - - 25 

 

MR FAIRGRAY:   And that is not just particular aspects of the economy.   

 

MR WILLIAMS: But in terms of an assessment of economic viability, 

Mr Copeland suggests that the focus needs to be on things that you can 30 

quantify, in simple terms. 

 

MR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, and I do not think that is appropriate. 

 

MR WILLIAMS:   I will just look through the balance of my questions, sir.  35 

No further questions, sir, so thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir.  Good afternoon, Dr Fairgray. 40 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Afternoon, sir. 

 

DR MITCHELL: Perhaps starting with your rebuttal statement and using 

paragraph 9.3 as an example, that is your very final paragraph where 45 
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you are dealing with the evidence of Mr Vial (ph 1.50) on behalf of 

various Catholic churches. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:  In his evidence he says the cost of repairs make it 

exceptionally difficult, and you have looked at that and said that seems 

to be a reasonable conclusion. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   That is right. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Given that, do you not think that the planning mechanisms 

need to recognise the fact as early in the process as possible rather than 

leaving it to subsequent applications for resource consent when you 

already know what the answer is? 15 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   I agree, provided you know what the answer is.  I mean that 

is why one of the really important things of an economic viability 

assessment is to look at the circumstances, what the costs of repair are, 

what the potential values are, to get as quickly as possible an 20 

understanding of whether something is worth repairing or if there are 

costs which are considerable, the extent to which public funding of that 

may or may not be available. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Give that we are sort of five plus years down the track from 25 

when the damage first occurred - - - 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL: - - - and given that the planning provisions rely on, to a 30 

significant extent, private individuals bearing a public good cost, do 

you not think there is an equity in that process of putting folk through a 

process that is going to take some considerable time from hereon in 

with the onus of proof essentially being on them to prove either 

exceptional circumstances or that there is public funding available or 35 

something like that? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  I am not sure that the onus of proof would necessarily fall 

on them but perhaps setting that aside I mean the key thing for me is 

the inclusion of the economic as part of the planning provisions so that 40 

these matters, especially in a way which is pretty consistent with 

section 32, are explicitly recognised as to how the city deals with the 

heritage issues. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I do not want to ask any planning questions, and maybe the 45 

word onus of proof is the wrong word to use, but the clear policy 
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direction in this plan is to protect heritage unless you can demonstrate 

that you cannot because it is economically unviable not to do so. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   Do you accept that as a general proposition? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, that is a general proposition, yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And given that, though, and given the time that has elapsed, 10 

and given that you have got a situation with, for example, the Catholic 

Church, just using that as a for instance, when if you accept, if you 

accept that evidence, and assuming that we all do, why would you not 

make those sorts of decisions now and factor those into the plan now 

rather than relying on a resource consent or subsequent process to 15 

demonstrate what we already know now? 

 

  [4.10 pm] 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Well I suppose that the fact that five years have gone by it 20 

is certainly a real issue and that, you know, is a very material cost.  I 

mean the sort of information that would be required from an economic 

viability analysis, I suspect it has been available or has been around for 

quite some time, especially through the EQC and stuff, it is a question 

of getting hold of that information. 25 

 

 So the fact that there has been a delay in my view does not undermine 

the validity and the appropriateness of the process. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right. And just finally, paragraph 3.10 of your primary 30 

statement, where you refer to policy 9.3.2.11 about public funding and 

you said that is quite sound conceptually because many of the benefits 

that are here are public benefits. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   The validity of that is a policy mechanism, presumably 

from your point of view, must rely on the fact that sufficient funds are 

available to do the job when private funds cannot. 

 40 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Not entirely, as a policy by itself, if there are public funds 

available then it is a sound mechanism, it does not guarantee that there 

is really enough funds available, and you know part of the reason for 

me saying that you got a combination of economic viability and include 

the financial viability, certainly there is going to be a number of cases 45 

where, you know if we take into account all the public benefits, yes it is 
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economically viable, but there is not enough money to pay for those 

public benefits, at that point, you know the financial viability 

assessments is, you know great but we cannot pay for the public 

benefits, and that would I think occasion a situation where, you know 

as a community we cannot afford to pay for the public benefits and we 5 

should not put that cost onto the private owner. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But you have relied on that policy being a mechanism, 

surely for that policy to deliver there has got to be a funding 

mechanism that give effect to that policy otherwise it is not worth the 10 

paper it is written on, is it? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   No, the policy does not – the policy is valid in and of itself, 

whether it can work in every case I think is another issue. 

 15 

DR MITCHELL:   Right. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   I mean it might work for 10 or 15 heritage properties which 

can be saved, if you like, with public funding; it might not work for 

another 25 or 30. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Right, no that is fine, I understand that. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   You have not interrogated that funding pot of money or 

mechanism or anything, you have just looked at it at a conceptual level, 

is that right? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you. Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Dr Fairgray, following on from Dr Mitchell’s 

question, the policies you have referred us to, where you say that the 

policy’s correctly incorporate references to economic viability, 

provided that it also includes financial viability - - - 

 40 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   - - - are policies regarding – providing for ongoing use or 

whether or not a consent should be issued for demolition, it is those 

sorts of things which I think Dr Mitchell refers to you as the sort of, the 45 

later decisions that get made – but I am not sure if you answered, I did 
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not get a full answer from you as to whether you felt that, if the 

information is available now and a competent economic analysis, 

including financial analysis can be done now, in your view should that 

go to whether or not heritage should be listed in the Plan at all? 

 5 

 In other words, whether protection should be provided which can then 

have applications made against it? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   This is for items which are not yet listed? 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   Well nothing sort of listed quite - - - 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, okay.  

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, so – and decisions about listing, in other words in 15 

decisions about providing protection as in the first instance, albeit that 

can apply later to - - - 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   I would think that decisions about listing or at least 

provisional listing would apply first because that gets to the intrinsic 20 

nature or the heritage value of what you are looking at, so that is the 

first question. If it was not damaged would it be listed? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 25 

  [4.15 pm] 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Then the second question would be, okay, given that it is 

damaged and if we would have listed it but otherwise we effectively do 

not have the money to save it then in my view, I think it is important to 30 

identify the value of it first and then identify what you do not have the 

money to save. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And if you were able to come to a decision on whether or not 

it can be saved that is something to factor in when deciding whether to 35 

put the imposition of protection on the owner of a private asset. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  I would think so and having said that the costs of that 

protection are a very important part of the decision obviously, the costs 

that would fall on the owner. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Have to be an important part of that decision. 

 45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you and I have just got one other question, in 

the policies that you refer us to, the words “economic viability” are 

used and you have said that is fine as long as that is accepted as 

including financial viability.  I mean, just the mere fact that this debate 

is happening here, in your view would it avoid misinterpretation in the 5 

future if those words said “economic viability including financial 

viability” or something like that? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  I am happy with it as identifying economic viability.  I think 

it is broad enough and encapsulates the things which need to be 10 

covered and it is different from financial viability.  I have emphasised 

in my evidence that it should include financial viability primarily to 

distinguish my stance from the views of Mr Copeland. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and is it your view that it should not just say “financial 15 

viability”? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  No, it shouldn't. 

 

MS DAWSON:  That is what it shouldn't do, it needs to include both. 20 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But in your view “economic viability” does include both? 

 25 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Yes, and especially in this case because of the cost of 

earthquake damage, financial viability is a very important consideration 

as well.  You cannot just say, oh, look, that is really valuable, there are 

a whole lot of public benefits, you know, we’ll leave it as it is when 

there’s potentially very high costs going to fall on the property ladder. 30 

 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 35 

MS HURIA:   Ms Dawson asked my questions, thanks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, sir, just three matters.  Just looking back 

at those words “economic viability” Dr Fairgray, I have taken from 

your answers to Mr Williams on that that keeping those words intact 40 

will mean that there will be a range of matters including ones that 

cannot be quantified that you would regard as valid for assessment for 

that purpose? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Now, bearing in mind it is for us to decide what the scope 

of matters for consideration are for any resource consent process 

effectively, that is our territory rather than necessarily the economist 

territory, might have to think about that but if we used the words 

“financial viability” simply because we chose to, do you think the 5 

economist can contribute to that by way of an assessment simply of 

financial viability given that is the narrow focus? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   I would have difficulty undertaking a financial viability and 

then standing up and giving evidence and saying it was a valid way to 10 

evaluate. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  But no, come back to the question, in terms of your 

expertise. 

 15 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If you were asked to do a financial viability assessment 

and explicitly it is not an economic viability assessment, do you have 

the expertise to do it? 20 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, I do but it is more in the area of cash flow analysis and 

that sort of thing which is one part of, it is in many ways accountants 

and those sorts of people who will undertake that financial viability 

whereas the economists will – they are certainly capable of doing that 25 

but take that generally wider perspective. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So I take that answer to be not necessarily, depends on – 

and it may well be the more appropriately the role of an accountant? 

 30 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, look, just a couple of other questions and these 

are general questions not pertaining specifically to heritage necessarily 

but given that you are here, I must just ask you on economic efficiency.  35 

Just a couple of proposition notes I wanted to test with you and it is a 

case of having to make assumptions around a whole lot of givens but if 

we were to assume there is a choice between two options and say we 

had a good that we wanted to protect.  Say it is biodiversity or say it is 

heritage. 40 

 

  [4.20 pm] 

 

 If there is a public funding shortfall to do so but there is a private 

funding source committed to doing so, what is the more efficient 45 

approach to that, a regulatory approach that enables and encourages 
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that private investment or one that regulates without that assumption?  

Just tell me - - - 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Regulates to require that private funding occurs? 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or, say there is an understanding – just tell me if it is too 

broad and I will move to the second question, but I am just generally 

interested to know whether in economic efficiency terms, if there is a 

regulatory model that incentivises private investment knowing that 

there is an absence of public investment, whether that would typically 10 

end up being more efficient compared to a model that did not 

incentivise and encourage that private investment? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Generally you would expect a model which balances or has 

the public component being paid for publicly because it is more 15 

efficient for the costs to be borne where they fall.  So in efficiency 

terms, yes. 

 

 In terms of effectiveness, because it is often difficult to get the public 

funding, then it may well be more effective to go down the private 20 

funding path but it would be difficult to say that it is more efficient. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, I thought the question was pretty broad.  Just the 

second one, if I could test you on this one? 

 25 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   If we know for instance on this matter were are trying to 

protect, we know all of the matters we want to assess, say in the 

consenting process, we can put them down on paper and say these are 30 

the matters we want to assess.  Would the more efficient consent 

category be restricted discretionary – say we wanted to allow ourselves 

the power to decline, we knew all of the matters we wanted to assess, 

we could write them down in the plan, is it more efficient to have 

restricted discretionary, or non-complying, or discretionary? 35 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   From a non-planning perspective, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 40 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Provided you have got all the relevant things which need to 

be taken into account, and I think those are listed at other parts in the 

policies, if you have got a restricted discretionary approach which pulls 

some of those criteria out of the mix, I suppose conceptually you 

become less efficient because you are only looking at some of the most 45 

relevant things but if you have already been through a process that 
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satisfies you that by having a restricted discretionary approach the other 

things are also taken into account, that would also be efficient. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But if we knew at this stage we do have a comprehensive 

list of relevant matters would it be more efficient to have restricted 5 

discretionary than non-complying or discretionary? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   I am sorry, that sort of comes back to the nature of the 

matters that you are - - - 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just assume they are comprehensive. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, but it may be that for some of the matters a non-

complying approach may be more effective depending on the process 

by which the decisions will arise.  I am sorry I am - - - 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Even though you knew in a policy sense on behalf of the 

community all of the matters were on the list in the plan, you are saying 

it is more efficient to have a process that allows for other things to be 

considered? 20 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  No, sorry, you are considering all the things that the 

community wants considered; provided those things are taken into 

account then you would expect it to be economically efficient. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you. 

 

SJH:   The Order in Council requires us to have clarity in our drafting. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 30 

 

SJH:   Have certainty in our drafting. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 35 

SJH:   Do you see the term – well is “economic viability” defined anywhere in 

the plan? 

 

  [4.25 pm] 

 40 

DR FAIRGRAY:   I have not seen it defined in the plan, I think it is - - -  

 

SJH:   You think it is a term certain then? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   I think it is a term which has a reasonable level of certainty 45 

and a reasonably – no, an acceptable – no, a sufficient level of 



 Page 113 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

certainty, having said that it would be, I think it would be important to 

have it supported by definition in the plan.   

 

SJH:   An accepted level of understanding from whom? 

 5 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Well it needs in part from the economists’ perspective, but 

it would also need to have I suppose sufficient understanding from me, 

the heritage perspective, to know the things that they needed to know, 

and draw on the expertise required. 

 10 

SJH:  So you would need a level of expertise to understand the term 

“economic viability”? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes, and as - - -  

 15 

SJH:   Who is the readership of the plan, who does the plan belong to? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Well it belongs to the community at large. 

 

SJH:   Economic viability, economic to you includes the pecuniary viability. 20 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   The sums.  But also a number of intangibles. 

 25 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   What are those intangibles?   

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Well there is quite a wide list but in generic term - - - 30 

 

SJH:   Is it an exhaustive list? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Well it is an exhaustive list but from that list if we are 

looking at a particular aspect we look at the matters which are material 35 

to that particular situation.  So in terms of economic viability in terms 

of heritage assets, there is a very strong literature so that the matters 

which are evaluable from a heritage aspect would be reasonably 

straightforward to define, I am sure.   

 40 

SJH:   And economists have been wrestling with this for some time to get a 

formula to apply value to these matters? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Again, not necessarily - - - 

 45 
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SJH:   Because I will then ask what the values are in dollar terms, that is what I 

am meaning. 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Yes, there have been a wide range of studies which have put 

values on these various aspects - - -  5 

 

SJH:   These are studies by whom? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Well, I hesitate to say a large number of economists but, I 

mean this is not a new issue in the same way we have had a wide range 10 

of studies on the values of the natural environment through Ecosystem 

services and that sort of thing so, you know, Professor Patterson and 

that sort of thing have done quite a lot of work on that.   

 

SJH:   So how would a lay reader possibly understand all of these things come 15 

under the heading economic?  The simple answer is they would not, 

would they? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:  Well they would not, but also I would suspect a lay reader 

would not be an expert in heritage either, I mean one of the - - -  20 

 

SJH:   So this policy is written simply for experts in heritage then, is it?  How 

does that accord with the Order in Council? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Well I - - -  25 

 

SJH:   Isn’t a plan that belongs to the community need to be understandable by 

the community Dr Fairgray? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Well, yes, it does but I believe that people have their own 30 

understanding in concepts of, for example, heritage, and - - -  

 

SJH:   All right, so you would say that a lay person would understand what you 

mean by economic viability? 

 35 

DR FAIRGRAY:  No, I would expect that a lay person would look at this 

policy and say right, it has to deal with heritage, and as a community 

we have the relevant experts to deal with heritage.  We rely on those 

experts.  It is just the way our economy is structured.  We are not all 

generalists at everything, we are structured so we can specialise, and 40 

then if heritage expertise is required we draw on that - - -  

 

SJH:   We are dealing here with the term ‘economic’, are we not? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 45 

 



 Page 115 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

SJH:   Which you seem to me to be giving a much wider meaning than the 

dictionary definition.   

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Which dictionary? 

 5 

  [4.30 pm] 

 

SJH:   Well, let’s just take the concise Oxford, - - - 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   Yes. 10 

 

SJH:   - - - by adding in all these intangibles, are you not making it wider than 

the commonly understood meaning of the term ‘economic’? 

 

DR FAIRGRAY:   No, I do not believe so. 15 

 

SJH:   All right, well I am not going to get any further, Mr Williams, anything 

arising?    

 

MR WILLIAMS:   No, sir. 20 

 

SJH:   Anything arising or re-examination, Mr Conway. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Sir, no re-examination, I just wanted to make one comment 

if it would assist the Panel in terms of Ms Dawson’s and Dr Mitchell’s 25 

questions about how early you can take into account matters of cost. 

 

 The evidence in Ms Whyte’s and Ms (INDISTINCT 0.46) that you 

will be hearing potentially later on this week or in the second week, 

does have some discussion of the response the Council has taken on 30 

that matter. 

 

SJH:   All right, thank you for that.  Thank you, Dr Fairgray, you may stand 

down and you may be excused. 

 35 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [4.31 pm] 

 

SJH:   Dr Appleton. 

 

MR CONWAY:   So I call Dr Appleton.  40 
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<DR CLIVE APPLETON, sworn [4.31 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [4.31 pm] 

 

MR CONWAY:  Dr Appleton, please confirm your full name is Clive 

Appleton? 

 5 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 

 

MR CONWAY:  And you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 2 

December 2015 that sets out your qualifications and experience? 

 10 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Do you have any corrections to make to that statement? 

 

DR APPLETON:   No. 15 

 

MR CONWAY:   Would you therefore confirm it is true and correct to the best 

of your knowledge and belief?    

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 20 

 

MR CONWAY:   And have you prepared a highlights’ package for the Panel, 

and could you now read that out. 

 

DR APPLETON:  Thank you.  With respect to the Ecological Significance 25 

Programme, since 2007 when the consent order in respect to the rural 

chapter 19 of the draft and its district plan 1997 was issued, Council 

has been working with the Banks Peninsula Steering Group to progress 

the SES programme.  

 30 

 In mid-2011, my team took over this programme and started to 

progress the identification of ecological sites of interest. 

 

 They sought advice from the Banks Peninsula Steering Group which 

was made up of joint agencies, DOC, ECan, community group, Forest 35 

& Bird, the Banks Peninsula Conservation Trust and representatives 

from the farming community, especially Federated Farmers. 

 

 We also sought expert advice from ecologists specifically to determine 

that we were applying the scientific criteria appropriately.  Ecological 40 

surveys started in 2013, albeit on a small scale, 10 per year, but this 

number was increased significantly once the district plan review was 

started. 

 

 The number of SESs in the schedule are a reflection of the level of 45 

funding and resources that the Council has been able to bring to bear 



 Page 118 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

since 2013.  Council is committing funding to progress and fast track 

the SES programme, so additional sites can be added to the schedule 

and future plan changes. 

 

 With respect to landowner engagement.  We recognise that landowners 5 

are fundamental to retaining and improving biodiversity in associated 

values.  Landowners have always been seen by Council staff as central 

to the SES programme, and staff have every intention to work closely 

with them on all aspects of the programme. 

 10 

 We recognise once that the district plan review was going through a 

timetable process, that we would be prevented from followup contact 

with landowners where we had extensive contact with the landowners.  

We had made every effort phoning, sending letters, meeting face to 

face and documenting all that information.  We had made promises to 15 

landowners that we would have followup discussions with them once 

the preliminary information from SESs had been sent to them prior to 

notification, and it does not surprise us, we predicted that landowners 

would be aggrieved that we could not follow up once the process had 

been truncated.  And this is unfortunate and we as Council staff hope 20 

that landowners will in time understand what has happened so it is our 

intention to continue discussions with landowners of SESs.  That is 

provided that they will be open to it and accept us so that the 

engagement process can be completed appropriately.  Then Council 

staff intend to continue with the SES programme of work identifying 25 

sites of interest, engaging landowners in adding proposed SESs to the 

schedule for future plan changes.   

 

  [4.35 pm] 

 30 

 With respect to the support package for landowners with SESs, as you 

have heard Council established this year the $80,000 as a support 

package that its regional park rangers and other Council staff could 

provide to landowners with SESs.  Please note as you have known from 

previous presenters that this funding has been achieved under stiff 35 

funding constraints being imposed across Council.   

 

 While the current level of funding is minimal and limits the amount of 

work rangers can undertake it does not preclude future growth in this 

fund and the level of support possible and as always with interested 40 

parties I encourage them to provide during annual plan processes and 

the LTP process to submit to Council for the support of this work and 

the continuation of it. Council will review uptake of the support 

package and over the next few years monitor what influence this might 

be having on biodiversity protection and enhancement. 45 
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 The current suite of support options are by no means fixed so as 

demand shifts from one type of assistance to requirement of another 

then we will adjust that support package and of course we will have to 

up the amount of funding available as the number of SESs increase 

over time.  Thank you. 5 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Anderson? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR ANDERSON [4.37 pm] 

 10 

MR ANDERSON:  Thank you, sir.  In your evidence you refer to the non-

regulatory methods that the Council has adopted to address biodiversity 

issues? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Have you read Mr Hooson’s evidence? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes, I have. 

 20 

MR ANDERSON:   And in paragraph 11.2 he refers to 627 sites that have been 

identified as potentially significant but they haven’t been assessed but 

many are likely to be ecologically significant. 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 25 

 

MR ANDERSON:   You have read that evidence? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes, I am aware of that. 

 30 

MR ANDERSON:   Have you read Mr Davis’ evidence? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR ANDERSON:  And in his evidence he refers to the potential adverse 35 

effects associated with grazing, are you familiar with that? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

MR ANDERSON:  And he says that changing stock types eg from sheep to 40 

cattle, deer or goats can result in very significant adverse effects on 

indigenous vegetation and fauna habitat. 

 

DR APPLETON:   Mm’hm. 

 45 

MR ANDERSON:   And you are familiar with Ms Hogan’s evidence? 
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DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

MR ANDERSON: And that she refers to the grazing exemption in 

rule 9.1.2.6(vi) are you familiar with that grazing exemption? 5 

 

DR APPLETON:   Was that in her evidence? 

 

MR ANDERSON:  That is in her 18 December evidence, she has an 

attachment which includes that exemption and I shall try and refer you 10 

to a page. 

 

DR APPLETON:   That would be useful. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   That might not be entirely straightforward but in her 15 

evidence she has, starting after page - - - 

 

SJH:   Give the clause again and we will try to bring it up on the screen, 

Mr Anderson, 9 point, sorry? 

 20 

MR RADICH:   Page 7 of 32, I think, is the number. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   It is 8, I think, it has actually got the relevant provisions I 25 

know.   

 

  [4.40 pm] 

 

MR CONWAY:   It is attachment A, page 7. 30 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Actually, sir, page 8 which has the grazing exemption on 

it, it starts in page 7, but the particular exemption in question is on page 

8. 

 35 

MR CONWAY:   Page 8.   

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Of the annexure? 40 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Of the annexure. 

 

SJH:   It is the provisions so it is annexure A. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Attachment A. 
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SJH:   Page 8.  Right, thank you. 

 

MR ANDERSON:  So you can see there, number 6 is an exemption for 

grazing. 5 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Are you familiar with that exemption? 

 10 

DR APPLETON:   Yes, I have read that in the past. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Now, Ms Hogan refers to that in her evidence, and she 

makes the comment in paragraph 32 that, “I do acknowledge that the 

rule may be difficult to enforce and monitor but overall in my view it is 15 

necessary to retain the provision”.  You are familiar with Ms Hogan’s 

evidence? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes, but I do not know where you are going with this 

question.  Because if it is a planning one, I am not an expert on that. 20 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I am not going to ask you a planning question.  I am going 

to – Ms Hogan is of the view that the non-regulatory methods which 

the plan have adopted, are the method that should be used to 

compensate for the issues with enforcement monitoring. 25 

 

SJH:   Well you are giving her evidence, what is the question, Mr Anderson? – 

just put the question. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   The non-regulatory methods that you have referred to in 30 

your evidence are partially aimed at addressing the issue with 

monitoring and compliance of this grazing exemption, is that your 

understanding? 

 

DR APPLETON:   No. 35 

 

MR ANDERSON:  Okay.  So is your evidence that the non-regulatory methods 

that have been adopted, the grazing exemption is not one of the matters 

that was considered when developing those non-regulatory methods? 

 40 

DR APPLETON:  No, it was not considered, but the thing is those non-reg 

packages, the support package, we do not know what demand there will 

be from landowners for those and it will only be over time that we can 

determine whether they are useful or not, or whether they will make a 

change.   45 
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MR ANDERSON:   And so the $80,000 that has been aside for range advice, is 

the only current non-regulatory method that has been adopted in terms 

of addressing biodiversity issues? 

 

DR APPLETON:   All we have done at the moment – you are correct, we have 5 

provided $80,000.  How we use that money can be ranged for, we are 

thinking first up to have a field day workshop with landowners, with 

SESs, to get their input into what they see as being useful for them, but 

also we can put funding towards pamphlets, information on pest 

control, we can provide some materials such as in the way of pest traps, 10 

that sort of thing, for a period of time to landowners.  So it is very early 

days as to how that package will be utilised. 

 

 We have also offered to a number of landowners during caucusing and 

other meetings for them to take up the option of a management plan for 15 

the SES, which of course would greatly involve them in the 

formulation of that.  So $80,000 is not going to go far once you start 

doing a lot of planning work with landowners. 

 

  [4.45 pm] 20 

 

MR ANDERSON:   And just confirm what you have just said, the Council has 

not yet determined how the 80,000 will be spent, it is got a few options 

but it has not actually landed on any of those? 

 25 

DR APPLETON:   Correct, it would be wrong of Council to have a fixed mind 

set of how that money is going to be used. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   And so in your evidence you say that you have been asked 

to comment on the merits of protecting SES through non-regulatory 30 

methods? 

 

DR APPLETON:   That was poorly worded and should have not been in there. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Am I correct in saying that it is not possible yet to assess 35 

the merits of the non-regulatory methods because you do not know 

what they are yet? 

 

DR APPLETON:   We have not had time to monitor the uptake of the packages 

that we are going to offer to landowners. 40 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Well you could not have because you have not determined 

what you are doing yet. 

 

DR APPLETON:   That is right. 45 
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MR ANDERSON:   I have got no further questions thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Schulte? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR SCHULTE [4.46 pm] 5 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Dr Appleton, yes I 

appreciated your highlights package in terms of just summarising a few 

of the issues which I sort of wanted to touch on, but in terms of Mr 

Bayley’s property, you would accept that that he was not personally 10 

met after the initial round of discussions and able to have any further 

engagement with Council, that is correct is it not? 

 

DR APPLETON:   That is correct and when we met with you, Mr Bayley, the 

Bayleys, we apologised for that, the reason that that has been made 15 

worse is the fact that had we not had a truncated process we would 

have followed up with a meeting with them to actually discuss that SES 

that was proposed, and that meeting that we had last week would not 

have taken – well, hopefully would not have needed to have taken 

place. 20 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Right.  I am interested though in terms of where in your 

evidence and para 4.3 you talk about discussing the SES work with 

landowners, and I am just wondering what that discussion actually 

entailed, for example were landowners actually consulted about what 25 

they considered the impacts of rules on them might be or as to what 

they saw as being a fair imposition or control over what they were 

doing with their land? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Good question.  The consultation took a standard process 30 

and that was direct contact to go and if the landowner wanted to meet 

with us, invited us to go out face to face to meet with them.  The 

process for assessing SE-, well, sites of interest, the process that would 

be undertaken was conveyed to the landowner.  The reason why we 

were undertaking the work for the District Plan was conveyed as well, 35 

but I guess the full ramification if anything of the financial situation or 

how it may impact upon their land practice probably was not detailed to 

the level that some landowners would like. 

 

 We know that these sites of interest they exist because of the way the 40 

land has been managed, whether it is because of financial constraints or 

because of altruistic approach from the landowner and it is important 

we see to maintain that ongoing relationship for the improvement and 

existence of biodiversity into the future. 

 45 
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 So if we knew now that some of the things around what constraints 

there might ultimately be, once the District Plan has been adopted, then 

maybe we could have discussed those things. 

 

 But I guess this is a discussion that we can continue to have with 5 

landowners through a workshop, meetings, etcetera. 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Right.  So I guess and that leads on to my next question 

because I suppose that is an acknowledgement, is it not, that the 

Council or the Plan to operate effectively it needs these landowners 10 

does it not, in terms of managing, it is not something that the Council 

can pick up and manage biodiversity across the district itself? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct.  If that land was completely vested in Council, 

Council would not have the money to maintain it. 15 

 

  [4.50 pm] 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Right. 

 20 

DR APPLETON:   And secondly, we recognise that land owners are custodians 

and they are very important for ensuring that that land is not, let us say 

that we know there are locations where people will just wander straight 

over their property, or you could have boy racers going over it, like 

sites around Lake Ellesmere, so it is important to have the landowner 25 

there in the first instance to maintain security of that site from people 

who we do not want just wandering across it. 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Right.  And do you consider that the rules package, which 

would include the particular activity status that has been put on 30 

different activities actually provide particular activities actually 

provides sufficient incentive for this level of collaboration from 

landowners in its current form? 

 

DR APPLETON:   I think so, yes.  35 

 

MR SCHULTE:   What would be some examples of where it actually 

encourages collaboration? 

 

DR APPLETON:   I cannot specifically put something on that.  40 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Would it not be fair to say that that one particular type of 

incentive may be around that issue of activity status whereby as a trade-

off for, as we discussed last week, for a lesser activity status in return 

for a biodiversity plan.  That would be a kind of incentive that actually 45 
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might assist, in terms of actually creating that collaborative approach, 

or enabling such an approach? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Sorry, I do not quite understand what you are saying.  I get 

a gist of it but I - - -  5 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Yes, well I guess what I am trying to say is that in its current 

form if a landowner wishes to do something on an SES, for example 

indigenous vegetation clearance, they require a non-notified resource 

consent to do so, do they not? 10 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

MR SCHULTE:   Yes, so in other words the idea of actually entering into a 

biodiversity management plan as to how that land is going to managed 15 

in the future or moving forward, what is there that actually gives the 

landowner a push in the direction in terms of that being a good thing to 

do, because at the moment I cannot do anything so what makes me 

want to collaborate with the Council in terms of looking at more 

planning and more control or more protection? 20 

 

DR APPLETON:   I think it is providing advice, it is also keeping in contact 

with landowners, it is also that if there is a desire to continue managing 

site, say it is for instance they wish to continue grazing in an area 

where it is appropriate to keep weeds down for instance, it is being able 25 

to work with the landowner and tell them, well not tell them, this is a 

collaboration, this about an understanding of how that management of 

the land can be undertaken now and into the future, because what is 

there today in the way of the economy, the economic desire to be able 

to graze land, the landowner may not have to heavily graze it, but if 30 

there are financial constraints, other things that are coming externally 

from an economic basis, then the landowner may wish to manage that 

land differently.   

 

 So it is about having that ongoing relationship with the landowner so 35 

that we can have a free discussion and look at how best in the future 

that that SES can be managed.  

 

MR SCHULTE:   And I guess just as a final question and following on from 

our discussion last week; you would accept though that having a lesser 40 

activity status based on the idea of a biodiversity management plan 

would still be a sufficient form of protection for that SES, or is that a 

question more for Mr Hooson? 

 

  [4.55 pm] 45 

 



 Page 126 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

DR APPLETON:   I think I can answer that.  Retention of biodiversity and 

improvement of it, or the degradation of it is directly influenced by 

how the land is managed and if the Council has a good working 

relationship with landowners which I hope that we could achieve on a 

wider scale than what we are currently facing is that that pure 5 

relationship and understanding of how those sites should be best 

managed can be jointly worked out as without the landowner we cannot 

do – those sites are going to get weed infested, they are going to do 

other things and Council has not got the money to deal with that. 

 10 

MR SCHULTE:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Webster? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR WEBSTER [4.56 pm] 15 

 

MR WEBSTER:   Good afternoon, Mr Schulte has addressed a lot of my 

general questions so I am just going to keep this fairly brief till the 

consultation process itself. 

 20 

 Have you read Mr Thomas’ evidence from Willis (ph 1.10) Farms? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes, I have. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   Landowners were not advised about the future plan changes 25 

when they were asked permission from the Council to enter onto their 

land, were they? 

 

DR APPLETON:   The details of the District Plan would not have been fully 

understood when we contacted landowners back in 2013. 30 

 

MR WEBSTER:   So you did not advise landowners that future restrictions 

could potentially apply to the assessed land.  Actual details were not 

actually conveyed when you went onto their properties? 

 35 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   In the site-specific statements and the aerial maps provided 

to landowners, you would agree that there were no rules relating to the 

land at that point in time? 40 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   And no rules were actually provided until the notified 

Chapter 9? 45 
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DR APPLETON:   That would be correct. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   So consultation, it is fair to say that consultation is quite 

hard to carry out with landowners when they are not actually aware of 

what the future rules are, until the notified plan arrives? 5 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   Just moving on, not all landowners gave consent to the 

Council coming onto their land, did they? 10 

 

DR APPLETON:   That is correct and we did not do surveys on their 

properties. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   So realistically a classification could actually depend on 15 

whether or not a landowner has given consent to the Council entering 

their land? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct and future approaches that if we identify sites of 

interest on private land and landowners, after discussion with them, 20 

refuse to have surveys undertaken on their property, we will not 

proceed.  It is just not worth upsetting too many landowners. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   So would you then agree that there is an inconsistency in the 

identification of sites and basically, we could be left with quite a 25 

flawed process if it does entirely rest on landowner consent? 

 

DR APPLETON:   No, because the process that we have undertaken, we have 

undertaken what we consider to be very robust one in that it is a 

process that we hope stands up in the Court and that in the future we 30 

want to make sure that the sites that we have are based on very robust 

information, whether it is from remote data, whether it is from previous 

research work that has been done on there or surveys in the past or 

whether it is based on surveys that have been undertaken by us, 

because we do not have enough accurate information that we go on 35 

those sites where landowners are willing and once we have got all that 

information we only list in SES if we are certain that we have a robust 

process round it. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   But that depends entirely on whether the landowner has let 40 

you onto their land, doesn’t it? 

 

DR APPLETON:   In most cases. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   Just talking about the 80,000 that has been set aside, when 45 

you divide that between how many sites, 700 or so, it is not a lot, is it? 
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  [5.00 pm] 

 

DR APPLETON:   No, in fact, when you consider that the process to date, it is 

the case, but we are going to fast track and that means a lot of the sites 5 

of interest are on public land and we can go to the Department of 

Conservation that has a lot of data on their sites.  We should hopefully 

be able to very quickly on public land, get the SESs drawn up.  We will 

also take a different approach to what we have done in the past where 

we only had surveyors who went out and did the work and they did not 10 

make the assessments as to whether those sites were SESs, that 

assessment was done by our expert ecologists who did that on the 

information that was provided to them. 

 

 In the future, we will actually have, in a lot of cases, the ecologist who 15 

will be doing the assessment of the site will actually be going out as 

well so we are looking at trying to streamline it. 

 

 The other approach is that to date we have identified for all the sites of 

interest how they meet all the criteria.  My understanding is that we 20 

only need one criterion to be met for it to become an SES.  If it defines 

the boundary of that site by the plant community etcetera, then we can 

quite quickly identify whether a site of interest is actually an SES. 

 

 So we are cutting back on the amount of work that we actually need to 25 

do in order to have the identification process. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   Just lastly, given that you have accepted the process was 

quite rushed, do you still think that the consultation process was fair 

and that the entire system has been undertaken as well as it could have 30 

been? 

 

DR APPLETON:   I would disagree that it was rushed.  When you consider 

that in order to go through this process you are contacting landowners 

in April, you are meeting with them, it is very resource-intensive with 35 

staff going out to meet with landowners and the reason we have such a 

long lead-in time is because we have to go through all those meetings 

before we can actually identify the amount of work that we have to 

undertake for the surveys. 

 40 

 Those surveys can only be taken between a spring and summer and 

then we have got followup after that once the sites have been identified 

as being significant.  

 

 So it is a 12 month process from start to finish with landowners. 45 
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 The only aspect of the engagement that has been unfortunate is that we 

were prevented – Council staff were prevented from that followup 

discussion with every individual landowner to make sure that the 

boundaries of those sites were correct or subsequently, have we 

actually included something like a piece of exotic plantation or a cattle 5 

yard, that sort of thing, and making sure that is removed out of the SES 

boundary. 

 

 So, when you consider that that was not able to be done, it is not 

surprising that we have landowners with the views that they have now 10 

post notification. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   You would still agree that it is a significant amount of work 

to have been done in such a short amount of time though, would you 

not, given the number of sites that have actually been identified? 15 

 

DR APPLETON:   No, I disagree with you. 

 

MR WEBSTER:   Would you accept that with more time and more 

consultations, the more agreement between landowners and Council 20 

could have been reached?  

 

DR APPLETON:   Could have been reached?  Well, if we had not had a 

truncated process to the district plan we could have done it. 

 25 

MR WEBSTER:   Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, sir.  Just a few questions in followup, thank 30 

you, Dr Appleton, that has been helpful for me to get a context as you 

have described. 

 

 The first one by way of clarification, and I think I understand the 

answer to this so I will put it in a closed way, I take it that the Steering 35 

Group that you mentioned earlier, the Banks Peninsula Steering Group, 

- - - 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - that did not input, did it, into the essential design of 

the current provisions, and in particular SES plus a default rule outside 

the SES; in other words, am I right to understand that that was not what 

the steering group recommended, it was developed after that 

engagement with the steering group? 45 
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  [5.05 pm] 

 

DR APPLETON:   I cannot give you a categorical answer on that, but my 

understanding is that, no they did not, that would be a question for one 

of the planners. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, that is fine, and some of these questions you can tell 

me about suggest the same thing. 

 

 Now in terms of the question of say Mr Bayley’s property, it strikes me 10 

that that property is one which has got a very, very large comparatively 

SES component. 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And yet we have got a uniform activity classification 

going across all of the SES, whether small or large. 

 

DR APPLETON:   Mm’hm. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is that approach locked in or is it something that is 

capable of being revisited, in other words a less coercive, if you like, 

activity classification, a more certain one for the landowner, for some 

SES for instance, Mr Appleton’s land where his entire farm is 

significantly more impacted for instance restricted, discretionary, is that 25 

opened to be considered in terms of the mandate that the Council 

officers have at this stage? 

 

DR APPLETON:   I believe so, yes, and that would be something that Debbie 

Hogan could respond to. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you. Now Mr Anderson discussed with you 

some uncertainty issues in regard to grazed areas, you recall that? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Mm’hm. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   On the information that the Council has, and I want you to 

think about this in terms of SES information and outside SES, does the 

Council have enough information available to it to try to bring certainty 

by way of mapping grazed areas rather than just reliant on a date, could 40 

those be mapped? 

 

DR APPLETON:   I cannot see why not, but I do not know enough about the 

logistics to say “yes” or “no”. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And you could find out - - - 
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DR APPLETON:   But there would seem to be - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - more about those logistics and perhaps report that 

back to us, whether it is conceivably able to be done to provide more 5 

certainly to both landowners and the Council? 

 

DR APPLETON:   I can do that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   The concept that interest me from the evidence, and it 10 

came out in your cross-examination on behalf of Mr Bayley, is the 

concept of a biodiversity management plan.  Are you familiar with the 

use of the management plan or farm management plan instrument in 

other parts of Canterbury region in regard to farming issues? 

 15 

DR APPLETON:   I have heard of it, but I am not familiar with it. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you think in terms of the mandate the officers have it 

could be a mechanism that could be explored, for instance in 

conjunction with a more benign activity classification, a properly 20 

robust management plan that was properly prepared according to a 

relevant template with the right inputs, but involving partnership with 

the Council and farmer/owner in accordance with the Council strategy 

intentions? 

 25 

DR APPLETON:   I am sure that is possible. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. Would you support that approach being 

explored? 

 30 

DR APPLETON:   If I know more information about it, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now you mentioned and I understand the complications 

of landowner access in order to go to the point of an identified SES, 

and just to assure you I will test this with Ms Hogan on planning issues 35 

– I am not needing to test you on that – what I am going to test Ms 

Hogan about, and it comes back to the Regional Policy Statement, is it 

seems to me the Regional Policy Statement does anticipate that there 

will be a case by case assessment process undertaken according to 

objectives and policies in order to identify areas of significance, just 40 

assuming that to be the case. 

 

 Does the Council have an ability to identify or map areas of interest for 

future SES, in other words, not on the basis of specific sites where SES 

exist, but areas within which they may exist? 45 
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DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And are those areas more confined in the district 

boundaries, than the boundaries of the Christchurch District as a whole, 

are they significantly more confined? For instance, on Banks Peninsula 5 

do you have areas of interest and areas of lack of interest, such as 

within the town of Lyttelton? 

 

  [5.10 pm] 

 10 

DR APPLETON:   I would say so. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And does that apply to the plains as well?  For instance, if 

we compare the urbanised residential of the plans with say the grass 

areas around the urban edge, with higher significance, is it possible to 15 

identify areas of interest within which there might be valuable SCS 

versus areas which are just, you’re just too busy to get, within 10 years 

even? 

 

DR APPLETON:  I would say, yes, and, no, no being that some of the 20 

biodiversity that is on the dry land area on the plains is very cryptic, it 

only appears at certain times of the year.  It is very tiny and it would be 

very difficult to know whether it is there, and outside the areas that we 

currently are aware of that sort of vegetation type. Clearly within 

residential areas probably could say, yes, we are not interested in that.  25 

There could be areas around stream margins and that sort of thing that 

we are unaware of that could be of interest subsequently, in the future. 

 

 So, yes, and, no, is the answer to that. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   Thank you, Mr Chair. 

 

SJH:   Ms Huria? 

 

MS HURIA:   Yes, good afternoon. You said that your team took over the 35 

identification of the SCS programme mid-2011 and that the rate was 

about 10 a year, but it increased once the prospect of the district plan 

came into view. 

 

 With the evidence we have that there are about 700 plus sites of interest 40 

on Banks Peninsula requiring further assessment.  What reassurance is 

there that once this plan process ends it will not all peter out?  That the 

impetus will fade? 

 

DR APPLETON:  Okay. I can assure you that staff like myself are very 45 

passionate in wanting to see this work continue.  We know that a 



 Page 133 

  

Ch9: Natural and Cultural Heritage Commenced 18.01.16 

number of councillors are interested in it as well, and I would actively 

encourage interested parties in this work, as I said earlier, to put in 

submissions during the annual LTP planning and budget process.  Just 

tell councillors that this is a critical piece of work and to adequately 

fund it. 5 

 

MS HURIA:  Because it is inextricably linked to the Council’s allocation of 

funding, this whole piece. 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct, yes. 10 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  As I also asked Ms Beaumont, and following on 

from Ms Huria’s question, is the funding in the long term plan already 

allocated for the continuation of this SCS identification and assessment 

work irrespective of the completion of this district plan process? 

 20 

DR APPLETON:  I would ensure it would be, but I cannot categorically – well 

I would have to go and find the LTP process and actually identify the 

line items that were associated with it. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So you have a relatively recent new LTP as I understand? 25 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:  But you do not know whether there is a line item in that 

current LTP to continue for the next, I think you said positively even 10 30 

years, this intensive work on the SCS identification? 

 

DR APPLETON:  No, because that funding is part and parcel of the strategic 

and policy level of service that you would have in there, so you cannot 

tease it out and specifically say this is the X amount of funding for this 35 

project. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, so even if you drill down that level of detail would not 

be clear to anybody? 

 40 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:  But it would certainly be a separate budget item to the 

$80,000 funding for ranger advice? 

 45 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   Yes. 

 

DR APPLETON:  We currently have about $90,000 for the actual survey work, 

the SCS programme. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Per year? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Well, that is what we have this year. 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   This year. 

 

DR APPLETON:  And of course nothing is certain what happens next year, 

around the political process, yes. 

 15 

  [5.15 pm] 

MS DAWSON:  Yes, other than what the LTP indicates. 

 

DR APPLETON:   That is right. 

 20 

MS DAWSON:   Which is at a general level. 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Thank you, and in paragraph 4.8 of your evidence you make 25 

the statements that it is your opinion that the Council’s current 

schedule, which I presume is the one that is in the District Plan at the 

moment, the 100 or so sites that are currently in the Plan has been able 

to include most of the at risk SES.  Can you explain what you mean by 

that. 30 

 

DR APPLETON:  Well, that is on private ownership, private property, it is 

where we know it is close to potential subdivision development, could 

be managed differently, that sort of thing.  Those are the sort of things 

that we are concerned about that the land use could change and result in 35 

biodiversity values being decreased. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So of the several hundred potential sites that have still to be 

assessed - - - 

 40 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   What proportion of those do you know are on public land? 

 

DR APPLETON: I do not have it in front of me but we do have that 45 

information. 
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MS DAWSON:   But can I read from your statement that I read out to you 

before that the remaining sites are not considered to be as significantly 

at risk from land use change that could affect the values as the sites that 

have already been assessed in the main? 5 

 

DR APPLETON:  Correct, what we have taken is the cream of the sites that we 

know that are likely to be at high risk so as we go through the process 

we will be going and dealing with sites that we consider are a less 

threat. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   So although, I think as you answered in the question before, 

your access onto those sites and whether or not they have been 

scheduled was dependent on landowner permission to survey the sites.  

You feel that irrespective of the fact that some landowners did not let 15 

you onto their land you have still managed to survey and schedule the 

cream of the sites, the majority of them; most I think you have said. 

 

DR APPLETON:  It was true in most cases.  I only know of two incidences 

where we undertook an assessment and the landowner was not entirely 20 

aware of what was happening; that we had actually done a survey, an 

assessment of that particular site. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Were the sites that you thought were at risk where you really 

would have liked or felt you needed to undertake a survey in order to 25 

obtain the information but you couldn't do so because the landowners 

would not let you have access? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct. 

 30 

MS DAWSON:   Were there many of those? 

 

DR APPLETON:   It was probably less than half a dozen. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Oh, right, so quite a small number. 35 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Which is why you have made that statement that most of the 

ones at risk have been included? 40 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:  Thank you, thank you very much. 

 45 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell. 
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DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Dr Appleton.  Can you just 

clarify for me at what scale ecological values have been assessed when 

determining of those values are significant or not at a particular 

location? 5 

 

DR APPLETON:  No, I think that is something you should ask our expert 

ecologists. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Would you accept the proposition then that if the scale is to 10 

be at, say, a district scale which is what the jurisdiction that you have is 

that you would need to have a pretty good understanding of all the 

potential SESs before, for example, you could determine if values at a 

particular location were rare or what their ecological context was, those 

being several of the criteria that the RPS directs us to consider.  Do you 15 

accept that as a general proposition? 

 

DR APPLETON: I think I understand your question and I will try and respond.  

We did an extensive literature review of the scientific information for 

our district so that we had an indication of where there were important 20 

biota. We also took the information that had been done by Hugh 

Wilson, on the P&Os surveys on Banks Peninsula, even though that 

work was done quite some time ago and we knew that a lot of those 

sites, well a good percentage of those sites will have changed since 

then, and we also took information, I think it was from Collin Murk’s 25 

study on the lowlands as well. 

 

  [5.20 pm] 

 

 So we have from that and from aerial photographs, linking that 30 

information together, have a good idea as to where those future sites of 

interest are. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  I suppose is there not though a distinction to be drawn 

between what the significance of the site is and what the risk to those 35 

particular sites are – you seem to have placed a lot of emphasis on sites 

that are potentially at risk, as opposed to what the significance of those 

sites is in a relative sense across in particular Banks Peninsula, or is 

that an unfair distinction for me to draw? 

 40 

DR APPLETON:  I would say it is an unfair distinction, simply because the 

criteria that those sites may meet, maybe just as equal for those sites 

that are at less risk. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Right, thank you, thank you, sir. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you, Ms Huria, I think you had another question? 

 

MS HURIA:  Just one quick one please, Dr Appleton, you referred a few 

minutes ago to 90,000 for this year, is that in anyway adequate to keep 

up the momentum for a timely conclusion to the identification 5 

program? 

 

DR APPLETON:  I would like more money. When you consider that when it 

was determined that we had to have a schedule of sites within the 

District Plan, we went up to probably close to $200,000 was spent on 10 

that process to get those additional sites on board. 

 

 Now the – we – in the first two years we did 10 sites each year, then we 

upped it close to 100-odd sites for the District Plan review – we 

actually have and I have got the list here, a further 48 aquatic sites that 15 

are on Banks Peninsula that we have SESs already finalised. The 

reason we did not come out with that in the schedule is because there 

are so many landowners that are neighbouring those SESs on streams, 

as you can imagine they go in an extensive way, and the neighbouring 

landowners need to be aware of that - we just did not have time to 20 

consult those landowners so that they were not included. 

 

 We have another 37 SESs, terrestrial SESs for Banks Peninsula on the 

books at the moment that are tentative – I should say they are in a draft 

form, they need to be finished – so we have that number of 85 further 25 

sites that we have waiting in the wings, and obviously we are going to 

continue with the work, hopefully, within the next spring - - - 

 

MS HURIA:   Okay. 

 30 

DR APPLETON:   - - - the surveys, etcetera. 

 

MS HURIA:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   And the Judge has one further question, sorry. 35 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you, just two. 

 

SJH:   Two? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, just firstly a matter of looking at the design of these 

provisions, if we were looking at indigenous species and bearing in 

mind the theme of that is biological diversity of indigenous species, the 

2007 consent order seem to have a schedule, relatively long but 

nevertheless at least providing certainty of species, would it be possible 45 

to have of what are regarded as priority species, so everyone 
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understands what is the indigenous vegetation/biological diversity 

priorities that the Council identifies? 

 

DR APPLETON:   I would say, yes. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And I will ask a planning question, Ms Hogan around that 

– just finally now just in regard to Willisden Farms Limited, you were 

cross-examined on it, you mentioned that you would have liked more 

time to go back and regularise boundaries, you made that point more 

broadly, and I noticed the evidence on behalf of Willisden Farm and 10 

others makes it a point around their farm in regard to regularising 

boundaries.  Have you had a chance to see that evidence? 

 

  [5.25 pm] 

 15 

DR APPLETON:   I briefly read it.   

 

DR APPLETON:   Does it fit within your category of saying you want more 

time to go through with landowners such as that landowner and other 

landowners in this process to try to correct any errors there? 20 

 

DR APPLETON:   That is something that could be made available, I know that 

our expert ecologist has met with a number of landowners like that 

owner. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:  So if I ask questions of your expert ecologist on that 

maybe there we can get some clarity on this? 

 

DR APPLETON:  Yes, he will be able to tell you the extent of the number of 

landowners that he has gone out to actually see and make corrections to 30 

property boundaries.  And to a lesser extent that has also happened on 

the flat lands in Christchurch. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  And subject to clarification that could then lead to 

corrected area boundaries for the purposes of us making our decision? 35 

 

DR APPLETON:   I am sure. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 40 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Webster, anything arising from the Panel’s questions? 

 

MR WEBSTER:   No, no thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Schulte? 45 
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MR SCHULTE:   No, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Anderson? 

 

MR ANDERSON:   I actually would not mind the opportunity to ask a brief 5 

question of Dr Appleton. 

 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR ANDERSON [5.26 pm] 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Judge Hassan asked you some questions about kind of 10 

priority areas of where the significant ecological sites might be located.  

Do you recall those questions? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Yes. 

 15 

MR ANDERSON:   Now, have you got a copy of the plan in front of you? 

 

DR APPLETON:   No. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Maybe it might be helpful to put it up there, whoever is 20 

doing it, I do not know who it is.  If someone could put up page 15 of 

annexure A of Ms Hogan’s evidence?   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is this in the rebuttal? 

 25 

DR APPLETON:   Yes, this is in her rebuttal of 18 December.   

 

SJH:   You need to distinguish when you are asking questions if we get the 

right page up.  It is the rebuttal evidence? 

 30 

MR ANDERSON:  Oh, sorry, it is the rebuttal evidence, I understand your 

question now, it is the rebuttal evidence.   

 

 Now you will see on that table there, there are a number of different 

vegetation types and those kind of things, where consent is required as 35 

a discretionary activity.  Is that the way you read that plan? 

 

DR APPLETON:   You could. 

 

MR ANDERSON:   Now, can you confirm or otherwise that these places have 40 

been identified as the areas where significant ecological sites are likely 

to be located and that is why consent is required? 

 

DR APPLETON:  No I cannot, you would have to ask that of one of the 

planners, and expert ecologist. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Anderson, just to assist you - - -  

 

MR ANDERSON:   Thank you. sir, I was trying to assist you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, the reference here to Banks Peninsula and 5 

the Port Hills, my question I guess is asking whether that can be taken 

to a further level of detail down to more narrow, broadly defined areas 

according to the RPS model while the area has been identified within 

consents operate. 

 10 

MR ANDERSON:  Yes, I guess the purpose of that question was just to 

indicate that that kind of work had been done to identify the priority 

areas and the next step would be to map them, so I do not think - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Yes, the question is whether those can be mapped so that 15 

we do not have the entire Banks Peninsula covered.  But the areas of 

interest within which there may be SCS for instance. 

 

MR ANDERSON:  Yes, that is correct, sir. 

 20 

SJH:   Thank you. Mr Conway, anything arising from the Panel or re-

examination. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Just one matter, sir, if I may. 

 25 

<RE-EXAMINATION BY MR CONWAY [5.29 pm] 

 

MR CONWAY:   Dr Appleton, Judge Hassan asked you some questions about 

things like corrections of boundaries and Mr Webster earlier asked you 

some questions about engagement with landowners up until the point of 30 

plan notification, and the information that might have been available to 

them up until that point.  Are you able to comment on whether there 

was any engagement with landowners post notification of the plan up 

until the present, and if so, what that engagement was? 

 35 

  [5.30 pm] 

 

DR APPLETON:    No, we did not have post consultation or should I say, 

contact with landowners, after notification because our key person that 

was driving this project effectively resigned and is no longer with us, 40 

so the ability for staff as a whole to sort of pick up and continue that 

what is a very intensive programme of work required to be in contact 

with landowners, has not happened. 
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 We hope to pick that up.  Our only subsequent contact with landowners 

has been through caucusing or through meetings that they have 

requested with Council staff. 

 

MR CONWAY:   And in terms of the timing of those meetings, has that been 5 

connected in some way with peoples submissions on the plan? 

 

DR APPLETON:   Correct, yes it has been. 

 

MR CONWAY:   Thank you. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Thank you, Dr Appleton, you may stand down and you may 

be excused although depending on any applications Federated Farmers 

may make, we may have to call you back again. 

 15 

DR APPLETON:   Okay. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [5.31 pm] 

 

SJH:   All right.  So Ms Mackenzie, you are going to have to consider the 20 

matters we raised earlier and if you are to be represented or there is any 

applications, they need to be lodged tomorrow, okay. 

 

MS MACKENZIE:   Yes. 

 25 

SJH:   Thank you, we will adjourn until 9.30 tomorrow morning. 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 5.31 PM UNTIL 

TUESDAY, 19 JANUARY 2016  

 30 


